

pubs.acs.org/CR

Review

Understanding Polaritonic Chemistry from Ab Initio Quantum Electrodynamics

Published as part of the Chemical Reviews virtual special issue "Polaritonic Chemistry".

Michael Ruggenthaler,* Dominik Sidler,* and Angel Rubio*

Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2023, 123, 11191–11229		Read Online		
ACCESS	III Metrics & More		E Article Recommendations	

ABSTRACT: In this review, we present the theoretical foundations and first-principles frameworks to describe quantum matter within quantum electrodynamics (QED) in the low-energy regime, with a focus on polaritonic chemistry. By starting from fundamental physical and mathematical principles, we first review in great detail ab initio nonrelativistic QED. The resulting Pauli-Fierz quantum field theory serves as a cornerstone for the development of (in principle exact but in practice) approximate computational methods such as quantum-electrodynamical density functional theory, QED coupled cluster, or cavity Born–Oppenheimer molecular dynamics. These methods treat light and matter on equal footing and, at the same time, have the same level of accuracy and reliability as established methods of computational chemistry and electronic structure theory. After an overview of the key ideas behind those ab initio QED methods, we highlight their benefits for understanding photon-induced changes of chemical properties and reactions. Based on results obtained by ab initio QED methods, we identify open theoretical questions and how



a so far missing detailed understanding of polaritonic chemistry can be established. We finally give an outlook on future directions within polaritonic chemistry and first-principles QED.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	11192
2. A Theory of Light and Matter: Quantum Electro-	
dynamics	11194
2.1. Relativistic Origins	11194
2.2. Quantizing the Light Field	11195
2.3. Coupling Light and Matter	11196
3. The Pauli-Fierz Quantum-Field Theory	11197
3.1. Nonrelativistic QED	11197
3.2. Mathematical Properties of the Theory	11198
3.3. Approximations	11199
3.3.1. Cavity as Modification of Local Mode	
Structure: Dipole Approximation	11200
4. First-Principles Approaches to Nonrelativistic	
QED	11203
4.1. Quantum-Electrodyamical Density Func-	
tional theory	11204
4.2. Exact Results	11206
4.3. Quantum Electrodynamics Coupled Cluster	
Theory for Electronic Strong Coupling	11207
4.4. Nuclear/Ionic Dynamics in the Generalized	
Born-Huang Picture	11207
5. Polaritonic Chemistry from First-Principles	11209
5.1. Restructuring the Electromagnetic Field	
Modes	11209
5.1.1. Modified Fluctuations and Fields	11210

5.1.2. Chemical Consequences of Cavity-Re-	
structured Modes	11210
5.2. Collectivity and Cooperativity	11211
5.2.1. Chemical Consequences of Collective	
Coupling	11212
5.3. Cavity-Modified Chemical Reactions	11213
6. Conclusion and Outlook	11215
Appendix A: Ab Initio Quantum Physics	11216
A.1. Mathematical Setting	11216
A.2. Mathematical Realization	11217
A.3. Mathematical Subtleties	11217
A.4. Operator and Boundary-Value Consistency	11218
A.5. Ab Initio and Alternative Approaches	11219
Appendix B: Necessity of Longitudinal Dipole Self-	
Energy Term	11220
Appendix C: QEDFT Mappings and the Effective	
Fields	11220
Author Information	11222

Received: November 10, 2022 Published: September 20, 2023



Corresponding Authors 1	1222
Funding 1	1222
Notes 1	1222
Biographies 1	1222
Acknowledgments 1	1222
References 1	1223

1. INTRODUCTION

"Until the beginning of the 20th century, light and matter have been treated as different entities, with their own specific properties [...]. The development of quantum mechanics has enabled the theoretical description of the interaction between light-quanta and matter."

M. Hertzog in ref 1.

Chemistry investigates, very broadly spoken, how matter arranges itself under different conditions (temperature, pressure, chemical environment, etc.) and how these arrangements lead to various functionalities and phenomena. The basic building blocks of chemical systems, as we understand them today, are the various atoms of the periodic table of elements. Combining these basic building blocks then leads to the formation of molecules and solids, and the arrangement of the atoms determines much of the emerging properties of these complex matter systems. Light, or more generally, the electromagnetic field, usually appears in this context in two distinct capacities: First, as an external (classical) agent that drives the matter system out of equilibrium. External driving is then used to either spectroscopically investigate matter properties, such as when recording an absorption or emission spectrum, 2^{-5} or to force the matter system into a different (transient) state.^{6–10} Second, as a (quantized) part of the system, $^{11-13}$ such as in the case of the longitudinal electric field between two charged particles, which gives rise to the Coulomb interaction and determines how the atoms are arranged.

Light as an external, classical probe and control field is widely used in chemistry nowadays. However, the potential to employ the quantized light field as part of the system to modify and probe chemical properties has only began to be explored in the last years¹⁴ In order to achieve control over the internal light field one can use photonic structures, such as optical cavities.^{15–18} and in this way control the local electromagnetic field of a molecular system.¹⁹ The resulting restructuring of the electromagnetic modes has very fundamental consequences, since it changes the building blocks of light: the electromagnetic vacuum modes and with this the notion of photons in quantum electrodynamics.^{20,21} Keeping in mind that the interaction between charged particles is mediated via the exchange of photons, ¹¹⁻¹³ it becomes clear that such modifications can in principle influence the properties of atomic, molecular and solid-state systems. Even more so, if we realize that the basic building blocks of matter (electrons, nuclei/ions, atoms,...) are themselves hybrid light-matter systems^{22,23} that depend on the *photonic environment* (see also discussion after eq 1).

Although optical cavities have been used in atomic physics and quantum optics routinely since several decades to interrogate and change the behavior of (an ensemble of) atoms,^{24,25} it came as a surprise to many that cavities could also influence complex chemical and solid-state processes.^{14,26–30} The main reason being that in quantum optics,

or more precisely in cavity³¹⁻³³ and circuit^{34,35} quantum electrodynamics (QED), which focus on the properties of the photons and a limited set of matter degrees of freedom, often ultralow temperatures and ultrahigh vacuua are needed in order to observe the influence of the changed electromagnetic vacuum modes. Such very specific external conditions are not often considered in chemistry and materials science, and hence, it was assumed that there would be no observable effect on chemical and material properties upon changing the photonic environment at ambient conditions. Yet there is by now a multitude of seminal experimental results that show that indeed the restructuring of the electromagnetic environment by optical cavities can influence chemical and material properties at ambient conditions, even if there is no external illumination and the effects are driven mainly by vacuum and thermal fluctuations (for an overview, see various reviews, e.g., refs 1, 5, 14, 36–47). We here only highlight, as exemplifications, changes in energy and charge transport, $^{49-53}$ the appearance of exciton-polariton condensates at room temperature,^{54,55} and the modification of the phases of solids.^{56,57} In the following, we will focus on changes in chemical properties of (finite) molecular systems upon modifying the photonic environment and do not go into detail on changes observed and induced in extended solid-state systems.

This new flavor of chemistry, which uses the modification of the photonic environment as an extra control knob, has been named QED or polaritonic chemistry.^{38,58} The latter notion is derived from the quasi particle *polariton*, which is a mixed light-matter excitation²⁷ (see also Figure 4), and whose appearance in absorption or emission spectra is often assumed to be a prerequisite for observing changes in chemical properties. Polaritonic chemistry is a highly interdisciplinary field with often conflicting perspectives on the same physical concepts. From a (quantum) optics perspective, for instance, the role of light and matter is reversed compared to chemistry. Matter is used to either interrogate or change the properties of the electromagnetic field. This clash of perspectives, which arises due to the artificial subdivision into different research fields (and their unification via QED, see also Figure 1), makes it a scientifically very rewarding field of research since it constantly challenges one's basic conceptions. A plethora of theoretical methods from (quantum) optics and (quantum) chemistry are employed and combined to capture and understand the emerging novel functionalities when changes in the electromagnetic environment lead to strong coupling between light and matter.^{5,43}

While (quantum) optics methods are geared to capture details of the electromagnetic field and photonic states, 24,25 the (quantum) chemical methods are naturally focused on a detailed description of the matter system. $^{59-61}$ Many currently employed combinations of such methods are able to capture certain effects, but fail in important situations, such as to describe (even only qualitatively) the observed changes in ground-state chemical reactions under vibrational strong coupling. $^{62-64}$ On a first glance, owing to the complexity of the systems under study (a large number of complex molecules in solvation at ambient conditions strongly coupled to an optical cavity with many photonic modes), this might not come as a surprise, since already the accurate theoretical description of a single complex molecule in vacuum and at zero temperature is highly challenging. Even simple working principles of polaritonic chemistry, which single out the most



Figure 1. Sketch of the QED perspective on coupled light-matter systems, e.g., a hydrogen atom. In QED the bare (pure matter) proton (bp⁺) and bare electron (be⁻) are a reminiscence of the (mathematically necessary) smallest length scale (energetically an ultraviolet cutoff) that can be resolved. The observed (dressed or physical) proton (p⁺) and electron (e⁻) include contributions from the (virtual) photon field γ , which describes the electromagnetic self-interaction of charged particles. The photons, at the same time, describe the electromagnetic interaction between the electron and proton and lead to the appearance of a bound hydrogen atom. From a QED perspective, the distinction between light and matter depends on the energy scale that we look at, the chosen reference frame, and the chosen gauge (see discussion in Section 2). Considering one aspect without the other can lead to inconsistencies, and for a consistent description always both (quantum light and quantum matter aspects) must be treated at the same time.

important ingredients to control chemistry via changed electromagnetic environments, remain elusive so far. On a second, more careful glance, however, there might be a more fundamental reason for why currently employed approaches, which combine (quantum) chemistry and (quantum) optics methods, are not able to describe some of the experimentally observed effects. Our most fundamental description of how light and matter interact, QED,^{11–13,65} does not allow for a strict distinction between light and matter (see also Figure 1).

Indeed, if we reconsider the basic building blocks of matter from a QED perspective, we realize that already electrons and atoms are hybrid light-matter objects themselves, and their properties depend on various assumptions. Take, for instance, the hydrogen atom as described by the nonrelativistic Schrödinger equation in Born-Oppenheimer approximation in SI units (used throughout this review)

$$\left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_{\rm e}}\nabla^2 - \frac{e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0|\mathbf{r}|}\right)\Psi(\mathbf{r}) = E\Psi(\mathbf{r})$$
⁽¹⁾

where \hbar is the reduced Planck's constant, $m_{\rm e}$ is the physical mass of the electron, e is the elementary charge, and ϵ_0 is the permittivity of the free electromagnetic vacuum. However, from a QED perspective, the electron of a hydrogen atom has a mass that depends on the structure of the electromagnetic vacuum surrounding the atom, and also the Coulomb attraction depends on the form of the surrounding electromagnetic vacuum. Indeed, the physical mass of the electron has two contributions

$$m_{\rm e} = m + m_{\rm ph} \tag{2}$$

where the bare mass m depends on how the electromagnetic vacuum modes decay when going to higher and higher frequencies (ultraviolet regularization) and the photon-induced mass $m_{\rm ph}$ comes from the energy due to the interaction of a moving electron with the photon field (see discussion in Sections 3.2 and 3.3 for more details). In

addition, the form as well as the strength of the Coulomb interaction is determined solely by the structure of the vacuum modes (see the discussion in Section 3.3 for more details). In other words, what we call a hydrogen atom is defined with respect to a specific *photonic environment*, i.e., in this case the free electromagnetic vacuum. Similarly, the photonic environment dictates how a laser or thermal radiation interacts with matter. Hence, it becomes clear that when we restructure the electromagnetic environment with the help of an optical cavity or other setups,^{17,26,43} we might need to rethink what are the basic building blocks of matter, which statistics they obey, how they interact among each other and how they couple to external perturbations.

Admittedly, having in mind the many other aspects that might have an influence in QED chemistry⁶⁶ (see also Section 5), such fundamental considerations might seem on a first glance like a theoretical nuisance. However, it is important to realize which assumptions are made and which theoretical inconsistencies (at least with respect to ab initio QED, see Appendix A for mathematical details) can arise when combining methods from (quantum) optics and (quantum) chemistry or electronic structure theory. Especially, since we do not yet have simple and reliable rules for how polaritonic chemistry operates, what are the basic factors that determine the observed changes and how to control them. Furthermore, in recent years, theoretical methods have been devised that avoid the common a priori division into light and matter, allowing approximate solutions to QED in the low-energy regime directly.^{22,23} These first-principles QED methods⁵ have already provided important insights into certain aspects of polaritonic chemistry and strong light-matter coupling for molecular and solid-state systems.

In this review, we will focus on these first-principles QED methods and on the basic ab initio description of coupled light-matter systems under the umbrella of QED in the lowenergy regime. We do not attempt to discuss the many alternative theoretical methods successfully applied within polaritonic chemistry, but refer the interested reader to various available reviews on this topic, e.g., refs 37, 38, 45. The considerations presented here allow us to address several important (and often very subtle) fundamental topics that arise in the context of describing polaritonic chemistry and materials science and that are decisive to find the main physical mechanisms observed in experiment. The first main question to answer is how to devise a (physically and mathematically) consistent theory of interacting light and matter that treats all basic degrees of freedom of the low-energy regime, i.e., photons, electrons and nuclei/ions, on the same quantized and nonperturbative footing. We will give the basic principles and a concise derivation of such a theory in Section 2 and discuss the resulting Hamiltonian formulation for fundamentally polaritonic quantum matter in Section 3. The next important topic that arises is how the gauge choice influences what we call light and what we call matter. This topic has a direct impact on consistently combining methods from quantum optics and quantum chemistry. As we discuss in more detail at the end of Section 3.2, this topic has provoked many debates, and gaugeinconsistencies can even predict wrong and unphysical effects. The next main question is how to find approximations that allow a reduction of complexity and a straightforward combination of different theoretical methodologies without introducing too many uncontrolled assumptions. We will discuss this in Section 3.3 and specifically highlight the long

wavelength approximation and its implicit assumptions. Sometimes the implicit assumptions of this common approximation lead to misunderstandings and can therefore be a barrier for new people in the field of QED chemistry and materials sciences. A further important issue is how changing the photonic environment leads to modified vacuum and thermal fluctuations, specifically when considering changes of chemical properties under ambient conditions. We highlight under which conditions the modified vacuum or thermal fluctuations become important in Section 5.1 and might induce noncanonical equilibrium conditions for the matter subsystem. A final question to address in polaritonic chemistry is then the difference between single-molecule strong coupling, also called local strong coupling, and collective strong coupling. We discuss the topic of local/collective strong coupling in Section 5.2, and we highlight how an effective single-molecule picture suggests itself.

Despite the internal complexity and depth of this review, we try to keep it structured modularly, and the different sections are largely self-contained. This will help the reader, allowing them to, for instance, skip the first few sections, which detail the theoretical foundations of ab initio QED, and jump directly to the later sections which focus more on polaritonic chemistry. Yet a better understanding of many arguments (as highlighted above) necessitate detailed discussions, and hence we have provided many cross-links between various sections. In Section 2, we give a concise introduction into QED with a focus on the description of the electromagnetic field. In Section 3, we introduce the basic Hamiltonian of ab initio QED, discuss its many important properties, and provide its most commonly employed approximations. In Section 4, we discuss various first-principles QED methods. In Section 5, we discuss polaritonic chemistry from an ab initio perspective. Finally, in Section 6, we give a conclusion and outlook on how to employ the photonic environment as an extra control knob to influence chemical and material properties. We note that we also provide an extensive appendix that addresses many subtle mathematical details about ab initio QED, which become important when developing computationally highly efficient ab initio methods, such as quantum-electrodynamical density functional theory or similar approaches.

2. A THEORY OF LIGHT AND MATTER: QUANTUM ELECTRODYNAMICS

"In a hydrogen atom an electron and a proton are bound together by photons (the quanta of the electromagnetic field). Every photon will spend some time as a virtual electron plus its antiparticle, the virtual positron [...]"

G. Kane in ref 67.

QED is a cornerstone of modern physics, and Feynman, Tomonaga and Schwinger were awarded the Nobel prize in physics in 1965 for their contributions to this theory.⁶⁸ It tells us on the most fundamental level how light and charged particles interact and how their coupling leads to the emergence of the observable electrons/positrons and photons.^{11–13} The beauty of QED is that it can be derived from a few very basic principles. However, it is also plagued by several mathematical issues that restrict the applicability of full QED to perturbative high-energy scattering processes.^{12,13} Yet, in certain limits, most notably when the charged particles are treated nonrelativistically, QED allows for a beautiful and mathematically well-defined formulation that is very similar to standard electronic quantum mechanics.²² The resulting nonrelativistic QED theory in Coulomb gauge will form the foundation of ab initio QED chemistry and will be discussed in Section 3. But before, we will briefly summarize how QED can be derived from basic principles.

2.1. Relativistic Origins

There are different formulations of the basic equations of QED as well as various different ways to derive them,^{11–13,69,70} e.g., in a Lagrangian description a formulation in terms of path integrals and associated scattering amplitudes suggests itself.⁷¹ Let us follow here a Hamiltonian route that at the same time highlights that both sectors of the theory, that is, the light and the matter parts, follow from the same reasoning and that the coupling between the sectors enforces a strong consistency between the light and matter sector. As a first step, we want the matter as well as the light sector to individually obey special relativity in the form of the energy-momentum relation:^{11,12}

$$E^2 = m^2 c^4 + p^2 c^2$$
(3)

This relation can be derived from the assumption of a highest possible velocity c which we call the speed of light in vacuum. We note that eq 3 implies that we think about the flat (Euclidean) space \mathbb{R}^3 or its extension including time, the Minkowski space.^{11,12} Its **homogeneity**, i.e., that no point is special, and its isotropy, i.e., that no direction is special, are very important since these symmetries determine the basic building blocks of our theories. These symmetries are connected directly to the position-momentum and energy-time uncertainty relations,^{11,72,73} i.e., the translations in space are connected to momentum operators and the translations in time to the energy operator. Thus, the basic building blocks are (self-adjoint realizations of) the momentum $-i\hbar\nabla$ and position r operators and the energy $i\hbar\partial_t$ and time t operators (see Appendices A.1 and A.2 for more details). And the basic wave functions describing matter and light, respectively, should obey eq 3, but with the substitution $E \rightarrow i\hbar \partial_t$ and $p \rightarrow -i\hbar \nabla$. Just using the resulting second-order equation to determine the basic wave functions leads, however, to several problems.^{11,13,74} A possible way out is to recast the second-order equation in terms of a first-order Hamiltonian equation, i.e., an evolution equation for the energy. Following Dirac's seminal idea, we can use for spin-1/2 particles the four-component Dirac equation

$$i\hbar\partial_t \psi(\mathbf{r}t) = [-i\hbar c\mathbf{\alpha} \cdot \nabla + \alpha_0 mc^2]\psi(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(4)

where the vector of matrices $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ and α_0 are the 4 × 4 Dirac matrices.^{11,13,74} Applying the Dirac equation twice, we recover the operator form of eq 3 as intended. Eq 4 is then used to describe the matter sector of QED. If we use a vector of spin-1 matrices \boldsymbol{S} instead, we find the **Riemann-Silberstein equation**^{75–78}

$$\hbar \partial_t f(\mathbf{r}t) = -i\hbar c \mathbf{S} \cdot \nabla f(\mathbf{r}t)$$
⁽⁵⁾

for a three-component wave function f with zero mass and the necessary side condition

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = 0 \tag{6}$$

This side condition ensures that wave function f has only two transverse degrees of freedom, as to be expected for free electromagnetic fields, which have two independent polarizations. Eqs 5 and 6 are then used to describe the electromagnetic sector of QED and recover the usual Maxwell equations in the classical limit, as discussed below. The main issue with these two relativistic equations is that, since they are first order, they necessarily have besides positivealso negative-energy eigenstates. That this is an issue becomes immediately clear from the Riemann-Silberstein wave function f, which should be a quantum version of the electromagnetic energy expression in terms of the electric field E(rt) and magnetic field B(rt), i.e.,

$$E_{\rm ph} = \frac{\epsilon_0}{2} \int (\boldsymbol{E}^2(\boldsymbol{r}t) + c^2 \boldsymbol{B}^2(\boldsymbol{r}t)) \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{r}$$
(7)

with strictly positive eigenenergies. To resolve this issue, we follow a further seminal idea of Dirac. We reinterpret the single-particle equations as actually being equations for two particles. That is, the positive-energy states are the particles and the negative-energy states are the corresponding antiparticles.^{11,12,74} For the photon, we find that it is its own antiparticle, where positive-energy states are associated with positive helicity and negative-energy states with negative helicity.^{12,13,13} To translate this idea into a mathematical prescription, we perform a second quantization step. In more detail, we use the distributional eigenstates of the respective equations (plane waves with momentum k times the corresponding Dirac spinors for matter, or times circular polarization vectors for light), define creation and annihilation field operators for particles and antiparticles, and effectively exchange the meaning of creation and annihilation for the antiparticles such that the energy becomes manifestly positive.^{11,12,74} In the case of the electromagnetic field quantization the respective field operators obey, due to being spin-1 particles, the (bosonic) equal-time commutation relations:

$$[\hat{a}(\mathbf{k}',\,\lambda'),\,\hat{a}^{\mathsf{T}}(\mathbf{k},\,\lambda)] = \delta_{\lambda'\lambda}\delta^{3}(\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}') \tag{8}$$

Here we interpret $\lambda = 1$ as having positive helicity and $\lambda = 2$ as having negative helicity.^{11–13} With this, we find the quantized form of eq 7 to be

$$\hat{H}_{\rm ph} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} \int \hbar \omega_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{a}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}, \lambda) \hat{a}(\mathbf{k}, \lambda) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{k}$$
(9)

where $\omega_k = c|\mathbf{k}|$ (dispersion of the light cone) and we have discarded the trivial and unobservable, yet infinite vacuum contribution $\sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} \hbar \omega_k \, \mathrm{d} \, \mathbf{k}/2$, i.e., we have assumed normal ordering.

In this very condensed derivation of the quantized electromagnetic Hamiltonian (we do not give further details of the electronic part of relativistic QED, because we will consider nonrelativistic charged particles only) we have made some important implicit choices that need to be highlighted. First, we used a quantization procedure based on the vector potential to arrive at the standard expression of eq 9. Since the Riemann-Silberstein momentum operator is equivalent to the curl, i.e., $-i S \cdot \nabla = \nabla \times$, its distributional eigenfunctions are also distributional eigenfunctions for the static vector-potential formulation of the homogeneous Maxwell equation (see also eq 24):

$$-\nabla^2 A(\mathbf{r}) = (\nabla \times \nabla \times -\nabla \nabla \cdot) A(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{k}^2 A(\mathbf{r})$$
(10)

Here, the left-hand side is just due to a vector identity of the vector Laplacian and we note that the longitudinal part is zero by construction due to the side condition of eq 6, i.e., only the transverse part (first term) is nontrivial. The quantization in

terms of the vector potential is an important choice, since in the context of the Riemann-Silberstein formulation one often uses a quantization procedure based on the electric and magnetic fields instead.^{20,79,80} We will comment on this and further connections to classical electrodynamics a little below. Furthermore, since we have only considered the transverse eigenfunctions of eq 10, we have implicitly chosen the **Coulomb gauge**, i.e., $\nabla \cdot \hat{A}_{\perp}(r) = 0$. Consequently, the electromagnetic vector potential

$$\hat{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}) = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c^2}{\epsilon_0 (2\pi)^3}} \sum_{\lambda=1}^2 \int \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_k}} (\hat{a}(\mathbf{k},\lambda) \exp(i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r})\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\mathbf{k},\lambda) + \hat{a}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\lambda) \exp(-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r})\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^*(\mathbf{k},\lambda)) d\mathbf{k}$$
(11)

given here in units of Volts, to agree with relativistic notation, 11,12,81 has only the two physical transverse components. If we had chosen a different gauge instead, we would have to take care of unwanted longitudinal and time-like degrees of freedom by employing quite intricate technical methods, such as Gupta-Bleuler or ghost-field methods.^{11,20,71} The main drawback of the Coulomb gauge is that it is not explicit Lorentz covariant, i.e., if we perform a Lorentz transformation to a new reference frame the Coulomb condition is violated in general.¹¹ However, since we usually have a preferred reference frame for our considerations, i.e., the lab frame, this is a minor restriction in practice. The second point we want to mention is that we have so far chosen, in accordance to the distributional eigenfunctions of eq 5, circularly polarized vectors $\epsilon(k, \lambda)$.^{11,12,71} But for the quantization of the electromagnetic field we can equivalently choose any other polarization vectors that obey

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{k},\lambda)\cdot\boldsymbol{k} = \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{k},1)\cdot\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{k},2) = 0 \tag{12}$$

and are normalized, i.e., $\epsilon^*(k, \lambda) \cdot \epsilon(k, \lambda) = 1$. Indeed, in the following, we will assume the standard choice of linearly polarized vectors if nothing else is stated because the linearly and the circularly polarized representation are connected by a canonical transformation that leaves everything invariant. For the following theoretical considerations, it is sufficient to overload the meaning of $\hat{a}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$ and $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$ to correspond to the respective linearly polarized objects as well. The only formal difference is that we can take $\epsilon(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$ outside the brackets in eqs 11 and 25 since in this case it is a real-valued three-dimensional vector. We note that in certain cases the linear polarization will be important, e.g., for the derivation of the length gauge Hamiltonian of eq 39. We will come across an electromagnetic field given in terms of circularly polarized (also called chiral) modes only at the very end, i.e., in the outlook presented in Section 6.

Going back to the Riemann-Silberstein eq 5, we recognize that there is a well-known classical equation associated with it, in contrast to the Dirac equation. Indeed, if we reinterpret the three-component wave function and give it the units of an energy wave function, i.e., $\sqrt{CV/m^3}$ where *C* is Coulomb, *V* Volts and *m* meters, we can associate

$$F(rt) = \sqrt{\frac{\epsilon_0}{2}} \left(E(rt) + icB(rt) \right)$$
(13)

Using this (classical) Riemann-Silberstein vector, eqs 5 and 6 become the four Maxwell equations without sources:^{75,77,78}

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}t) = -\nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}t) \tag{15}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = 0 \tag{16}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = 0 \tag{17}$$

In this reinterpretation of eq 5, the operator $-i\hbar cS \cdot \nabla$ no longer refers to an energy but rather to power since we can cancel the \hbar on both sides of eq 5. Further, the energy of eq 7 is given by the norm of the Riemann-Silberstein vector:

$$E_{\rm ph} = \int F^*(\mathbf{r}t) \cdot F(\mathbf{r}t) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \tag{18}$$

To connect the classical Maxwell equations back to the above second quantization procedure, we note that the vector potential representation of eqs 14–17 in an arbitrary gauge is

$$-\nabla^2 \phi(\mathbf{r}t) - \frac{1}{c} \partial_t (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}t)) = 0$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

$$\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\partial_t^2 - \nabla^2\right) \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}t), + \nabla \left(\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}t) + \frac{1}{c}\partial_t \phi(\mathbf{r}t)\right) = 0$$
(20)

where the four-potential vector is given by $(\phi(rt), A(rt))$ and we have the association

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}t) = -\nabla\phi(\mathbf{r}t) - \frac{1}{c}\partial_t \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(21)

$$\boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = \frac{1}{c} \nabla \times \boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{r}t)$$
⁽²²⁾

Choosing now the Coulomb gauge, i.e., $\nabla \cdot A_{\perp}(rt) = 0$, the above equations become

$$\nabla^2 \phi(\mathbf{r}t) = 0 \tag{23}$$

$$\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\partial_t^2 - \nabla^2\right) \mathbf{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}t) = 0$$
(24)

The only zero solution of eq 23 is $\phi(rt) = 0$, and all zero solutions of eq 24, i.e., freely propagating Maxwell fields, can be constructed with the help of the distributional eigenstates of eq 10.¹¹ The Coulomb gauge is a maximal gauge, since it removes all gauge ambiguities (compare eqs 19 and 20) that would still be allowed in other gauges. We further note that we recover the classical equations from the above vector-potential-based second-quantized formulation by using the Heisenberg equations of motions,¹¹ where $\hat{B}(r) = \frac{1}{r} \nabla \times \hat{A}_{\perp}(r)$ and

$$\hat{E}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}) = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{\epsilon_0 (2\pi)^3}} \sum_{\lambda=1}^2 \int \frac{\mathrm{i}\omega_{\mathbf{k}}}{\sqrt{2\omega_{\mathbf{k}}}} (\hat{a}(\mathbf{k},\lambda) \exp(\mathrm{i}\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r})\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\mathbf{k},\lambda) - \hat{a}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\lambda) \exp(-\mathrm{i}\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r})\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{*}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)) \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{k}$$
(25)

Finally we mention that one can also do a second quantization based on the interpretation of eq 13 without resorting to the vector potential formulation.⁸² This has the advantage that the resulting basic objects of the theory are gauge-independent. On the other hand, as we will see next, the coupling between light and matter is based on the gauge principle, and hence, at that point usually the vector potential formulation appears again.

2.3. Coupling Light and Matter

Let us next couple the two sectors of the theory. Not surprisingly, there are again various ways to derive how photons and quantized charged particles couple. ^{11,12,20,22,23,71} We will use a further symmetry argument here to couple light and matter. The Dirac and Riemann-Silberstein equations are intimately connected to symmetries. One specifically important symmetry is connected to the **local conservation of charge** (or probability if we do not include the elementary charge |e| in the arguments below). Indeed, from eq 4 we find that the Dirac charge density $\rho(rt) = -|e|\psi^{\dagger}(rt)\psi(rt)$ and the Dirac charge current $J(rt) = -|e|c\psi^{\dagger}(rt)\alpha\psi(rt)$, where and -|e| is the charge of the electron, obey the continuity equation:

$$\partial_t \rho(\mathbf{r}t) + \nabla \cdot \mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r}t) = 0 \tag{26}$$

This equation guarantees that locally charge cannot be destroyed or created; it can only flow from one point to another. Since in the above equation the phase of the wave function becomes irrelevant, we realize that this conservation law holds even if we change the phase of the wave function $\psi(rt) \rightarrow \psi(rt) \exp(i\chi(rt))$. In order to enforce that this phase change does not affect any physical observable, we have to replace $i\partial_t \to i\partial_t + (\partial_t \chi(rt))$ and $-i\nabla \to -i\nabla - (\nabla \chi(rt))$ in eq 4. One therefore interprets the resulting linearly coupled fields $(\partial_t \chi, \nabla \chi)$ as having no physical effect on the charged particle. Indeed, if we determine the Maxwell energy that such fields would correspond to, we find that the four vector potential $\left(-rac{\hbar}{|\epsilon|}\partial_t\chi(\mathbf{r}t), -rac{\hbar\epsilon}{|\epsilon|}
abla\chi(\mathbf{r}t)
ight)$ leads to zero physical fields (compare to eqs 21 and 22) and thus to zero energy (compare to eq 7). The phase of the wave function therefore corresponds to the gauge freedom of the electromagnetic field. This suggests that we should couple a general (nonzero) electromagnetic field in the same linear (minimal) manner, i.e.,

$$i\hbar\partial_t \to i\hbar\partial_t + |e|\phi(\mathbf{r}t)$$
 (27)

$$-i\hbar\nabla \rightarrow -i\hbar\nabla + \frac{|e|}{c}A(rt)$$
 (28)

This adapted derivative is then called a gauge-covariant derivative.^{11,12,71} All of this can be formalized much more elegantly in a Lagrangian representation of the problem, where the gauge-covariant derivative makes the local charge conservation explicit.^{11,12,71}

Let us next see what that prescription entails for light. For this we look at the (still classical) light-matter interaction energy expression that we recover from the above prescription which is

$$E_{\rm int} = -\frac{1}{c} \int \boldsymbol{J}(\boldsymbol{r}t) \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{r}t) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{r} + \int \rho(\boldsymbol{r}t) \phi(\boldsymbol{r}t) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{r}$$
(29)

Varying this energy expression with respect to the four vector potential, we can derive the corresponding contributions to the Maxwell equation.¹¹ If we choose the Coulomb gauge we thus find compactly

$$-\nabla^2 \phi(\mathbf{r}t) = \frac{\rho(\mathbf{r}t)}{\epsilon_0}$$
(30)

$$\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\partial_t^2 - \nabla^2\right) \mathbf{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}t) = \mu_0 c \mathbf{J}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(31)

11196

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}t) - \frac{1}{c^2} \partial_t \boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = \mu_0 \boldsymbol{J}(\boldsymbol{r}t)$$
(32)

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}t) + \nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}t) = 0 \tag{33}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{E}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = \frac{\rho(\boldsymbol{r}t)}{\epsilon_0} \tag{34}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = 0 \tag{35}$$

If we next assume that the only sources for the electromagnetic fields are the (quantized) charged particles, the longitudinal part of the fields, i.e., those corresponding to $\phi(rt)$ in eq 30, can be expressed purely in terms of the charge density itself, i.e., the Hartree potential

$$\phi(\mathbf{r}t) = \int \frac{\rho(\mathbf{r}'t)}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}' \tag{36}$$

If we combine this longitudinal interaction energy with the longitudinal contribution in $E_{\rm ph}$ we obtain the well-known Coulomb interaction between the (quantized) charged particles.¹¹ So upon second quantization of the electromagnetic field, the longitudinal contributions in Coulomb gauge are only affected by the quantization of the particles and we are left by just replacing $A_{\perp}(rt) \rightarrow \hat{A}_{\perp}(r)$ (in the Schrödinger picture¹¹).

Before we give the basic Hamiltonian of nonrelativistic QED in the next section, we want to highlight the intimate relation between the geometry of (real) space, the light and the matter sector, the gauge choice, and the interaction. Changing any of these ingredients needs to be accompanied by a careful reevaluation of the basic theory. First, we highlight that if we restrict to only a part of \mathbb{R}^3 , we need to carefully re-evaluate the basic symmetries in the theory. This is relevant for practical implementations of nonrelativistic QED and derivation of corresponding approximate models. For instance, a box with periodic boundary conditions, where all three edges have the same length, keeps all the basic symmetries intact (see also Appendix A.2). One finds that the resulting theory, where the plane wave solutions of the various differential operators become normalizable eigenfunctions, converges to the freespace formulation that we have discussed so far. One therefore often uses these two settings interchangeably. Already just choosing other boundary conditions, for instance, zero boundary conditions, might imply subtle differences (see also Section 3.3). We further note that both basic equations, i.e., eqs 4 and 5, are based on the same differential operators and hence share the same (distributional) eigenfunctions. This consistency is highlighted again in the gauge principle of eqs 27 and 28, where the differential operator and the fields obey the same boundary conditions. Thus, changing the modes of the light field independently from the matter can violate, for instance, the basic gauge principle and the Maxwell equations. We will comment on this also later in Section 3.3 (see also Appendix A.4). Finally, the gauge choice influences what we call matter and what we call light. This can be nicely seen from the fact that in Coulomb gauge the longitudinal and time-like

photons are absent and subsumed in the Coulomb interaction between the charged particles. This will be further discussed in Section 3.2.

3. THE PAULI-FIERZ QUANTUM-FIELD THEORY

"The claimed range of validity of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian is flabbergasting. To be sure, on the highenergy side, nuclear physics and high-energy physics are omitted. On the long-distance side, we could phenomenologically include gravity on the Newtonian level, but anything beyond that is ignored. As the bold claim goes, any physical phenomenon in between, including life on Earth, is accurately described through the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian [...]."

H. Spohn in ref 22.

We discussed earlier how the (quantized) electromagnetic field can be deduced and how it can be coupled to a quantized matter description. Yet, if we treat matter on the same relativistic level as light, we encounter various conceptual and mathematical issues. Performing a second quantization of also the Dirac equation and coupling it to a second-quantized Maxwell equation via the above gauge-coupling prescription, leads to several divergences.^{12,69,71,83} Full QED treats these divergences by regularizing and then renormalizing scattering theory.^{12,13,71} The simplest realization of a regularization introduces several energy cutoffs in the theory (largest and smallest energy scales for the different particles and their interactions), and it is then shown that the results of perturbative calculations do not depend on how the cutoffs are removed upon renormalization of the theory. In the following, however, we go beyond perturbation theory and consider, for instance, spatially and temporally resolved how a molecule changes during a chemical reaction. In other words, we solve a Schrödinger-type equation that gives us access to such processes.

3.1. Nonrelativistic QED

Indeed, within the last decades tremendous progress has been made to reformulate QED as a nonperturbative ab initio quantum theory in several limits.^{22,84-86} The most important situation for our purpose is the nonrelativistic limit for the matter sector (while keeping the photon sector fully relativistic), which allows for a mathematical formulation that is similar to standard electronic quantum mechanics (see also Appendix A for more details on the mathematical setting of ab initio quantum physics).^{72,73} So instead of the Dirac equation, we are mainly interested in the electronic part of matter and assume that the electrons have small momenta (with respect to relativistic scales). In other words, we discard the positrons and replace the Dirac momentum by the nonrelativistic momentum and hence assume that the electrons are well described by the Schrödinger equation. Because this also implies matter particle conservation (no electronpositron pair creation is possible anymore) we do not need to second-quantize the matter sector. This avoids many of the pitfalls of full QED that arise from working with mathematically problematic field operators (see Appendix A.3).^{83,87} The resulting Hamiltonian, where light and matter couple via the exact minimal coupling prescription from above, is the generalized Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian^{22,81}

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{H}_{\rm PF} &= \sum_{l=1}^{N_{\rm c}} \frac{1}{2m} \bigg(-i\hbar \nabla_{r_l} + \frac{|e|}{c} \hat{A}_{\perp}(r_l) \bigg)^2 + \frac{|e|\hbar}{2m} \sigma_l \cdot \hat{B}(r_l) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l\neq m}^{N_{\rm c}} \frac{e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |r_l - r_m|} \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{N_{\rm c}} \frac{1}{2M_l} \bigg(-i\hbar \nabla_{\mathbf{R}_l} - \frac{Z_l |e|}{c} \hat{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{R}_l) \bigg)^2 - \frac{Z_l |e|\hbar}{2M_l} \mathbf{S}_l \cdot \hat{B}(\mathbf{R}_l) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l\neq m}^{N_{\rm c}} \frac{Z_l Z_m e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |\mathbf{R}_l - \mathbf{R}_m|} \\ &- \sum_{l=1}^{N_{\rm c}} \sum_{m=1}^{N_{\rm c}} \frac{Z_m e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |r_l - \mathbf{R}_m|} + \sum_{\lambda=1}^2 \int \hbar \omega_k \hat{a}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}, \lambda) \hat{a}(\mathbf{k}, \lambda) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{k} \end{aligned}$$
(37)

Here, the first line describes the electronic sector of the theory and its interaction induced by the Coulomb-gauged photon field, where σ is a vector of spin-1/2 Pauli matrices and $\sum_{l\neq m}^{N_e}$ is a double sum excluding l=m. The second line is an addition to QED, which would only consider electrons, positrons, and photons. We include the nuclei (or more generally ions) as effective quantum particles with an effective mass M_{b} an effective charge $Z_{b}e$ and an effective spin S, which gives rise to a vector of spin matrices S_{l} . We do, however, not consider the internal structure of nuclei, which consist of protons and neutrons. The last line describes the longitudinal interaction between the nuclei/ions and the electrons as well as the energy of the free electromagnetic field. We note that the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian is well-known since at least 1938⁸⁸ and has been considered as the basis of nonrelativistic QED by many authors.^{65,89} The recent advances that we highlighted at the beginning of this section are with respect to making this Hamiltonian a well-defined object within an ab initio quantum physics framework (see Appendix A and Section 3.2). It is commonly assumed that this generalized (including also the nuclei/ions) Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian should be enough to capture most of the physics that happens at nonrelativistic energies. Specifically it should be able to describe the situations that arise in QED chemistry and cavity materials engineering. We note, however, that in contrast to the introductory quote by Herbert Spohn, already for simple problems the nonrelativistic matter description might not be sufficient. For instance, the color of gold would be much less appealing without relativistic corrections, in many cases spin-orbit interactions can be decisive and often core electrons need to be treated relativistically to find accurate results.^{90,91} Semi-relativistic extensions of eq 38 exist^{84,85,92} and adding further corrections seems possible within an ab initio QED setting. We will disregard these important details in the following, since they will not lead to qualitative changes in the low-energy regime, and just want to mention that investigating which extra terms need to be included might give indications on how to approach the high-energy problem nonperturbatively. Work along those lines, based on relativistic ab initio QED formulations, $^{93-95}$ is already in progress.

3.2. Mathematical Properties of the Theory

Before we go on, we need to make some comments with regard to this Hamiltonian and discuss some mathematical details that are important for a better understanding of nonrelativistic QED. First, while the **Hilbert space** of the electrons and nuclei/ions are the usual anti/symmetric tensor products of square-integrable Hilbert spaces as in quantum mechan-

ics,^{22,72,73} the space of the photons is a symmetric Fock space.²² It is built by defining first a single-photon momentum space; i.e., a photon wave function is defined by k and the two polarization directions λ_i , and from this all symmetric combinations are constructed. This Fock space is different to the very common way of constructing the space of photons, where for each point in momentum or real space a quantum harmonic oscillator is introduced. Such a construction leads to a nonseparable Hilbert space⁸⁷ and thus to a formally different theory (see also the discussion in Appendix A.1). Next, for the Hamiltonian to be well-defined, the contributions of the photon modes need to be regularized when approaching very high momenta and frequencies. That is, one needs to introduce a form function $\varphi(|\mathbf{k}|) \to 0$ for $|\mathbf{k}| \to \infty$ with which to regularize the field operators $\hat{a}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$ and $\hat{a}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$.²² The simplest way to do so is to introduce a sharp cutoff, which is also called an ultraviolet cutoff, in the mode integrals. Since we have assumed that the particles have nonrelativistic momenta, a common choice for the cutoff is the rest mass energy of the particles. An infrared cutoff, as needed in relativistic QED, is, however, no longer necessary.²² The interaction between charged particles and photons leads to a stable theory with a finite amount of soft $(\omega_k \rightarrow 0)$ photons (at least for the ground state).²² The explicit interaction with the photons, on the other hand, makes it necessary in general to work with bare electronic and nuclear/ionic masses m and M_{b} respectively. That is, the masses in eq 37 are not the observable masses that one uses in quantum mechanics. The physical masses of the particles in quantum mechanics are recovered from nonrelativistic QED by tracing out the photon part which leads, e.g., for the electronic mass to $m_e = m + m_{ph}^{22,96,97}$ as also highlighted in the introduction. Here the photon contribution, $m_{\rm ph}$ is due to the electromagnetic energy that is created by the charged particle itself. When considering the dispersion of a free particle in nonrelativistic QED, we realize that the bare mass is necessarily smaller than in quantum mechanics, i.e., $m_{\rm ph}$ > 0. This is because the free charged particle generates extra energy due to coupling to the photons when having nonzero momentum and is thus effectively slowed down, i.e., the electron is dressed by the photon field (see also Figure 1 for an artistic view on dressed particles in QED). We will give an explicit expression for the photonic mass (of single particles in the dipole approximation) and comment on further implications of this mass renormalization in Section 3.3. Irrespective of the specific choice of (the positive and finite) bare mass, however, the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian has some very nice properties. It is self-adjoint,^{22,98} which guarantees that we can uniquely solve the corresponding static and timedependent Schrödinger-type equations

$$i\hbar\partial_t |\Psi(t)\rangle = \hat{H}_{\rm PF} |\Psi(t)\rangle \tag{38}$$

and hence we have access to all possible observables. By this we mean that we can calculate the expectation value of all operators, e.g., positions, momenta, kinetic or potential energies (or distribution-valued operators,⁸⁷ e.g. densities, current densities or kinetic-energy densities) that share the same domain as the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian (see also Appendices A.1 and A.3 for further details). Furthermore, the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian is bounded from below, and thus we can use the usual energy minimization principle to find a possible ground state of the coupled light–matter system. Indeed, it can be shown that any system that has a ground state in quantum mechanics, i.e., without coupling to the quantized

3.3. Approximations

Nonrelativistic QED allows to work with (polaritonic) wave functions $|\Psi\rangle$ of the fully coupled light-matter system, ^{5,22,81} which makes it very similar to standard quantum mechanics. However, the corresponding wave function depends not only on N_e electronic and N_n nuclear/ionic coordinates anymore but also on a full continuum of photon modes as well. Thus, even for a single particle in free space, a wave function solution of eq 38 is practically unfeasible. Note furthermore that we might need to describe the photonic structure as part of the quantum system in minimal coupling; e.g., the mirrors of an optical cavity are described with the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian as well. As will be discussed below, just approximating the cavity structure with a different level of theory runs the risk of introducing severe inconsistencies. Thus, on this highest level of theory, for any calculation, we first need to fix a cutoff for the free-space continuum of modes, adjust the bare mass of the particles to agree with their experimentally observed free-space dispersions, and describe the photonic structure as well as the matter system that is coupled to this structure with the same Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. To date it remains unknown whether the results of the Pauli-Fierz theory depend on the specific choice of the cutoff and the corresponding bare mass or whether, similar to its scalar counterpart,¹⁰⁹ taking the cutoff to infinity corresponds to a mere infinite energy shift, i.e., that the theory is nonperturbatively renormalizable. Irrespective of these details, this level of theory on the wave function level is impractical. So, how can we make the Pauli-Fierz theory applicable? A first slight simplification is found by realizing that we can discretize the photon continuum, and consider then a continuum limit.^{110,111} A good enough discretization (for our setup, a very large quantization box with periodic boundary conditions) is virtually indistinguishable from a real continuum. However, this does not really resolve the problem of the still humongous amount of coordinates in the wave function. One way is to reformulate the Pauli-Fierz theory as a density functional theory (see discussion in Section 4.1), which allows minimal-coupling simulations in practice (for examples see Section 5.1). Yet, before we discuss potential first-principles approaches in Section 4, we want to focus on the linear formulation of the problem in terms of wave functions. Therefore, one has to cut back drastically on the amount of coordinates if one is interested in a nonperturbative solution of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. For perturbative approaches many alternative strategies exist such as to subsume the continuum of modes in a mass-renormalization from the start, i.e., one works with the physical masses of the particles, and everything else is taken into account by, e.g., Wigner-Weisskopf theory.⁸⁹ We will focus here on the nonperturbative ab intio QED approaches that are beneficial for the strongcoupling regime of polaritonic chemistry, which we are interested in in the following.

One feasible approximation is to use conditional-wave function approaches^{112–114,114} to disentangle the different degrees of freedom. In other words, we could apply a Born– Oppenheimer-type of approach, i.e., evolve the nuclei/ions quantum mechanically on a potential-energy surface that is provided by the electrons and/or photons.^{112,113} One then needs to choose whether to group the photons with the electrons or nuclei/ions (see also Section 4.4) and ensure that there is no double-counting due to the coupling of the photons to both matter degrees of freedom. Further, one needs to take

electromagnetic field, also has a ground state in nonrelativistic QED.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰⁴ This is exactly the property we need in order to discuss the equilibrium properties of a coupled light-matter system. An important difference, however, is that all excited states turn into resonances in nonrelativistic QED, i.e., excited states are no longer eigenstates but have a finite lifetime.^{99,101,105,106} This feature, which is also termed spontaneous emission, is missing in standard ab initio electronic structure theory, where excited states have the unphysical property of being infinitely long-lived. Indeed, if one just looks at the spectrum of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian, one will usually just find one eigenstate, i.e., the ground state and then a continuum above the ground state. Thus, the spectrum alone does not provide much insight into the properties of the coupled light-matter system.^{22,101,105} On the other hand, due to the inclusion of the continuum of photon modes and all the nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom, we have included all dissipation and decoherence channels that are physically present for the subsystems of the total light-matter system, and no external baths or non-Hermitian terms need to be added to mimic those processes. In other words, despite the theory being self-adjoint, i.e., closed, the infinite amount of degrees of freedom includes also the physical bath degrees of freedom by radiating light from the molecules to the far field and hence being lost to the molecular subsystem. So we can conclude that we have found a fully nonperturbative and mathematically consistent ab initio quantum theory of light and matter (see Appendix A for further details on ab initio quantum physics), which answers the first fundamental question from the introduction.

One final important comment addresses the possibility of working with a different gauge, which relates to the second fundamental question of the introduction. Performing a gauge transformation on the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian is far from trivial, since the choice of gauge alters the structure of the underlying Hilbert spaces. This becomes even more problematic because the introduced ultraviolet cutoff does not commute in general with the gauge fixing; i.e., exact gauge equivalence is usually lost once a cutoff has been introduced. We will find one notable exception in the case of the dipole approximation of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian below in Section 3.3. Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, only the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian in the Coulomb gauge has been shown to have all the above desirable mathematical properties within an ab initio QED framework. Using other gauges to quantize the theory needs careful considerations, as novel problematic terms and divergences arise.^{107,108} In addition, one has to note that for other gauges, e.g., the Lorentz gauge, the Coulomb interaction is mediated directly via the (time-like and longitudinal) photons. Consequently even a "quantummechanical calculation" that takes into account only the longitudinal Coulomb interaction needs infinitely many quantized modes that need to fulfill certain consistency conditions, such as enforced by the Gupta-Bleuler method.^{11,20} Therefore, the Coulomb gauge seems to be the most relevant and practical gauge on a nonperturbative Hamiltonian level, and it connects seamlessly with standard quantum mechanics, which is implicitly always assuming the Coulomb gauge.^{11,12,2} Consequently it is important to choose the Coulomb gauge if combining theoretical methods for the quantized light field with standard theoretical approaches to quantum matter. This avoids implicit gauge inconsistencies such as double counting the longitudinal interactions between charged particles.

into account that the photons also mediate new couplings between the electrons, the nuclei/ions and between the electrons and the nuclei/ions. In the dipole approximation (see discussion in Sections 3.3 and 4.4) such extended Born– Oppenheimer approaches have already been investigated and employed in practice. An even further simplification would then be to treat the nuclei/ions classically, which leads to a coupled Ehrenfest-Pauli-Fierz problem.^{81,115,116} This option is discussed in a little more detail in Section 4.4. Another possibility to reduce our problem size is to disentangle different parts of the problem by position, which employs the real-space nature of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. For instance, we can imaging a common cavity setup, where metallic surfaces constitute the optical cavity and we have the matter system of interest in the middle of this cavity (such as in Figure 2).



Figure 2. Common Fabry-Pérot cavity setup. If we assume that the molecules of interest are far removed from the cavity mirrors and localized around the center, one can approximate the main cavity frequencies due to the mirror distance *L* by $\omega_n = c \frac{\pi}{L} |n|$, where we have subsummed the effect of the continuum of free-space modes (perpendicular to *L*) in the effective/observed mass of the particles. The coupling strength $g_{n,\lambda}$ for the two independent polarization directions λ then increases with $\sqrt{1/L}$ if we keep the low-energy (continuous free-space) modes fixed and take their effect into account by the physical mass of the particles (see Section 3.3.1).

If the surfaces are far enough from the molecular system of interest, the mirrors of the cavity can be described with an effective theory that accounts for changes in the local mode structure of the electromagnetic field instead of describing the (macroscopic) cavity as part of the (cavity+molecular) system. Such a procedure is commonly done, for instance, in macroscopic QED, where the modes of some photonic structures are quantized based on linear-response theory.^{21,117} Such an approximation procedure can lead, however, to problems. Keeping in mind our discussion about the necessary consistency between light and matter in Section 2, where we saw that the mode structures of both sectors are the same, we can break various exact relations, such as energy and momentum conservation, if we change the (Fourier) mode structure of light and matter independently. An instructive example is found if we take periodic boundary conditions for matter but perfect-conductor boundary conditions for light²¹ to simulate a cavity structure. In this case the gauge principle of eq 28 tells us that just adding $\exp(i\frac{2\pi}{L}x)$ to the wave function on $x \in [0, L]$ corresponds to a pure gauge, and the resulting pure gauge field is proportional to $\frac{2\pi}{L}$, i.e., a constant field. The Maxwell energy with the perfect-conductor boundary conditions of a constant field is, however, infinite. This can be seen either by a basis expansion or by realizing that a self-adjoint differential operator always knows about the boundary conditions and hence interprets that the constant field drops instantaneously to zero at the boundary, which is not differentiable^{118,119} (for more details see Appendix A.4). Such issues are avoided once we make the dipole-coupling approximation, where the mode consistency between light and matter becomes irrelevant and we can indeed replace the cavity by a local modification of the electromagnetic modes. We discuss this in more detail below in Section 3.3.1.

A different type of simplification follows from a clever basis choice, such as the eigenfunctions of the uncoupled problem, and then to assume that only a few such matter and light states contribute significantly to the solution of the Pauli-Fierz equation. This is a very common way in quantum optics,^{19,24} but it clearly needs already a very detailed understanding or intuition of the subsystems and the physics involved in the light-matter coupling. Moreover, one also needs knowledge about the representation of these states in the original basis of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian to model the proper coupling among the new (many-body) states and the potentially complex photonic states. This knowledge is commonly not available. The many-body methods needed for large systems do not provide the states directly. We will also discuss this issue below in the context of first-principle methods of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian (see Section 4). To circumvent the issues of having the many-body states available, again the dipole approximation comes in handy since dipole transition moments are readily available for many different systems from various theoretical ab initio methodologies.

3.3.1. Cavity as Modification of Local Mode Structure: Dipole Approximation. For a straightforward simplification of the Pauli-Fierz problem, one usually goes directly to the dipole approximation thanks to its many desirable properties. The basic assumption implies that all relevant modes of the electromagnetic field have a wavelength $2\pi/|\mathbf{k}|$ that is much larger than the extent of the localized matter system. This clearly requires that we need to adjust the cutoff to low enough frequencies. Indeed, for most calculations one usually reduces the number of modes to only a few effective ones.¹²⁰ We will discuss the resulting implications below. Following the above assumption, we replace $\hat{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}) \rightarrow \hat{A}_{\perp}(0) \equiv \hat{A}_{\perp}$ in eq 37, where we have also assumed implicitly that the matter system is localized (center of charge) at the origin of the coordinate system. An alternative way to arrive at the same approximation is to assume $\exp(i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}) \approx 1$ in eq 11. Besides becoming problematic when the wavelength of the considered modes becomes comparable with the size of the matter system or when retardation effects become important, we also discard in the dipole approximation any direct influence due to the magnetic part of the quantized photon field on the spin degrees of freedom. We further note that we do not use a multicenter dipole approximation, as often assumed in perturbative or model approaches, where different particles see different fields,²³ since this would a priori violate the fundamental indistinguishability criterion of quantum particles.

Only upon interacting with an environment can we attain distinguishability and classicality, which is discussed in Section 5.3. The resulting (single-center) Hamiltonian is then often also called to be in velocity gauge, which is just the dipoleapproximated Coulomb-gauged Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. Its form highlights a few important properties that make the dipole approximation so versatile. While eq 37 is translationally and rotationally invariant only in the full configuration space of light and matter,²² in the dipole approximation the Hamiltonian is translationally and rotationally invariant also with respect to the matter subsystem.^{108,121} Thus, we find the nice and practical feature that the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian can be efficiently expanded in the usual matter-only Bloch states in dipole approximation,^{113,122} in contrast to the full minimal coupling Hamiltonian. Hence, one usually works in the dipole approximation for solid-state systems. How to properly include beyond dipole contributions for extended systems remains an active topic of research.^{122,123}

Specifically in the context of symmetries, it is important to highlight that there is a second, unitarily equivalent form of the dipole-approximated Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. In more detail, upon performing a unitary transformation $\exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar c}\hat{A}_{\perp}\cdot R\right)$, where $R = -\sum_{l=1}^{N_c} |e|r_l + \sum_{l=1}^{N_n} Z_l |e|R_l$ is the total dipole operator, and a swapping of conjugate photon variables, ^{108,121,124} one finds the **length gauge Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian**^{23,81,107,108,121,124}

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{H}_{\rm PF}^{'} &= -\sum_{l=1}^{N_{\rm c}} \frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \nabla_{r_l}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l \neq m}^{N_{\rm c}} \frac{e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |\mathbf{r}_l - \mathbf{r}_m|} \\ &- \sum_{l=1}^{N_{\rm c}} \sum_{m=1}^{N_{\rm n}} \frac{Z_m e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |\mathbf{r}_l - \mathbf{R}_m|} - \sum_{l=1}^{N_{\rm n}} \frac{\hbar^2}{2M_l} \nabla_{\mathbf{R}_l}^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l \neq m}^{N_{\rm n}} \frac{Z_l Z_m e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |\mathbf{R}_l - \mathbf{R}_m|} \\ &+ \sum_{\alpha=1}^{M_{\rm p}} \left[-\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial q_{\alpha}^2} + \frac{\omega_{\alpha}^2}{2} \left(q_{\alpha} - \frac{g_{\alpha}}{\omega_{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{R} \right)^2 \right] \end{aligned}$$
(39)

Here we have already assumed a discretized continuum of M_p modes (given in terms of displacement coordinates q_α in units of $\sqrt{J}s$) labeled by α , where each α is associated with a specific frequency ω_{α} coupling strength g_{α} and polarization ϵ_{α} . In the free space case with a quantization volume L^3 , these quantities would be associated with $k_n = 2\pi n/L$, $\alpha \equiv (k_n, \lambda)$, $\omega_\alpha = c |k_n|$, and $g_\alpha = \sqrt{1/\epsilon_0 L^3}$, where $n \in \mathbb{Z}_0^3$. However, now we can adapt the frequencies, coupling strengths, and polarizations to match a given cavity structure without breaking fundamental symmetries since the actual spatial mode structure and the momentum matching (no momentum is transferred in the dipole approximation) are no longer important. For a simple example see Figure 2.

Upon first glance, the form of eq 39 seems to break the above-discussed symmetries and has an unusual self-interaction term proportional to $(\epsilon_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{R})^2$. This seeming conundrum can be resolved by carefully analyzing the unitary transformation^{108,121} and realizing that one has changed explicitly the conjugate variables of the photonic theory and mixed light and matter. Indeed, q_{α} does not correspond to a pure photonic quantity anymore but is connected to the auxiliary displacement field of the macroscopic Maxwell equations. The macroscopic Maxwell equations are equivalent to the micro-

socopic Maxwell equations discussed in Section 2, yet they use the auxiliary displacement and magnetization fields that stem from a division of the charge currents and densities into bound and free ones. For completeness and for later reference let us briefly consider how these auxiliary quantities arise. We thus first define

$$\rho(\mathbf{r}t) = \rho_{\text{bound}}(\mathbf{r}t) + \rho_{\text{free}}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(40)

$$J(rt) = J_{\text{bound}}(rt) + J_{\text{free}}(rt)$$
(41)

and then introduce the polarization P(rt) and magnetization M(rt) due to the bound matter by

$$J_{\text{bound}}(\mathbf{r}t) = \nabla \times \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{r}t) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r}t)}{\partial t}$$
(42)

$$\rho_{\text{bound}}(\mathbf{r}t) = -\nabla \cdot \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r}t) \tag{43}$$

We note that these equations are equivalent to those in eqs 32 and 34. If we then make a corresponding division in the electromagnetic fields

$$\epsilon_0 \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}t) = \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}t) - \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(44)

$$\frac{\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}t)}{\mu_0} = \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}t) + \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(45)

and apply these definitions to eqs 32 and 34, we find

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}t) - \frac{\partial \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}t)}{\partial t} = \mathbf{J}_{\text{free}}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(46)

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{D}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = \rho_{\text{free}}(\boldsymbol{r}t) \tag{47}$$

Consequently, displacement D(rt) and magnetization fields H(rt) describe only the free part of the charges. We note that homogeneous eqs 33 and (35) are usually obeyed by the bound and free auxiliary fields individually. This formal reshuffling is useful in connecting Maxwell theory to a theory that describes a bound system and its reaction to electromagnetic fields. Thus, this formulation is often used in conjunction with approximate (matter-only) linear response theory in terms of constitutive relations.^{125–127} In our case, where light and matter are treated self-consistently and we have captured the reaction due to (bound) longitudinal fields exactly by using the Coulomb gauge, we are only left with transverse displacement and polarization fields. In the dipole coupling limit, where the magnetization is disregarded, we therefore find^{108,121,128} that $\sum_{\alpha} \epsilon_0 g_{\alpha}^2 (\epsilon_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{R}) \epsilon_{\alpha} = \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\perp}$ and $\sum_{\alpha} \epsilon_0 \omega_{\alpha} g_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \epsilon_{\alpha} = \hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\perp}$, such that

$$\epsilon_0 \hat{E}_{\perp} = \hat{D}_{\perp} - \hat{P}_{\perp} \tag{48}$$

is the transverse electric field operator. Thus, the last line in eq 39 corresponds to the mode-resolved $\hat{E}_{\perp}^2 + c^2 \hat{B}^2$, and quadratic self-interaction terms naturally arise when coupling to light in terms of displacement and magnetization fields. Notice that also the matter coordinates have now a different meaning, since we have mixed light and matter (as we originally defined with respect to the Coulomb gauge). For instance, the translational symmetry is now found along a combined coordinate, i.e., one shifts not only r_l and R_l but at the same time also all q_{α} .¹²¹ In addition, other observables, e.g., the number of photons,^{108,121} have now a different representation too. This issue has spawned a lot of misunderstandings, mainly in connection with what is called a **superradiant phase**

pubs.acs.org/CR

Review

transition.^{129–136} In more detail, the transverse electric field is by construction zero for any eigenstate, which follows from eq 21 in the Coulomb gauge. Yet the displacement field expectation value can be nonzero for an eigenstate. This merely means that one has a nonzero polarization, i.e., a nonzero total dipole of the system. However, the nonzero displacement field has been often misinterpreted as being the electric field, which led to the wrong conclusion that one can find radiating ground states, i.e., a photonic instability. Due to the symmetries of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian we know that any ground state of atoms, molecules or solids has, by construction, in total zero transverse electric field expectation value. Nevertheless, one could still have a macroscopic amount of virtual photons in the ground state. A macroscopic amount of virtual photons in the ground state, e.g., in form of a constant macroscopic magnetic field, could alternatively be interpreted as a superradiant phase.

Let us note for completeness that the length gauge form of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian of eq 39 can also be derived from the Power-Zienau-Woolley gauge in dipole approximation, assuming that this gauge had the same longitudinal Coulomb interaction.^{23,107,137} Yet beyond the dipole situation, both gauges are, as discussed above, formally different theories. A further reason for this discrepancy can be found in the fact that no multipole expansion exists for unbounded operators. That is, the common argument that a Coulomb-gauged field can be multipole expanded and in this way connected to the Power-Zienau-Woolley gauge only holds perturbatively and not on the level of operators in ab initio QED¹⁰⁸ (see also Appendix A.3 for further details). In the context of working with operators instead of with perturbation theory we note that we have implicitly assumed that we are on \mathbb{R}^3 and instead of boundary conditions on the matter wave functions we have imposed normalizability to have self-adjoint operators.^{22,73} This is the standard setting of ab initio quantum physics^{72,74} (see also Appendix A.2). If we would restrict the matter domain, e.g., choose genuine periodic boundary conditions in the velocity gauge, the length gauge transformation changes these boundary conditions as well in a nontrivial manner, ^{121,122} again highlighting subtle differences when working with different gauges.

After these important technical details, let us return to the main advantage of the dipole approximation. That is, we can treat the photonic environment implicitly by changing the mode structure of the electromagnetic field at the position of the matter subsystem. In our case, we chose the origin as the center of charge. Therefore, one can take now the mode structure of a photonic environment, e.g., from a Maxwell calculation or from experiment, and adapt the $\omega_{\alpha} \epsilon_{\alpha}$ and g_{α} in eq 39 accordingly. We note that one needs to use the corresponding displacement modes instead of the electric modes in the length gauge, i.e., in eq 39. A further important detail is that, in principle, when changing the mode structure, also the induced longitudinal interaction would change. For a better understanding of this aspect, let us first highlight how the usual Coulomb interaction arises based on the free-space mode structure. The Coulomb kernel in eq 36 is connected to the inverse of the longitudinal modes of the electromagnetic field, i.e., the (distributional) eigenfunctions of $-\nabla \nabla \cdot$ from eq 10.¹¹ Due to the high consistency between light an matter (see also Section 3.3 and Appendix A.4), we can express the longitudinal interaction simply in terms of the scalar

(distributional) eigenfunctions and hence find for eq 36 the usual Coulomb kernel

$$\frac{1}{4\pi |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|} = \int \frac{c^2}{\omega_k^2} \frac{\langle \mathbf{r} | \mathbf{k} \rangle \langle \mathbf{k} | \mathbf{r}' \rangle}{\sum_{=\exp(-i\mathbf{k} \cdot (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'))/(2\pi)^3}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{k}$$
(49)

Now changing the mode structure will also affect the longitudinal eigenfunctions and with this lead to a modified Coulomb interaction. Thus, in eq 39, we might need to replace the Coulomb kernels by a modified kernel that takes into account this change of interaction. In certain cases it is argued that this modification would be the main difference to free space.^{134,138} Alternatively, especially for nanoplasmonic cavities, one might instead take into account just one or a few quantized longitudinal modes of the photonic structure explicitly. We will comment on this a little later below.

Changing the mode structure in the dipole approximation, however, has a few further subtle consequences. First, if we have a (discretized) continuum of modes we will have to work with bare masses as already discussed in Section 3.2. In dipole approximation, the connection between the (single-particle) bare mass m and physical mass m_e is known nonperturbatively as^{97,139}

$$m_{\rm e} = m + \frac{4}{3\pi} \left(\frac{e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 c\hbar} \right) \frac{\hbar}{c} \Lambda \tag{50}$$

where the term in the parentheses is the fine structure constant and Λ is the ultraviolet cutoff wavenumber. This already implies that the cutoff should not be chosen too large since else we would need an unphysical negative bare mass, i.e., in dipole approximation nonrelativistic QED is not fully renormalizable (for a single electron the energy where this happens is, however, gigantic¹³⁹).²² If we change the mode structure, the connection between bare and physical mass will change, in general. In most cases of polaritonic chemistry, it is, however, tacitly assumed that the changes in the mode structures are not so severe as to modify this completely. Hence one usually subsumes the continuum of modes in the physical mass and only keeps a few "enhanced" modes explicitly in the calculations. Indeed, usually just one mode is kept.^{31,32,43} On the other hand, if we use a discretized continuum, we have included radiative dissipation and decoherence. In other words, since we have very many photonic degrees of freedom, the quantum revival time tends to infinity^{119,140,141} and hence we have effectively irreversible processes. This is broken once we use the physical mass of the particles and merely keep a few effective modes. To reintroduce the irreversibility, often artificial baths are included in a few mode calculation. But in principle such open-system approaches are not needed in nonrelativistic QED as it would contain all dissipation channels explicitly.

One last subtle but very important point concerns the selfpolarization term $(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{R})^2$. While often one might hope that this term, which causes the difference between the electric and the displacement field, is not very important, it turns out that without this term the ab initio theory becomes unstable and leads to unphysical results.^{58,108,121} Indeed, no basis-set limit exists without self-polarization, i.e., the theory has no eigenstates that could be approximated by a finite basis expansion, and an unphysical coordinate- and gauge-dependence is introduced. Thus, the results can become highly unphysical for a finite number of basis states, such as having

coupling), we arrive at the starting point of most currently employed theoretical **models** in polaritonic chemistry. Upon

reducing the matter state to just two states, i.e., a ground and

excited state irrespective of whether one considers electronic,

rotational or vibrational excitations, one reaches the **Rabi** model.⁴³ With these approximations, the dipole self-energy

term becomes a constant offset and is therefore often

discarded. Making then the rotating-wave approximation one

finds the famous Jaynes-Cummings model that is virtually always invoked when discussing QED chemis-

try.^{1,5,14,39,40,43,45-47} If one wants to consider an ensemble of

two-level systems, one then often employs the further

approximated Dicke or Tavis-Cummings models. The latter

becomes equivalent to an effectively scaled Jaynes-Cummings

model.^{37,38,45,48} The Dicke or Tavis-Cummings models assume

that the individual physical systems, e.g., molecules, are so far

apart that they do not interact with each other directly but only

couple via the cavity mode. Yet in the model, the dipole self-

energy term, which necessarily arises in an ab initio theory in

the length gauge beyond only two levels, is discarded (perfect localization of the whole ensemble is assumed), and no spatial

information on the individual systems is kept. We note that

also on this level of approximation, the choice and knowledge

of the gauge is crucial. If the Dicke or Tavis-Cummings model is interpreted in terms of the length gauge without the dipole

self-energy, it is possible to find the unphysical case of nonzero

transverse electric field in the ground state. If the Dicke or

Tavis-Cummings model is interpreted in terms of the Coulomb gauge, then such unphysical results are avoided.

Of course, there are many more advanced models and

alternative theoretical approaches, and they are discussed in

many of the available reviews highlighted throughout this

work. Yet to keep the amount of theoretical approaches to be covered in detail tractable, we in the following focus on ab

initio approaches (based on the mathematical nomenclature

defined in Appendix A.5) and only highlight more advanced

"To better understand the properties of the hybrid states,

further development of QED chemistry calculation methods,

akin to those in quantum chemistry, would be extremely

If we do not want to rely on the many (potentially) restrictive

assumptions underlying many of the currently employed

models, as introduced at the end of the previous section,

then we need to find alternative approaches to handle the

extreme complexity of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. For this

purpose, we will rewrite the problem of nonrelativistic QED in

convenient ways that allow (in practice approximate) solutions

of the general Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian numerically. This

means that we want to solve eq 38 either for the Hamiltonian

of eq 37 or of eq 39 without using too much apriori knowledge

are natural to calculate, e.g., absorption spectra or to

models and other theoretical approaches where necessary.

4. FIRST-PRINCIPLES APPROACHES TO

NONRELATIVISTIC QED

T.W. Ebbesen in ref 14.

valuable."

alleged ground states with nonzero transverse (propagating) electric fields. Physically that is easy to understand, since one could only discard this term if one had a perfectly localized system of the form $\delta^3(r)$, which is impossible in quantum mechanics^{73,142} (see Appendix A.4 for further details). Therefore, this assumption is equivalent to that of a classical particle at the origin of the coordinate system with some internal structure. Consequently, the self-interaction term must be included for a physical ab initio quantum theory in the length gauge. This statement holds true, of course, also if the mode structure is changed, as discussed above. We note that the effect of the dipole self-energy term is often not to change the result of a purely dipolar (perturbative or few-level) calculation but to stabilize it and guarantee a unique basis-set limit. Yet it depends on the specific setup and the quantities under investigation whether a decisive difference between a perturbative/few-level and a full ab initio calculation can be observed.¹⁰⁸ Importantly, for longitudinal modes that are potentially due to, e.g., a nanoplasmonic cavity, self-polarization terms also need to be taken into account in an ab initio description. This becomes clear from the fact that in principle also longitudinal interactions can be treated in terms of the auxiliary displacement and magnetization fields (see eqs 42 and 43). However, this leads to several mathematical issues for a full continuum of modes and one therefore usually assumes that such terms can be replaced by the usual Coulomb interaction in free space.¹⁰⁷ Yet for individual longitudinal modes, which are changed, e.g., due to a nanocavity, such a procedure is straightforward. Because of the manifest positive energy of the photon field, we must include a self-polarization term, otherwise one could lower the energy indefinitely and no basis set limit is possible 108,121 (see also Appendix B for a simple proof of this fact). In practice, this issue can often be circumvented by restricting space to a finite simulation box with certain boundary conditions, which then serves the same purpose as a self-interaction term. The size of the box, however, then becomes a parameter of the ab initio theory and must be chosen with care. Which way we ever turn it, a stable ab initio quantum theory dictates to include quadratic (beyond linear) terms and the only difference with respect to the transverse case of eq 39 is that the quadratic contribution might be different (since nonzero longitudinal fields are physically possible even for static eigenstates). The same condition appears in any other coupled ab initio quantum systems, such as electron-phonon systems.^{143,144}

To conclude this extensive part of the discussion: For a practical first-principles calculation on the level of the dipoleapproximated Pauli-Fierz theory one needs to choose the mode structure of the photonic environment at the position of the matter system (obtained from experiment, a separate simulation, or other theories) and choose a cutoff for these modes and the corresponding bare mass. We note again that, in contrast to the full minimal-coupling theory, dipole-approximated Pauli-Fierz theory is known to be not fully renormalizable.²² This is, however, simple to understand on physical grounds: Infinitely high photon momenta directly contradict the basic assumption that the wavelength of these modes is large compared to that of the matter subsystem.

Finally, after having assumed the dipole approximation, subsuming the continuum of modes in the physical masses of the particles and keeping only one effective mode (this means integrating over the part of the continuum that has been enhanced and thus deducing an effective single-mode or assumptions, e.g., which matter or light states are assumed to be the most important ones. However, before we continue, we generalize the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians even further. This is helpful for several reasons: First, for density functional methods (see Section 4.1) we need to include external fields to establish the necessary mappings.^{94,145} Second, external fields

11203

investigate how a laser would induce nonequilibrium dynamics. Third, in various approximations, e.g., the cavity Born– Oppenheimer approach (see Section 4.4), internal degrees of freedom become effective external fields and hence it is helpful to see how (and which) external fields are included in the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. Therefore, in the full minimal-coupling eq 37 we replace

$$\hat{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}) \rightarrow \hat{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}) + A_{\text{ext}}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
 (51)

and add the terms

$$\sum_{l=1}^{N_e} -|e|\phi_{\text{ext}}(\mathbf{r}_l t) + \sum_{l=1}^{N_n} Z_l |e|\phi_{\text{ext}}(\mathbf{R}_l t)$$
(52)

and

$$-\frac{1}{c}\int J_{\text{ext}}(\mathbf{r}t)\cdot\hat{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r})$$
(53)

This means we now include external classical electro**magnetic fields** ($\phi_{\text{ext}}(rt)$, $A_{\text{ext}}(rt)$) to act directly on the matter subsystem, and an external classical current J_{ext} (rt) to act directly on the photons. In the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian we can even define the (fully quantized) laser pulse by the chosen initial state of the photon subsystem. This ambiguity raises interesting questions about how to best describe, for instance, a laser pulse and what are the differences in the descriptions.¹⁴⁶ We further note that we have here subsumed the zero component of the external charge current, i.e., $\rho_{ext}(rt)$, in $\phi_{\rm ext}(rt)$ since in Coulomb gauge we can just use eq 36 to connect both. Further, due to the Coulomb gauge we could even restrict to only the transverse part of $J_{ext}(rt)$ in accordance to the quantized field being only transverse^{81,94} (compare also to eq 31). We note in passing that the moment we consider also external fields, we effectively gain a second gauge freedom. The physical results will not depend on the choice of the gauge of the external field, and we do not necessarily need to choose the internal and the external fields to have the same gauge. In contrast to the gauge choice of the internal fields (see Section 3.2 for further details), it is straightforward to change the gauge of the classical external fields. Having included such general external time-dependent fields leads to an explicitly timedependent Hamiltonian $H_{\rm PF}(t)$.

For the dipole-approximated theory of eq 39 in length gauge we add merely

$$\sum_{l=1}^{N_{e}} -|e|\phi_{\text{ext}}(\mathbf{r}_{l}t) + \sum_{l=1}^{N_{n}} Z_{l}|e|\phi_{\text{ext}}(\mathbf{R}_{l}t)$$
(54)

and

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{M_p} q_{\alpha} j_{\alpha}(t) \tag{55}$$

where the last term corresponds to eq 53. There are, however, several transformations in between^{94,124} and so $j_{\alpha}(t)$ is proportional to the mode-resolved time-derivative of $J_{\text{ext}}(rt)$. And accordingly we find in this case an explicit time-dependent dipole-approximated Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian $\hat{H}'_{\text{PF}}(t)$.

In the following we want to present different first-principles methods for nonrelativistic QED. Similarly to ab initio methods in quantum mechanics, every approach has certain advantages and drawbacks. Which one to use will depend not only on the system under study or the investigated effects but

also on the level of detail, e.g., whether the full wave function should be accessible (at least approximately) or whether reduced physical quantities suffice. The good thing is that many of these methods have overlapping fields of application and can hence be used to validate results obtained with a different ab initio QED approach.^{147,148} All of these approaches are extensions of quantum-mechanical methods that have been applied successfully in theoretical chemistry and electronic structure theory for many decades. These approaches therefore aim at describing molecular systems coupled to photons on the same level of detail as their quantum-mechanical (matter-only) counterparts. We note that there are many advanced models and alternative theoretical methods for molecular polaritons (see, e.g., refs 149-163) that have a more quantum-optical background and hence are geared more toward photonic observables. They are discussed in detail in various reviews on QED chemistry, e.g., refs.^{37,38,45} Notice that although the focus of this review is on ab initio QED, the authors do not imply that first-principles QED approaches are scientifically superior to other theoretical methods applied in polaritonic chemistry. On the contrary, as also discussed in the introduction, any of those methods serves its purpose with different intrinsic advantages and disadvantages. Indeed, an important goal of theoretical polaritonic chemistry is to develop a comprehensive picture of the underlying mechanisms that subsumes the different theoretical viewpoints and encompasses (quantum) optics, (quantum) chemistry, and electronic structure theory (see also discussion in Appendix A.5).

4.1. Quantum-Electrodyamical Density Functional theory

Quantum-electrodynamical density functional theory (QEDFT) follows the seminal ideas originally developed by Kohn, Hohenberg, and Sham for the electronic ground state^{164,165} and later by Runge and Gross for the time-dependent situation of electronic quantum mechanics.^{166,167} While the fundamental theorems for the static and the time-dependent situation use different quantities we want to follow here the more general time-dependent perspective which encompasses the static case as well.^{168–170}

The basic idea is to replace the high dimensional wave function as a descriptor of the system with a reduced/collective physical variable. This is a ubiquitous idea in physics. For instance, in classical mechanics, the description of a fluid is not based on the humongous phase space of all the individual particles but on density and velocity fields such as in the Navier-Stokes equations. A different example is the use of reduced Green's functions in many-body quantum physics.^{9,171} The main advantage of a density-functional reformulation is that we can do this reformulation in an exact manner. That is, we want to guarantee that we can recover the exact results of the wave function formulation, at least in principle. In more technical terms, we want to have a bijective mapping between the set of all physical wave functions and the set of collective variables.^{118,164,166} In this way, once we know the values of the collective variables, we can uniquely identify the corresponding wave function and determine all observables from it (see Appendix C for details on the basic QEDFT mappings). The existence of such a mapping can be recast into the question of whether one can find a closed set of equations that are deduced from the Hamiltonian description in terms of wave functions and that only include the collective variables. In the

case of eq 37 we find these two equations that form a closed set to be $^{\$1,94}$

$$\partial_{t} \boldsymbol{J}(\boldsymbol{r}t) = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{\hbar} \langle \Psi(t) | [\hat{H}_{\mathrm{PF}}(t), \ \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}(\boldsymbol{r}t)] | \Psi(t) \rangle + \langle \Psi(t) | (\partial_{t} \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}(\boldsymbol{r}t)) | \Psi(t) \rangle$$
(56)

$$\left(\frac{1}{c^2}\partial_t^2 - \nabla^2\right) \mathbf{A}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}t) = \mu_0 c \mathbf{J}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(57)

where J(rt) is the total charge current density operator that is explicitly time-dependent even in the Schrödinger picture if we have a time-dependent external vector potential. Eq 56 is a local force equation, and eq 57 is the Maxwell equation in the Coulomb gauge of the internal fields induced by the (transverse part of the) charge current density.

Of course, the problem is that we do not know all the terms on the right-hand side of eq 56 explicitly in terms of (J(rt), $A_{\perp}(rt)$). So in practice we have to resort to approximations, similar to the case of standard electronic density functional theories.¹⁶⁵ Note, however, that for eqs 56 and 57 gauge and relativistic invariance become much easier to enforce then for the wave function formulation, and indeed on a QEDFT level it might be beneficial to employ these facts for more accurate approximation strategies in the future. Yet here we stay in Coulomb gauge and follow the seminal ideas of Kohn and Sham, who proposed that in order to approximate such complicated momentum-stress and interaction-stress terms we should use an auxiliary system, which is as close as possible to the original problem, yet is still numerically tractable.^{118,164,166} So in practice a system of noninteracting electrons, nuclei/ ions, and photons is usually solved that generate the same current density and vector potential as the original problem. The resulting (single-particle) polaritonic Pauli-Kohn-Sham equations

$$i\hbar\partial_t\varphi_k(\mathbf{r}st) = \left[\frac{1}{2M_k} \left(-i\hbar\nabla - \frac{Z_k|\mathbf{e}|}{c}\mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{KS}}(\mathbf{r}t)\right)^2 - \frac{Z_l|\mathbf{e}|\hbar}{2M_k}\mathbf{S}_k\cdot\mathbf{B}_{\mathrm{KS}}(\mathbf{r}t) - Z_k|\mathbf{e}|\phi_{\mathrm{KS}}(\mathbf{r}t)\right]\varphi_k(\mathbf{r}st)$$
(55)

are nonlinearly and self-consistently coupled to eq 57, where

$$\langle \Phi(t) | \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}(\boldsymbol{r}t) | \Phi(t) \rangle = \boldsymbol{J}(\boldsymbol{r}t)$$
(59)

$$A_{\rm KS}(\mathbf{r}t) = A_{\perp}(\mathbf{r}t) + A_{\rm Mxc}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(60)

$$\phi_{\rm KS}(\mathbf{r}t) = \phi(\mathbf{r}t) + \phi_{\rm Hxc}(\mathbf{r}t) + \phi_{\rm pxc}(\mathbf{r}t) \tag{61}$$

Here the Pauli-Kohn-Sham wave function $\Phi(t)$ is a tensor product of Slater determinants and permanents (of electrons, nuclei/ions and photons⁸¹) of the orbitals $\varphi_k(rst)$, where *s* is the corresponding spin coordinate for particle *k* with mass M_k , charge $Z_k | e |$ and spin matrix S_k . That is, for electrons we have $s \in \{1, 2\}, M_k = m, Z_k = -1$, and $S_k = \sigma$. If we also treat the nuclei/ions quantum-mechanically we then have further species of (massive) particles.⁸¹ The Kohn–Sham magnetic field is given by $B_{\text{KS}}(rt) = \frac{1}{c} \nabla \times A_{\text{KS}}(rt)$ and the Kohn– Sham vector potential contains the **mean-field exchangecorrelation** potential $A_{\text{Mxc}}(rt)$. Further, the Kohn–Sham (scalar) potential contains now besides the usual Hartreeexchange-correlation potential $\phi_{\text{Hxc}}(rt)$ also a photon-ex-

change-correlation potential $\phi_{pxc}(rt)$ (see also Appendix C for further details). An accurate approximation of these fields is much easier to establish and one can beneficially use the direct connection of density-functional methods to reduced-density matrix and Green's function theories.¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁷ We note, however, that due to having also the photonic contributions in the effective fields, we now have to consider the consistency of approximations to the longitudinal (Coulombic) and the transverse (photonic) interactions (see Appendix C for more details). As can be seen from eqs 58-61, in general we work with current-density functionals in QEDFT. However, for the static case or the dipole-approximated version (see also the discussion below), functionals in terms of the density are sufficient. We therefore refrain here from explicitly indicating the functional dependencies since they hinge on the specific realization of QEDFT (see Appendix C for more details). Further we note that while new terms appear that generate novel contributions to the exchange-correlation potentials, e.g., $\phi_{\text{pxc}}(\mathbf{rt})$ in eq 61 that is explicitly due to the photon-matter coupling,^{81,94,124} in principle also the usual density functionals are implicitly modified since they are now generated by light-matter coupled (polaritonic) wave functions.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ Let us also note that solving these noninteracting yet nonlinearly coupled equations is far from trivial. This has to do, on the one hand, with the fact that we still have to solve (for the matter subsystems) many nonlinearly coupled single-particle Pauli equations and, on the other hand, that the subsystems (electrons, nuclei/ions, and photons) have vastly different energy/time and length/momentum scales. This makes the development of special multisystem and multiscale methods necessary.^{81,181} An important technical aspect, that connects back to the introduction of the Riemann-Silberstein formulation of classical electrodynamics (see Section 2), is to recast everything as first-order equations in time such as to (re) use the same numerical propagation routines.^{81,181} The firstorder equations of the different particle species then need to be solved self-consistently, i.e., the full feedback between the different subsystems (electrons, nuclei/ions, and photons) is included. Another technical aspect, specifically with respect to the Maxwell's equation, is to simulate free space by working in a finite simulation box and to use perfectly matched layers.^{81,181} This gives rise to radiative dissipation and decoherence from first-principles; i.e., if the system of interest and its photonic environment are enclosed within the Maxwell simulation box, photons that reach the boundary of this simulation box are emitted (lost) to the far field. In this way the transient nature of of photonic excitations in realistic nanophotonic environments can be captured (see Section 5.1 for further details). Finally, owing to the difference in mass between the nuclei/ions and electrons, one often makes a further approximation and simulates the nuclei/ions by classical statistical methods, e.g., multitrajectory Ehrenfest methods.¹¹⁵ It is within this approximation for the nuclei/ions that QEDFT for eq 37 has been successfully applied.⁸¹

Of course, in many practical situations, especially in the case of molecular systems, a full minimal-coupling description is not always needed (although it is still desirable to have such highlevel solutions even in such cases in order to justify approximations). So one often uses QEDFT in the longwavelength (dipole) approximation, where eqs 56 and 57 reduce to the corresponding equations for the Hamiltonian of eq 39.^{81,94,124} QEDFT can indeed seamlessly connect to this and various other limiting cases.¹⁷⁰ Before we discuss

specifically QEDFT in the dipole-coupling limit, we want to highlight a related methodology that can be applied in an intermediate regime. For two-dimensional materials, one can approximate the in-plane and out-of-plane coupling differently. Such an ansatz was considered by the authors of ref.¹⁸² which investigated two-dimensional materials weakly coupled to a cavity and the arising Purcell effect, i.e., the cavity-induced faster spontaneous emission of photons. They employed macroscopic QED to quantize the field of the cavity and then coupled it with the help of Wigner-Weisskopf theory (only zero or a single photon in each mode and effective particle masses) to (electron-only) density functional Kohn-Sham wave functions. Since in this approach light and matter are treated separately, e.g., matter is described in Coulombgauged density-functional theory while the Maxwell field is quantized in Weyl gauge, extra care has to be taken to not generate unphysical effects. We note, however, that with the help of the fundamental mapping theorems of QEDFT (see also Appendix C), one could unambiguously connect macroscopic QED with a Pauli-Kohn-Sham wave function and provide advanced light-matter interaction functionals.

The separate quantization of light and matter becomes less error prone if we consider the interaction with the transverse electromagnetic modes in the dipole approximation (see Section 3.3 for details). Within dipole-approximated QEDFT^{124,145,183-186} dissipation and decoherence is still included^{184,186,187} if the discretized continuum of photon modes is kept, and one can thus investigate, e.g., the superradiance of a collection of molecules, mass-renormalization effects and changes in the spontaneous emission.¹⁸⁴ To reduce the numerical costs even further, one can either reduce the mode number to a few (or merely one) effective modes or one can, for example, approximate the photon modes by an instantaneous radiation-reaction potential.^{188,189} Most of the results in polaritonic chemistry obtained with QEDFT-related methods employ one of these limits (see Section 5). The radiation-reaction approach is specifically efficient in including simple Markovian dissipation and allows, in combination with linear-response theory, to reach the macroscopic collectivecoupling limit and explore its implications for real molecules in the dilute gas limit.¹⁹⁰ For plasmonic situations one can either include the plasmonic structure itself or (more approximately) some quantized effective (potentially longitudinal) modes (see also Appendix B) or even just modify the Coulomb interaction (see also Section 3.3). We finally note that once we take the coupling to the (now only few) transverse modes of the photonic structure to zero, QEDFT recovers standard (timedependent) density-functional theory.^{81,118} Time-dependent density-functional theory is then often sufficient to capture strong-coupling effects to longitudinal modes of plasmonic cavities if the plasmonic nanostructure is treated explicitly.^{191–195}

All in all, QEDFT is highly versatile and allows access to electronic, photonic, and nuclear/ionic quantities and their self-consistent interplay on various levels of approximation. The main disadvantages involve that it is not easy to assess the error of an approximate density-functional for a given level of theory, and it is not straightforward to access observables that are not trivially given by the auxiliary Pauli-Kohn–Sham wave functions.

4.2. Exact Results

While QEDFT is able to treat the different forms of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian efficiently, in one way or another, the results are usually approximate. For validation purposes and elementary insights, it would be good to have exact results. However, for coupled light-matter systems, not many exact results (analytic or numerical) are available. To the best of our knowledge, only for dipole coupling some exact reference results are known, whose main insights are summarized in the following.

First, we assume the dipole approximated light-matter coupling of eq 39 and consider a single particle trapped in a harmonic potential. It can be shown²² that the time-dependent dipole moment of this particle can be computed by just solving the classical equation of motion of the harmonically trapped particle coupled to the Maxwell's equation, instead of solving the full quantum field problem. This example is also a good rationalization of QEDFT, where the coupled eqs 56 and 57 are directly reduced to these classical equations for this case. The computed time evolution of the dipole moment allows to access, e.g., the lifetimes of the excited states and absorption/ emission spectra.

Staying with a harmonic potential, recently analytically exact results of the influence of the photon field with many (identical) interacting particles have been presented and implications discussed, e.g., that even for a ground state resonant behavior can be observed.¹⁹⁶ Furthermore, exact analytical results are available for free particles (electrons),¹³⁹ which have been used to devise approximations within QEDFT.¹⁷⁰ Besides others, interesting effects on the linear response of the system have been highlighted (e.g., the appearance of plasmon-polariton resonances and a decrease of the Drude peak), and mass renormalization effects due to the thermodynamic limit of the photon field have been shown. In both cases, the authors have used that in velocity gauge the photon field couples only to the center of charge of the total system directly and that this then leads to only an indirect modification of the relative degrees of freedom.

A different example concerns the one-mode approximation. In this case, numerically exact results are available for a quantum three-body system coupled to this effective mode. For He, HD+ and H_2^+ one can reformulate the 10 dimensional problem in a problem-specific coordinate system and solve for the lowest lying eigenstates.^{197,198} This seemingly simple problem already provides many new insights and effects that we will highlight in Section 5. Suffice it to say that already for the simple one-mode case, the eigenvalues of the problem, without any further knowledge, lose the simple interpretation they have in standard quantum mechanics (see also the discussion in Section 3.2 concerning the loss of excited states in QED). Because one has access to the lowest-lying eigenstates in this numerically exact approach, one can also calculate the exact thermal (canonical) ensemble and deduce cavity-modified thermal properties, which will be discussed in Section 5.

The main drawback of either analytically or numerically exact ab initio results is that they are only available for very specific situations and cannot be applied to different, chemically more relevant cases.



Figure 3. Two main forms of the generalized Born-Huang expansion for coupled light-matter systems discussed in the main text. While the cavity Born-Oppenheimer partitioning is geared toward ground-state chemical reactions, the polaritonic energy surface partitioning is more geared toward photochemical processes.

4.3. Quantum Electrodynamics Coupled Cluster Theory for Electronic Strong Coupling

A compromise between generality and accuracy can be found if we restrict to eq 39 in the static case from the start and additionally treat the nuclei as external (clamped) quantities. Afterward quantum electrodynamics coupled cluster (QED-CC) theory^{199,200} can be employed for electronic strong coupling conditions, which has become another important first-principle QED method. In contrast to many-body methods, such as QEDFT, QED-CC theory tries to approximate the many-body wave function of electrons and photons directly. We note that alternative wave function-based methods are available (see e.g. refs 201, 202), but we will not elaborate further on those in this review. The exact electron– photon wave function in QED-CC is re-expressed by applying a cluster (excitation) operator \hat{T} on a reference wave function

$$|\Psi\rangle = \exp(\hat{T})|R\rangle \tag{62}$$

where $|R\rangle$ is usually the tensor product of the electronic Hartree–Fock wave function with the vacuum states of the modes α . In addition to standard coupled cluster theory the cluster operator now also contains photonic contributions and reads for a single cavity mode as

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{\mu,n} t_{\mu,n} \hat{b}^{\mu} (\hat{a}^{\dagger})^n$$
(63)

Here $\hat{b}^{\mu} \in \{\hat{b}^{a}_{i}, \hat{b}^{ab}_{ii}, ...\}$ are the electronic excitation operators of rank μ , *n* is the number of photons in the mode, and the unknown parameters (amplitudes) $t_{\mu,n}$ are to be determined. Also, when comparing to standard coupled cluster theory, one might wonder whether the bosonic nature of the photons imply some sort of symmetrization of the mode wave functions. Yet in eq 39 the bosonic nature of the photons is made explicit by the quantum harmonic oscillators α . This happens because the excitations of a quantum harmonic oscillator α are connected to the number of photons (note that, as discussed in Section 3.3, the "length gauge photons" are not the physically observed photons) in this mode α ; i.e., we can have infinitely many photons (bosons) in one mode. The expression of eq 62 for the wave function $|\Psi\rangle$ leads to an expansion in the number of electronic and photonic excitations that, even if truncated early, gives very accurate results

provided that the exact ground state $|\Psi\rangle$ is dominated by the single reference wave function $|R\rangle$.

The choice of truncation is important and in practice the number of electronic excitations is chosen as two (with potentially perturbative triples) and the mixed electronicphotonic and pure photon excitations in each mode is either one or two.^{148,203,204} This truncation allows us to perform practical calculations for relatively large systems. Embedding approaches allow to reach larger systems,²⁰⁵ where only part of the problem is treated on the QED-CC level and other parts with, e.g., a Hartree-Fock-type approximation. Ultrastrong and deep-strong coupling,43 where many more than just one excitation per mode arise, need a truncation at higher excitations. Here reformulations of the problem in an adapted basis^{170,206} might prove helpful. Further, as can be inferred from eq 63, treating many different photon modes can become numerically costly, and no extension to full minimal-coupling (see eq 38 with the nuclei/ions treated classically) has been devised as of yet. However, the reformulation of our QED eigenvalue problem in terms of (unitary) coupled cluster theory allows for a relatively straightforward implementation²⁰⁷ on noisy intermediate scale quantum devices^{208,209} employing variational quantum eigensolvers.^{209,210} The representation on a quantum computer has the appealing feature that in principle, many (entangled) photon modes could efficiently be represented in contrast to classical devices.

4.4. Nuclear/Ionic Dynamics in the Generalized Born-Huang Picture

If we want to investigate properties of the nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom when strongly coupled to a cavity, we usually take the dipole-coupling approximation and hence start from eq 39. In this case we first perform a generalization of the Born-Huang expansion.^{58,112,113} That is, we re-express the fully correlated wave function of electrons, nuclei/ions and photons

$$\Psi(\underbrace{\mathbf{r}_{1}\sigma_{1}, ..., \mathbf{r}_{N_{c}}\sigma_{N_{c}}}_{=\underline{\mathbf{r}}}, \underbrace{\mathbf{R}_{1}S_{1}, ..., \mathbf{R}_{N_{n}}S_{N_{n}}}_{=\underline{\mathbf{R}}}, \underbrace{q_{1}, ..., q_{M_{p}}}_{=\underline{q}})$$

$$(64)$$

in terms of conditional wave functions. There are now several ways of how to perform this expansion, i.e., which subsystem depends conditionally on the others. While the generalized Born-Huang expansion is exact irrespective of partitioning, the choice of partitioning is important when performing approximations.^{58,113} We will here focus on the two most relevant choices for investigating the nuclear and ionic degrees of freedom (see Figure 3). Which choice is more appropriate for approximating the problem at hand depends on the physical setup and is thus determined by the chemical system inside the photonic environment and the properties of the photonic environment itself, i.e., how do the matter excitations compare to the modes of the cavity structure. We will discuss this in more detail below. We note that there are also alternative schemes, such as exact factorization approaches,^{114,211–214} that we will not go into further detail here.

The first choice, which we call the **cavity Born**– **Oppenheimer approach**, ^{58,112} is to group the photons with the nuclei/ions and to make the electrons depend parametrically on <u>**R**</u> and <u>**q**</u>. In this case, in order to find the exact solution for

$$E\Psi(\underline{\mathbf{r}}, \underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q}) = \hat{H}_{\rm PF}^{'}\Psi(\underline{\mathbf{r}}, \underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q})$$
(65)

via the generalized Born-Huang expansion, we have to solve the equations

$$E_{i}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q})\psi_{i}(\underline{\mathbf{r}}; \{\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q}\}) = \hat{H}_{\mathrm{PF}}^{'}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q})\psi_{i}(\underline{\mathbf{r}}; \{\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q}\})$$
(66)

where $\hat{H}'_{\rm PF}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q})$ is the Hamiltonian of eq 39 parametrically dependent on $\underline{\mathbf{R}}$ and \underline{q} and the kinetic nuclear/ionic and photonic parts are set to zero (treated classically), together with

$$E\chi_{i}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q}) = E_{i}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q})\chi_{i}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q}) + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int d\underline{\mathbf{r}} \psi_{i}^{*}(\underline{\mathbf{r}}; \{\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q}\}) \\ \left(\sum_{l=1}^{N_{n}} \frac{\hbar^{2}}{2M_{l}} \nabla_{\mathbf{R}_{l}}^{2} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{M_{p}} -\frac{\hbar^{2}}{2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial q_{\alpha}^{2}}\right) \psi_{j}^{*}(\underline{\mathbf{r}}; \{\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q}\})\chi_{j}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, \underline{q})$$

$$(67)$$

We note that the last term in eq 67 contains all derivatives and thus also all non-adiabatic couplings between the polaritonic nuclear/ionic wave functions χ_i (**<u>R</u>**, q). We note that in the original work of ref 58, the off-diagonal nonadiabatic couplings were discarded. Furthermore, with respect to the usual case without photonic degrees of freedom, also the electronic potential-energy surfaces $E_i(\underline{R}, q)$ are now changed, since they depend explicitly on q. Thus, to distinguish them, we call them cavity (Born-Oppenheimer) potential energy surfaces. The cavity Born-Oppenheimer expansion is specifically efficient if we are interested in ground-state chemical reactions under vibrational strong coupling.⁶⁶ If the ground-state cavity potential energy surface is wellseparated from the first excited cavity potential energy surface (usually if the relevant bare cavity frequencies are much lower than the bare first electronic excitation), we can make the cavity Born–Oppenheimer approximation $\Psi(\underline{r}, \underline{R}, \underline{q}) \approx \chi_0(\underline{R}, \underline{q}) \psi_0(\underline{r}; \{\underline{R}, \underline{q}\})$.¹¹² However, even the resulting simplified equations are far from trivial²¹⁵ and we discuss various firstprinciples approaches to approximately solve them below.

A second important partitioning is to choose the electrons grouped with the photons (see Figure 3), such that the resulting potential energy surfaces $E_i^{\text{pol}}(\underline{R})$ are **polaritonic energy surfaces**.¹¹³ If we partition also the electron-photon conditional wave function, we can solve the photonic part analytically. We therefore still have only two coupled equations, one for nuclei/ions on polaritonic energy surfaces

and one for electrons, yet the analytic solution of the photons leads to novel (analytically known) nonadiabatic coupling elements among electronic states as well as among nuclear/ ionic states. These new analytically known nonadiabatic coupling elements are akin to the couplings in Floquet theory, i.e., they connect states with different number of excited photons.^{113,216} The partitioning chosen here, which leads to the polaritonic potential energy surfaces, is now specifically efficient if one is interested in photochemistry, where the cavity modes are in resonance with electronic excitations and we consider the influence of electronic strong coupling on chemistry. In this case, if we assume that the novel nonadiabatic couplings in the nuclear/ionic sector are negligible and the photons only couple efficiently to the electronic sector, we find the explicit polariton approximation.¹¹³ In this case, the nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom are only indirectly modified by the photon degrees of freedom due to changes in the potential energy surfaces. If we further assume that in the electronic sector the coupling to the cavity modes acts only perturbatively, we recover polaritonic potential energy surfaces as originally introduced in ref 217.

Either way, in order to determine the influence of the cavity modes on the nuclear/ionic subsystem, we, in principle, need to solve high-dimensional coupled ab initio quantum equations. A similar problem appears also for the usual electron-nucleus/ion dynamics, and various approaches have been developed to approximately solve such situations. However, when compared to the traditional electronnucleus/ion-only problem, the inclusion of the photonic modes implies novel nonadiabatic coupling terms which might become important to faithfully describe certain effects.²¹⁸⁻²²¹

If we assume only a very few nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom to be relevant, one can cut back on the dimensionality of the problem and perform numerically exact simula-tions.^{217,218,220-222} We note, however, that a priori it is not clear whether the same nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom are relevant as outside a photonic structure, e.g., that the cavity can correlate nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom that are largely uncorrelated outside the cavity. Hints toward this issue are highlighted in Section 5.3. For this often an adiabatic to quasidiabatic basis transformation is performed,^{223–225} which makes the treatment of nonadiabatic couplings and (potentially cavity-induced^{219,223,226}) conical intersections simpler. Such simulations show that the influence of the cavity also on the electronic (nonadiabatic couplings) degrees and a consistent treatment of the dipole self-energy terms (see Section 3.3.1) can be decisive.^{58,220,221} If a strong a priori reduction to merely a few nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom is not possible then one can, for instance, extend the multiconfigurational Hartree approach to polaritonic problems.^{219,227–230} Alternatively, the use of path-integral methods^{231,232} and ring-polymer quantization^{233,234} of light and the nuclear/ionic degrees of freedom allows to investigate higher-dimensional (in terms of photonic and nuclear-ionic degrees of freedom) cases. Simplifying even further, especially in the case of thermally driven chemical reactions, extensions of a semiclassical methods or surfacehopping approaches to coupled nucleus/ion-photon systems are possible. $^{115,116,235-239}$ Here the use of cavity Born-Oppenheimer potential energy surfaces as introduced in eqs 66 and 67 seems the best choice to formulate a generalization of molecular-dynamics simulations for coupled cavity-nuclei/ions systems.^{240,241} One should, however, be careful regarding the

treatment of the nuclear/ionic and photonic degrees of freedom. The displacement field dynamics in eq 67 can be orders of magnitude faster then the nuclear/ionic dynamics and hence might necessitate the use of adapted Langevin/ open-system approaches.⁶⁶ We will comment in more detail on the physically relevant implications later in Section 5.

Notice that commonly the free-space electronic surfaces or force fields are employed instead of cavity potential energy surfaces. This implies a further approximation since in principle the displacement coordinates also influence the reduced energy eigenvalues. Aside from this, it is important to note that (not only for nuclear/ion-photon dynamics) a basis truncation has to be performed in practice, which can introduce an artificial gauge dependence in such calculations. That is, if we performed a simulation in velocity gauge and one in length gauge (see Section 3.3 for details) then at the same level of truncation we might find different results.^{242,243} Only for converged results we should compare different gauges (see also Appendix A for the importance of basis-set considerations in ab initio quantum physics). While one can mitigate such effects between the two relevant (length and velocity) dipolecoupled gauges,^{244,245} we recall (see Secs. 3.2 and 3.3) that for the original minimal coupling Hamiltonian mainly the Coulomb gauge seems practically relevant for ab initio QED. If we finally make further assumptions, e.g., that only zero- or one-photon states can be occupied and that we are in a perturbative limit such that we can discard the dipole selfenergy terms (see also Section 3.3), then we recover common Dicke-type interaction models.^{246,247}

Overall we can conclude that to accurately describe the influence of a strongly coupled photon mode on the nuclear/ ionic degrees of freedom, we need access to cavity Born-Oppenheimer or polaritonic potential energy surfaces and potentially their nonadiabatic couplings. Which one of those to use is dictated by the details of the cavity and the matter system to which the cavity modes couple to. The usage of potential energy surfaces from a bare matter problem (accessible with standard quantum chemistry software) is a widely applied approximation, which neglects the modifications of the electrons by the photon field entirely, and important effects might be missing. Let us finally note that in quantum chemistry (outside of cavities) the potential energy surfaces are always with respect to a single system undergoing a chemical reaction, and the full ensemble of reacting molecules is treated statistically (as is also assumed in transition-state and Marcus theory). However, this approach is no longer straightforward to apply, considering that many molecules are collectively coupled via cavity modes. In polaritonic chemistry sometimes the concept of a "supermolecule" is invoked, with a potential energy surface that now encompasses the full ensemble. We will comment on this controversial concept that commonly assumes (quantum) coherence among a macroscopic amount of molecules later in Section 5.3.

5. POLARITONIC CHEMISTRY FROM FIRST-PRINCIPLES

"It has been argued that the Rabi splitting experienced by each molecule involved in the collective coupling is not $\hbar\Omega_R$ but $\hbar\Omega_R/\sqrt{N}$. If this were the case, the splitting would be tiny, and it is unlikely that any molecular or material property would be modified as observed experimentally." T.W. Ebbesen in ref 14.

Let us now turn to the main focus of this review: the modification of chemical and material properties by strong light-matter coupling. As already highlighted in the introduction, we will present here a perspective on QED chemistry, which is based on first-principles results. For more traditional perspectives on polaritonic chemistry based on various model considerations or alternative theoretical methods, we refer the reader to the many reviews available, e.g., refs 37, 38, 45 and references therein. In the following, we assume that we can capture the observed effects by employing either the Hamiltonian of eq 37, where we describe also the cavity as part of the system, or we can use the approximate Hamiltonian of eq 39, where the cavity is taken into account by modifying the mode structure of the electromagnetic field. The presented results are then obtained by solving the Schrödingertype equations with one of the above-described first-principles methods (see Section 4 and Appendix A for the mathematical framework of ab initio QED). We want to relate the various results with each other but at the same time also highlight explicitly the underlying assumptions. Such questions of consistent assumptions turn out to be very important for various reasons, as will become clear in the next sections. First of all, QED chemistry is a novel research discipline, and many assumptions are still under debate and not yet generally accepted. Moreover, the strong coupling between light and matter can potentially invalidate accepted assumptions of theoretical chemistry, which have been successfully applied for decades outside of photonic structures. In addition, the increased theoretical complexity of polaritonic chemistry includes many additional ingredients, which makes the choice of reasonable assumptions even more delicate. For example, in most applications we have to account for

- 1. The chemical complexity of the (individual) molecular system under study.
- 2. The effect of nonzero temperature.
- 3. Potential chemical effects from the solvent in which the molecular system under study is contained.
- 4. The self-consistent interaction with the restructured (quantized) electromagnetic field.
- 5. The collective/cooperative effects due to an ensemble/ solvent or by the photonic structure itself.

Already without a photonic structure, when only points 1-3 are relevant, the complexity is staggering. Combining the first three points encompasses most issues describing reactivity in theoretical chemistry.^{59–61} Adding the last two points is the origin of the observed changes in chemical properties, but also the origin of even more theoretical complexity. In more detail, they can potentially change the basic ingredients of chemistry, as has been highlighted already in the introduction, which in turn also affects how points 1-3 combine. Let us try to unravel these aspects and their connections a little more from an ab initio perspective in the following.

5.1. Restructuring the Electromagnetic Field Modes

The first fundamentally new ingredient is that a photonic structure, e.g., an optical cavity or some plasmonic structure, $^{15-17,26}$ will modify locally the modes of the electromagnetic field from simple plane waves (see also Sections 2 and 3.3) to more complex forms. Of course, this restructuring is automatically contained in nonrelativistic QED if we explicitly include the photonic structure as part of the physical system.

A nice demonstration of this fact is found in, e.g., ref 81 where the time-resolved field structure between plasmonic nanospheres is considered (each nanosphere contains 297 sodium atoms and their dynamics self-consistently coupled to the Maxwell field upon irradiation with an external short laser pulse is simulated up to 40 fs). It is also shown how longitudinal and transverse electromagnetic modes are modified at the same time for such very small cavities that are explicitly treated as part of the system (see also Section 2.2 for the usual free-space distinction). It is no surprise that such near-field effects can have a strong influence on the properties and dynamics of molecules. Physically it is quite simple to understand that the (large) charge densities and currents of the nanospheres lead to a modified electromagnetic mode structure and that the fluctuations of these charge densities and currents are connected to the fluctuations of the electromagnetic field inside the cavity. Abstracting further, the photon-field fluctuations can be understood as currentcurrent correlators between the charged particles of the cavity and the molecules inside the cavity, in analogy to the arguments that can be made for the Casimir forces.^{21,248} This idea also underlies the theory of macroscopic QED, where the photon field fluctuations are expressed in terms of currents obtained from linear-response functions of the cavity material.^{21,249} Furthermore, it is nice to observe that the local photon modes lead to strong radiative dissipation, since exciting them transfers energy from the near to the far field and this energy is effectively lost from the localized (cavitymolecule) system.^{81,184} One should, however, be aware that strictly speaking the photonic structure does not really generate new photon modes, but the transient nature of the excitation in the cavity material rather leads to quasi modes.^{21,249–251} So it is a theoretical abstraction/simplification to denote the cavity-induced local changes in the electromagnetic field as new modes.

Keeping this cautionary note in mind, we will still use the (approximate) picture of changed electromagnetic modes due to a photonic structure in the following. This becomes specifically handy when we want to unite various different physical situations where strong light-matter coupling appears. For instance, often strong coupling is not considered in a nanocavity but rather on a surface and the molecules couple to an evanescent wave, a surface plasmon-polariton, which itself is actually a light-matter hybrid state.²⁶ Overall the strong-coupling effects in these different physical situations are quite similar,^{21,81,191} at least in a coarse-grained view (see also Section 3.3.1). Now, putting one or a few molecules in contact with these modified local electromagnetic modes can have strong effects on the molecules. Such situations are commonly called single-molecule or local strong coupling. It is simple to accept that, for instance, plasmonic near-field modes, which (if excited) can generate very strong local fields, can transiently affect molecular properties or change chemical reactions.²⁵²⁻²⁵⁵ An important point is that one does not need to excite these modes externally but also at equilibrium they can have a strong influence. Indeed, the main interest in the following, as already highlighted as one of the main questions in polaritonic chemistry in the introduction, lies in the equilibrium fluctuations of these modes and their impact on the molecular properties. These fluctuations can be either of quantum nature or of thermal nature, as we will discuss in the next section.

5.1.1. Modified Fluctuations and Fields. Assuming that our coupled cavity-molecule system is completely isolated and we consider the coupled ground state (see also Section 3.2 about the existence of ground states in ab initio nonrelativistic QED), the fluctuations of these quasi modes inside the cavity are purely quantum in nature. If we then focus on the equilibrium molecule inside our photonic structure, any changes with respect to free-space equilibrium can then be attributed to the changed mode structure and its changed vacuum fluctuations. Instead, if we start from an excited state, which then can decay due to (radiative and potentially also vibronic/phononic) dissipation, we expect to observe different dynamics due to the changed mode structure. Nevertheless, in this case the main driving force will be the induced nonzero electromagnetic (near) fields and not so much the coupling to the fluctuations.^{146,178,184,195} Certainly, the dominant mechanism will depend on the amount of energy transferred from the molecular system to the cavity modes. If we now bring our cavity-molecule system in contact with a thermal reservoir, the mode fluctuations will additionally get a thermal component. Depending on the temperature and the energy range of the cavity coupling, e.g., ro-vibrational, vibrational, or electronic, the thermal fluctuations can dominate over the vacuum contributions. There is now, however, a simple but important point to be highlighted. While the thermal state of the total system is canonical, this is not necessarily the case anymore for the (nuclear/ionic) dynamics of the strongly coupled molecular system inside the cavity. Similarly, the thermal cavity mode fluctuations can also be very different to the empty-cavity thermal fluctuations. Only in the limit of weak coupling between light and matter can we expect to reach a canonical state for the molecular subsystem. Such effects have been observed for simple molecular systems coupled to a single cavity mode.¹⁹

A different way to quantify cavity induced modifications is to measure the impact on the basic molecular building blocks, i.e., on the electrons or on the nuclei/ions. For example, by measuring the dispersion relation and determining its curvature at zero momentum, one can determine the mass of the free particles.^{22,97,139} If the same measurement is performed inside a cavity, then the photonic environment will alter the dispersion. In addition, the loss of isotropy in the cavity (think about mirrors that restrict the x direction, as displayed in Figure 2) will imply that one has (slightly) different masses in different directions.²² An example of such a mass renormalization can be found, e.g., in ref 139. Notice that the mode restructuring can not only affect particle masses but also imply that the longitudinal (Coulomb) interaction between the charged particles of the molecules gets modified (see also Section 3.3).

5.1.2. Chemical Consequences of Cavity-Restructured Modes. What are the chemical consequences of the restructured photonic modes? Considering the impact on the electronic sector first, where (room) temperature effects are usually assumed negligible, one finds that the electronic ground state can get modified appreciably only for quite strong coupling, i.e., when the relevant modes correspond to large local fields if excited^{58,200,256} (This does, however, not mean that perturbative/few-level calculations are correct within ab initio QED for small changes, since these changes can strongly vary locally^{113,174}). In the common dipole approximation of eq 39 this happens very roughly when for some modes α (or the sum of all the enhanced modes) we

have $g_{\alpha}^{2} \Delta l^{2} |e|^{2}$ comparable to the free-space Coulomb interaction, where Δl is the relevant (microscopic) length scale of the localized quantum system.¹⁰⁸ It has to be highlighted (see also Section 3.3) that for the combined ground state of the cavity-molecule system no real (propagating) fields are generated but the mode occupation is virtual; i.e., it is the vacuum fluctuations of these modes that lead to changes. The hybridized nature of the ground state in a cavity can not only modify the energy or the ionization potential^{204,257} but also the electronic density of the ground state.^{174,176,200,256} For a fixed coupling strength, the magnitude of these effects also depends on the position of the (clamped) nuclei/ions, i.e., since the relevant length scale Δl from above is also modified. For instance, if dissociating molecules are considered, a cavity mode can lead to strong effects due to novel long-range correlations²⁵⁸ and it can modify van der Waals interactions substantially.¹⁴⁸

For time-dependent and excited state properties modifications can be observed already for much smaller couplings compared to ground state effects. Notice that (time-dependent) excitations typically also imply further delocalization with respect to the ground state. For example, electronic (usually vacuum) Rabi splitting, the hallmark of strong coupling (see Figure 4), can usually already be observed for coupling regimes where the electronic ground state still remains unaffected.^{43,58,184} In most cases, the calculated Rabi splitting shows an asymmetric behavior^{184–186} and one also recovers the super/sub-radiant features (radiative lifetime is shorter/ longer than free-space counterpart) of these polaritonic



Figure 4. A free-space molecule (a) has specific electronic transitions of frequency ω from its ground state $|g\rangle$ to some excited state $|e\rangle$. These transitions show up in an absorption (or emission) spectrum where some external probe pulse γ interacts with the free-space molecule. If the molecule is placed inside a Fabry-Pérot cavity (b) with the same resonance frequency ω , one observes that the two degenerate (matter and photon) excitations turn into an avoided crossing. This is due to the coupling between light and matter, and instead of one peak one finds now two peaks, i.e., the upper $|up\rangle$ and lower $|lp\rangle$ polaritons, which are split by the Rabi frequency Ω_{R} . From the simple Jaynes-Cummings (for a single molecule) or the Tavis-Cummings (many identical molecules) model (see the end of Section 3.3) one infers that the vacuum Rabi splitting depends inversely on the volume of the Fabry-Pérot cavity, is proportional to the dipole matrix element of the individual molecules, and scales with the square root of the number of molecules as well as photons. Reproduced with permission from ref 5. Copyright 2018 Springer Nature.

states.^{184,186,187} This is a nice consistency check with respect to experimental evidence. To include the radiative losses these time-dependent simulations either need to take into account the continuum of modes for a specific environment^{184,186,187} (see also Section 3.3), consider time-propagation that are shorter than the dephasing times^{146,258} or explicitly include dissipation phenomenologically.^{188,239,259,260} Specifically interesting for chemistry is the appearance of new nonadiabatic couplings between (excited) electronic surfaces and novel conical intersections^{219,223,226,261} (see also Section 4.4).

For the rotational and vibrational degrees of freedom, the effects of (room) temperature can become decisive to describe chemistry. In this case the (energetically) relevant modes of the photonic structure might have a non-negligible thermal occupation. For photochemical reactions these modified thermal fluctuations might typically be less important then the new cavity-induced nonadiabatic couplings and conical intersections, but in general the interplay of these cavityinduced effects will alter chemical proper-ties.^{197,198,240,241,262–264} Notice, however, that one can observe already very interesting changes in simple photochemical reactions, even when disregarding these thermal contribu-tions.^{190,203,218,220,228,239,265,266} On the other hand, the modification of the thermal fluctuations are expected to be specifically important for ground-state chemical reactions^{14,66} and many other phenomena of materials in cavities (e.g., quantum phase transitions^{267,268}). We will discuss this issue in Section 5.3 in more detail for a specific case. For the generic situation, we want to highlight that the common simplification to describe classically the thermal fluctuations of the (relatively heavy) nuclei/ions is not necessarily appropriate for the fluctuations of the modes even at ambient conditions (depending on the chosen cavity frequency). The mode fluctuations can still have strong nonclassical contributions of vacuum and quantum thermal nature¹⁹⁸ (see also Figure 5).

5.2. Collectivity and Cooperativity

The second fundamentally novel aspect (as also highlighted in the introduction) that becomes decisive inside a photonic structure is that the cavity can facilitate strong **collective** or **cooperative** effects. "Collective" here means that similar physical entities, e.g., the same type of molecules, start to interact with each other via the cavity and potentially synchronize, while "cooperative" means that such cross talking happens between different physical entities, e.g., solute and solvent. Strictly speaking, any effect that we observe is cooperative, due to the cavity being a different physical entity than the material inside, but this distinction inside the photonic structure is common.^{44,47}

In order to construct cavities that have a particular strong coupling to molecules, it is often helpful to further fill the cavity with a highly polarizable medium.^{14,36,41,45,48} Indeed, in many cases of QED chemistry one simply employs the molecules of interest themselves to increase the coupling effect.^{14,36,45,48} Clearly this cannot be done ad infinitum, since even in the gas phase the molecules get densely packed at one point and lose their individual character and hence will respond very differently. Ab initio QED simulations can nicely reproduce this behavior and recover the well-known $\sqrt{N_{mol}}$ increase of the vacuum Rabi-splitting by the number of coupled molecules N_{mol} (see also Figure 4). As we will also highlight later, this does not necessitate quantum coherence between the different molecules though. Such



Figure 5. Pictorial sketch of distinguishable thermal (non)equilibrium regimes emergent under different molecular strong coupling conditions in a cavity. They are inferred from exact quantum thermal equilibrium simulations for one HD⁺ molecule coupled to a single cavity mode.¹⁹⁸ In more detail, the exact results suggest three different regimes for the dynamics of the nuclei: First, light and matter remain quantum entangled at low cryogenic temperatures (red). Second, the light–matter entanglement is quickly lost with increasing temperature; however, the field fluctuations remain governed by quantum laws (vacuum and thermal fluctuations), which can drive the nuclei out of classical canonical equilibrium. Third, either at very high temperatures or for electronic strong coupling, no direct impact on the nuclear dynamics is expected, which implies that standard canonical equilibrium conditions are preserved (blue). Reproduced with permission from ref 198.

collective effects are not only observed for the excited states but also for the collective ground state of molecules.¹⁴⁸ One of the interesting aspect of the collective coupling situation is the appearance of dark states. That is, the ensemble of molecules can attain a collective state which does not couple to external (dipole) radiation and hence is "dark" for absorption spectra.^{37,269,270} These states will only be thermally populated and can modify the relaxation dynamics or they can also act as a thermal reservoir for the coupled "bright" collective states.^{229,230,270,271} An alternative approach to modify chemistry collectively is by resonantly tuning on the solvent (or highly polarizable plasmonic structures) which yields a densitydependent Rabi splitting with respect to the solvent concentration.^{47,262,272} The difference is that one hopes that the strongly coupled solvent either induces strong singlemolecule coupling to the solute^{269,272,273} or that the cooperative behavior of the solvent leads in some other way to observable changes in the solute. To describe theoretically the mesoscopic amount of molecules that is present in experimental ensembles, one usually needs to make some further approximations, e.g., that the molecules (assumed in gas phase) only couple with each other via the cavity in a semiclassical way.^{184,269} In this way, first-principle simulations are able to also consider the macroscopic limit.¹

There are now two important observations to be made regarding collective and cooperative effects. First, once a molecule out of the ensemble is slightly modified, e.g., due to the onset of a chemical reaction, the distinction between collectivity and cooperativity even inside the cavity becomes fuzzy again. Indeed, ab initio simulations have shown that a collectively coupled ensemble induces strong single-molecule effects on a modified molecule similar to cooperative strong coupling.²⁶⁹ Second, for phenomenological models it is often argued that the collective effects are quantum in nature and that a robust and collectively delocalized (over a mesoscopic amount of molecules) polaritonic quantum state is generated^{37,38} (see Section 5.3 for more details). From an ab initio perspective, a mesoscopic quantum collective mechanism does not seem to be necessary, and in certain cases it even becomes problematic. For instance, the response of the collective system, together with the dark state configurations, can be captured purely semiclassically.^{45,184,269} Therefore, the term

"state of the ensemble" does not need to imply a quantum state, since also the response of classical dipoles will show such configurations. Furthermore, it has been shown that the quantum entanglement between light and matter vanishes rapidly above zero degrees Kelvin even for simple molecular systems.¹⁹⁸ On the other hand, at least for the common long wavelength approximations, the light-matter Hamiltonian is not size-extensive (where in the length gauge the main contribution comes from the dipole self-energy term).^{148,258} That is, the more molecules are fully quantum coherently coupled, the stronger the effect of the modes becomes (even if these molecules are arbitrarily far apart). As a simple consequence of this, the cavity modes would be strongly blue-shifted from the alleged mesoscopic amount of quantumcoherently coupled molecules, which is, however, not observed in experiment⁶⁶ (see also Section 5.3 for an example).

To conclude, ab initio approaches provide access to collective and cooperative coupling regimes, and they reproduce the well-known effects from commonly applied models and alternative theoretical methods. However, at the same time, ab initio results suggest rather a semiclassical mechanism than a fully quantum collective/cooperative origin of the experimentally observed effects at ambient conditions.

5.2.1. Chemical Consequences of Collective Coupling. With these caveats in mind, we can ask what chemical consequences can be expected that originate from collectivity or cooperativity? First of all, essentially all previously mentioned effects in Section 5.1 can in principle arise (and even be collectively enhanced), since the coupled ensembles can mediate single-molecule strong coupling. However, we can now find additional, nontrivial modifications that emerge specifically due to having ensembles with a large number of molecules. Such effects include, for instance, ensemble-induced changes in lifetimes, 247, 271, 274 dark-state-influenced relaxation dynamics,^{262,270} modified intermolecular interactions^{148,275} and enhanced transport properties.²⁷⁶⁻²⁷⁸ In addition, how an ensemble changes local molecular properties can have a nontrivial dependence on the number of molecules in the ensemble.¹⁸⁸ Of course, the probably most relevant effect for chemical applications will be the site/bond selective modifications and control of chemical reactions in an ensemble of molecules without external driving, i.e. in thermal equili-



Figure 6. (a) Resonant vibrational strong-coupling can inhibit chemical reactions. (b) Illustration of the reaction mechanism for the deprotection of 1-phenyl-2-trimethylsilylacetylene (PTA), with tetra-*n*-butylammonium fluoride (TBAF) and (c) energetic of the reaction in (b) in free-space. The successful reaction involves breaking the Si–C bond and thus overcoming a transition-state barrier of 0.35 eV. (d) Vibrational absorption spectrum along the cavity polarization direction illustrating the strong-coupling of the vibrational eigenmode at 856 cm⁻¹ with the cavity polarized along for PTAF- (magenta) and the isolated PTA complex (black). The insets show the coupled vibrational mode of PTA and the light–matter hybridization under vibrational strong-coupling. Reproduced with permission from ref 280.

brium.^{14,66} We note that chemistry is local, i.e. the electronic and nuclear structure is modified on a single-molecule or nearest-neighbor level. However, in the case of collective/ cooperative strong coupling, this prevalent paradigm is challenged, since chemical reactions seemingly become dependent on the total ensemble. For example, a priori it is unclear if the reaction mechanism in a cavity is altered due to a quantum-collective state, cavity-mediated intermolecular interactions, cavity-modified thermal fluctuations or single-molecule strong-coupling effects. To quantify the extent and origin of these modifications is currently one of the main goals of QED chemistry. This understanding will allow reaching a qualitative and quantitative theoretical understanding, and accurate predictions become feasible that can significantly advance experiments and applications of polaritonic chemistry.

5.3. Cavity-Modified Chemical Reactions

As pointed out before, the cavity induced contributions to the chemical complexity offer many tantalizing opportunities yet make a detailed understanding even more challenging. Their additional interplay with (single-molecule) symmetries^{47,279} and external probes²⁶² is just getting explored and might lead to further very interesting effects. Let us next focus on a specific experiment to reduce the immense amount of possibilities and thus complexity. This paradigmatic example highlights how ab initio theory can help to unravel the main mechanisms of cavity-modified chemistry.

The seminal experiment that we consider in the following is the ground-state deprotection reaction of 1-phenyl-2trimethylsilylacetylene (PTA) under vibrational strong coupling.²⁸¹ The PTA molecules are mixed with tetra-*n*butylammonium fluoride (TBAF) in methanol. In the ensuing deprotection reaction, fluoride ions released from TBAF

interact with PTA, forming an intermediate complex, which makes the breaking of the Si-C bond in the PTA molecule more likely (see Figure 6). The Fabry-Pérot cavity is then set on resonance with Si-C stretching modes at roughly 856 cm⁻¹. It is important to note that the cavity is not pumped except of the thermal effects due to ambient conditions. To verify the vibrational strong coupling condition, the transmission spectrum is observed and shows a large Rabi splitting. Eventually, one finds that the deprotection reaction rate is strongly suppressed for the nonpumped resonantly coupled system, when compared to free-space or off-resonant coupling. The measured suppression is also strongly dependent on the temperature of the total system, such that from fitting simple equilibrium rate models even a qualitative change in the transitions state would be predicted. This observation was interpreted as potential evidence for cavity-induced nonequilibrium effects. For the further interpretation of this experiment one important remark has to be made: The vacuum Rabi splitting of the mixture of molecules, which is the usual way to identify strong coupling situations, depends on the density of PTA molecules and their products alike, since both contain the same Si-C stretching modes. Therefore, the Rabi splitting stays constant throughout the minutes-long reaction and is a self-adapting mixture of collectivity and cooperativity.

Most of the interpretations of this experimental result follow a two-step procedure. First, a perfect ensemble of aligned PTA molecules in the gas phase with a small single-molecule coupling constant (obtained from the coupling constant of the empty Fabry–Perot cavity) is assumed. Then, by assuming zero temperature, the Dicke or Tavis-Cummings model (see Section 3.3 for all the other assumptions that go into this model) is used to determine the number of (two-level) molecules that are quantum-collectively coupled to the vacuum of the cavity mode. Based on these assumptions, a fit suggests a mesoscopic number of quantum-collectively coupled two-level molecules on the order of 10⁹ molecules.^{64,217} In a second step, concepts of quantum chemistry are applied on this quantum collective state, i.e., assuming that a single collective "supermolecule" is formed with many dark states.^{37,38} In contrast to usual quantum chemistry, where only a single molecule and its potential energy surface is considered, the "supermolecule" has now a potential energy surface that is formed by the 10⁹ molecules (for each molecule reduced to the main free-space reaction-coordinate) plus the single-excitation subspace of the cavity mode.^{38,217} This new humongous potential energy surface is then assumed to change the chemistry, since now all molecules move in a concerted motion and no longer statistically independently.²⁸² However, this common combination of quantum optics and quantum chemistry concepts cannot explain (even qualitatively) the experimentally observed findings.⁶²⁻⁶⁴ Moreover, from a rigorous theoretical perspective even a single quantum-mechanical molecule would never attain, e.g., a permanent dipole moment or specific internal structures without coupling to the environment.²⁸³ It is the interaction with the environment that leads to a specific realization of the molecular structure, e.g., a certain orientation of the pyramid of the NH₃ molecule. In a "supermolecule", all these (exactly similar) realization of the individual molecular structures are assumed to happen simultaneously and fully quantum-coherently due to coupling to the cavity even at ambient conditions.

Can ab initio polaritonic chemistry now help to understand this stark discrepancy between theory (based on a simplified model calculation) and experiment and maybe hint at a potential mechanism? Let us first fix the basic level of theory that we deem sufficient and computationally feasible to investigate the PTA experiment theoretically. We assume that the dipole-coupled Hamiltonian of eq 39 with one effective mode and the physical masses of the particles (see Section 3.3 for more details) is a sufficient framework for describing polaritonic chemistry in a Fabry-Pérot cavity. From the chosen Hamiltonian, the standard Hamiltonian of quantum chemistry can be directly recovered for zero coupling strength. In addition, the quantum-optical Dicke and Tavis-Cummings model can also be deduced from it. After having made this theory choice, we immediately realize that a fundamental inconsistency arises with the alleged number of quantumcollectively coupled molecules, which are suggested by the Dicke or Tavis-Cummings model (see also ref 192 for related problems with phenomenological models in plasmonic cavities). Not surprisingly, the matter inside the cavity modifies the frequency of the cavity mode, which will be accounted for in Pauli-Fierz theory. This means the enhanced refractive index of the filled cavity will shift the bare (empty cavity) frequency toward smaller wave numbers.^{66,280,281} However, the assumption of 109 quantum-collectively coupled molecules would lead to a diamagnetic shift of the cavity frequencies, which is an order of magnitude larger than the experimentally observed frequency of 856 cm^{-1} . This discrepancy suggests that at the Pauli-Fierz level of theory, we need to restrict quantum coherence to a much smaller length scale (closer to the common understanding of chemistry as being local) and potential collectivity/cooperativity effects on a macroscopic scale will rather be semiclassical in nature. This seems reasonable since the amount of degrees of freedom (translational, rotational, vibrational, and electronic) which can lead to decoherence in a real chemical system in solvation is so breathtaking that a quantum coherence at ambient conditions over large distances seems implausible in practice.

An alternative interpretation arises if one keeps in mind that the observed Rabi splitting is not an absolute, but rather a statistical quantity, i.e., not all molecules contribute with the same amount.¹⁴ Therefore, there is no reason to assume that all molecules experience coupling to the cavity mode in the same way. Indeed, as discussed above, single molecules can experience strong local coupling effects in a collectively/ cooperatively coupled environment.^{269,272} Note again that in the experiment, the (constant) Rabi splitting is by construction a mixture of collectivity and cooperativity. Consequently, it seems plausible that a fraction of the PTA molecules in the cavity could feel strong single-molecule effects, specifically in the case that they undergo a chemical reaction. Taking into account that chemical reactions are rare events and that the likelihood of these events is determined by the temperature, this fraction can become decisive for the observed rate change. This setting suggests that the cooperative/collective coupling can effectively be interpreted in terms of a highly polarizable and strongly frequency-dependent medium in the vicinity of a reacting PTA molecule. Based on this (simplified) ab initio picture, recent QEDFT simulations were able to reproduce the experimental PTA results qualitatively²⁸⁰ and they could also reproduce other predictions in connection to solvent effects.²⁸⁴ Overall, these simulations suggest that the cavity can correlate various intramolecular vibrational modes and hence can transfer energy from the bond-breaking stretching modes to other internal motions, thus effectively strengthening the Si-C bond in the PTA experiment. This indicates that restricting to the main cavity-free degree of freedom of a potential energy surface in vibrational strong coupling simulations could miss important contributions (see the discussion in Section 4.4).

Of course, this simple local model, which infers a frequencydependent polarizable environment from the collective/ cooperative ensemble, is not the end of the story. The ab initio simulations also suggest-again in agreement with the original interpretation of the experiment-that the cavity might induce nonequilibrium effects. In the context of chemical reactions, this means that the nuclear/ionic system might follow a noncanonical (classical) thermal distribution. In contrast, for the uncoupled, bare matter system, the thermal state is usually well-described by a classical canonical distribution. Nonequilibrium dynamics for the coupled matter system is not surprising, since it is a strongly coupled subsystem; i.e., tracing out the cavity degrees of freedom will usually induce a noncanonical/nonstationary distribution for the subsystem. However, what might be more exceptional is that even for ambient conditions it is not correct to treat the cavity degrees of freedom (particularly the fluctuations) purely classically and assume that the thermal fluctuations are uncorrelated^{66,198} (see also Figure 5). Furthermore, it has been argued that such noncanonical dynamics of classical particles (nuclei/ions) can lead to stochastic resonances,⁶⁶ which could explain on the ensemble level, why the experiment sees a strong frequency dependence (resonance effect) in the polaritonic reaction rates, without any external periodic driving. At the same time, stochastic resonances are quite delicate and they seem to arise only under very special conditions.^{285,286} This could also rationalize why in many experimental situations of strong coupling no changes in

chemical properties could be observed.^{287,288} Therefore, it might not only be intramolecular redistribution of vibrational energy that stiffens the Si–C bond, but on resonance one might also find effective intermolecular energy redistribution. Indeed, recent ab initio results suggest that intermolecular forces could be efficiently altered by a cavity.^{148,258}

All in all, ab initio QED suggests a more nuanced interpretation of the seminal PTA experiment under vibrational strong coupling, i.e., a delicate interplay of local (potentially quantum) effects with collective/cooperative semiclassical effects, which lead to noncanonical thermal distributions. The advantage of this perspective is that it naturally connects to the usual understanding of chemical reactions as a macroscopically statistical process whose parameters are determined by the microscopic quantum description on the single-molecule level. We note that a similar perspective as originally proposed based on ab initio results (effective local theory, noncanonical equilibrium and intra/intermolecular energy redsitribution)⁶⁶ has recently also been promoted based on experimental^{289,290} and quantum-optical results.²⁹¹ At the same time, ab initio QED also connects directly to the quantum-optical perspective for photonic quantities. Therefore, if indeed subtle details of the light field, such as the exact spatial form of the cavity modes and their intrinsic lifetimes, are important, these details can be reintroduced in a straightforward way.

6. CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

"As more researchers enter the field, influx of new viewpoints will ensure rapid development of polaritonic chemistry concepts and further pioneering cross-disciplinary breakthroughs."

K. Hirai in ref 44.

If you followed this review chronologically, then it has been a real tour-deforce. It encompasses very basic considerations of relativistic quantum physics (how relativity, symmetries and spin lead to the Maxwell equations and their coupling to matter) in Section 2, the basic Hamiltonian of nonrelativistic QED (properties and potential approximations) in Section 3, ab initio QED methods in Section 4, and their applications on relevant research questions of polaritonic chemistry in Section 5. Clearly, many of the details that were highlighted might not be relevant for a specific experiment in QED chemistry, where the restructuring of the local electromagnetic modes can modify chemical properties. However, as highlighted in the introduction, in the absence of established simple mechanistic rules for polaritonic chemistry, which challenges the locality assumption prevalent in common chemistry, a re-evaluation of all the intrinsic assumptions in our theoretical modeling is needed. This hopefully helps to select among the existing models and combinations of (quantum) optics and (quantum) chemistry approaches the most reliable ones and allows the development of more accurate models in the future, in order to get an intuitive understanding of the relevant mechanisms in polaritonic chemistry.

Let us repeat in this context the main aspects of the different sections and their answers to the main questions raised in the introduction, i.e., the basic Hamiltonian, the choice of gauge, the implications of the dipole approximation, cavity-induced changes in vacuum and thermal fluctuations, and the interplay of local and collective strong coupling. In Section 2 we have shown how the light and matter sectors follow from the same when they interact. On the most basic level, one cannot even distinguish between light and matter degrees. Changing one sector can have a strong influence on the other and might even break basic physical principles. This should serve as a guidance on how to carefully recombing theoretical methods describing matter, e.g., quantum chemistry methods, and theoretical tools for photons, e.g., quantum optics methods. In Section 3 we have presented the basic Hamiltonians of nonrelativistic QED, which form the basis of a consistent and nonperturbative ab initio theory of light and matter. We highlighted that the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian guarantees the stability of matter, that excited states turn into resonances with finite lifetimes, and that we have to work with the bare masses of the charged particles. Furthermore, we have discussed that the Coulomb gauge is the natural gauge to work in (at least on the wave function level), because it guarantees internal consistency between quantum mechanics and quantum optics and that only in the dipole-coupling limit can we easily replace a photonic structure by a local modification of modes. We have also spelled out the various assumptions (extension of localized matter small when compared to the cavity wavelengths, single charge center to have indistinguishability, small enough frequency cutoff to avoid nonrenormalizability, linear and quadratic coupling terms to have stable theory) that go into the dipole approximation. In Section 4 we have highlighted the necessity of first principle methods to be able to cope in an unambiguous way with the humongous amount of degrees of freedom (photonic, electronic and nuclear/ionic) of a realistic coupled light-matter system. Depending on the specific question and/or coupled systems, different theoretical methods become more appropriate than others (e.g., QEDFT as a general-purpose approach, QED-CC methods for electronic strong coupling, or the cavity Born-Oppenheimer partitioning for cavity-modified ground state chemical reactions). In Section 5 we have discussed polaritonic chemistry from an ab initio QED perspective. We have highlighted the two main differences to chemistry outside of cavities, i.e., the self-consistent interaction with the restructured (quantized) electromagnetic field and collective/ cooperative effects due to an ensemble/solvent, and presented several results obtained with various ab initio QED methods. Based on these results, we have argued for the importance of modified quantum/thermal fluctuations that can induce noncanonical equilibrium conditions for the matter subsystem.

basic principles and need to be treated consistently, especially

Furthermore, simulations suggest that collective ensemble/ solvent effects are mainly semiclassical and can be approximated as a frequency-dependent modification of the local polarizable medium. We have then scrutinized a paradigmatic experiment in polaritonic chemistry and found that an interplay of single-molecule coupling with semiclassical nonequilibrium effects is indeed a natural explanation for the observed changes in chemical reactions.

Clearly, we cannot yet provide a general and universally accepted answer for all of the microscopic mechanisms at work when chemical properties are changed by a photonic structure. Many other possible effects, which have not been taken into account in the different ab initio simulations, might be important as well. The most obvious shortcoming is that a macroscopic ensemble of molecules inside a cavity cannot be simulated at a full ab initio level. However, several recent developments¹⁸⁸ make it possible to also get approximate results for the macroscopic case. Yet we believe that statistical

and thermal effects dominate on a macroscopic scale at ambient conditions, in analogy to chemistry outside of cavities. Therefore, a semiclassical description should be appropriate to recover the observed effects. This suggests that it will be paramount to develop adapted statistical methods in the future that can faithfully include the contributions of the (quantized) cavity mode. A further issue that is often disregarded for simplicity is the effect of the solvent on chemical properties.

cavity mode. A further issue that is often disregarded for simplicity is the effect of the solvent on chemical properties. Indeed, there are recent experiments^{44,47} which show that strongly coupled solvents can have different effects on chemical processes than their uncoupled counterparts. Although this fits into the simplified picture of collective/cooperative coupling as a frequency dependent polarizable surrounding for molecules, actual solvent effects can be much more intricate. Another obvious shortcoming of most considerations so far is the simplified treatment of the cavity as an effective single- or fewmode structure. Specifically for nanocavities, where a few molecules couple to plasmonic excitations, a detailed treatment of the cavity as an active physical entity, which can efficiently dissipate energy, might become crucial. A further aspect that might become important for the specific design of chemical properties is to go beyond the dipole-coupling approximation in our theoretical description. Dipole coupling implies that no momentum is transferred between light and matter and also that we lose locality (at least approximate for nonrelativistic particles) and no retardation effects are included. Beyonddipole contributions can become specifically important once we take into account the exact structure of the modes of a cavity, e.g., when we couple strongly to chiral (circularly polarized) light modes. To disentangle which details are important, we call for a combined theoretical and experimental effort. Besides theoretical developments on the ab initio and model side, new experimental setups and observables need to be identified to unravel the influence of the above highlighted issues. It is clear that merely considering the Rabi splitting is not enough to understand the mechanisms at work, and spatially as well as temporally resolved experimental investigations are key for the future development of QED chemistry.

While this list of extra complications might seem like spelling doom for a comprehensive understanding of strongly coupled light-matter systems, it at the same time opens the door for many still to be discovered chemical effects. We hope that this review does highlight where seemingly small changes in the photonic environment might lead to novel effects. Take, for example, the quantization of the electromagnetic degrees of freedom in Section 2. By following the Riemann-Silberstein approach, we saw that it is quite natural to quantize the free vacuum in terms of chiral modes. Based on this perspective it seems possible to use photonic structures to suppress one of the two naturally occurring chiralities such that one can manufacture chiral optical cavities.^{216,292,293} Indeed, recent experimental efforts have demonstrated that the engineering of chiral photonic structures is possible, which brings enantiomeric polaritonic chemistry within reach. Hence, one can hope for enantiomer-selective catalysis controlled by optical cavities. Such enantiomeric reactors would, for example, be great assets for the efficient synthesis of drug molecules. Thinking one step further: Being able to engineer symmetries of the electromagnetic modes inside a cavity might allow one to circumvent common excitation selection rules and steer chemical reactions into completely new directions based on breaking or enhancing intrinsic molecular symmetries. Even more fundamentally, we might be able to engineer the properties of basic molecular

building blocks directly. As we have seen, the vacuum determines the physical masses of electrons and ions (and if we consider full QED also other basic properties¹¹⁻¹ 3) and thus how atoms and molecules form and combine. Until now, the influence of the resulting (not necessarily scalar²²) photonic mass on chemical properties and the potential of inducing relativistic effects remains largely unexplored for molecules. In contrast, such engineering of the photon vacuum is actively being explored in solid-state physics, as a way to influence fundamental properties of matter, e.g., the quantization rule of the quantum Hall effect.^{123,294} Eventually, we note that what we call atoms and molecules and their interactions is always defined with respect to a given photonic environment, and this is exactly what we want to engineer in order to understand, control, and develop polaritonic chemistry.

APPENDIX A: AB INITIO QUANTUM PHYSICS

In this appendix, we want to define the notion of *ab initio quantum physics* as we employ it throughout this review. We will highlight important mathematical subtleties that arise in ab initio quantum theories involving light and matter, which are often absent in models and alternative theoretical methods. However, those subtleties become important for the formulation of computationally efficient, nonperturbative first-principles theories such as quantum-electrodynamical density functional theory (QEDFT).

Nevertheless, we will also clarify that neither ab initio nor alternative approaches are scientifically superior, instead they serve complementary purposes and hence necessarily rely on each other.

A.1. Mathematical Setting

Let us start by setting the mathematical stage of ab initio quantum physics. Quantum theories are commonly formulated on **infinite-dimensional complex Hilbert spaces**.^{72,73} The necessity for infinite dimensions in quantum physics is relatively easy to understand. If we assumed that the Heisenberg uncertainty principle (up to \hbar),

$$\hat{x}\hat{p} - \hat{p}\hat{x} = i\hat{I} \tag{68}$$

should hold on a finite dimensional complex Hilbert space, which is equivalent to \mathbb{C}^N , then we would find by the cyclic property of the trace the contradiction

$$0 = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{x}\hat{p}) - \operatorname{tr}(\hat{p}\hat{x}) = \operatorname{itr}(\hat{\mathbb{I}}) = \operatorname{iN}$$
(69)

This contradiction leads to the conclusion that we cannot represent the basic commutation relations in finite dimensions.⁷³ Commonly one further assumes in ab initio quantum physics and constructive quantum field theory separable infinite-dimensional Hilbert spaces,^{69,72} i.e., they allow for a countably infinite basis, such that all of these Hilbert spaces are isometrically isomorphic to the fundamental sequence space $l^{2}(\mathbb{N})$,⁷³ which contains all infinite sequences { $\psi_{1}, \psi_{2}, ...$ } with $\psi_n \in \mathbb{C}$ that have finite square norm, i.e., $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\psi_n|^2 < \infty$. We can thus consider this relatively simple space as a universal representative of the infinite-dimensional case of quantum physics. An element/state in that vector space is denoted by $|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi_n |n\rangle$. We next note that the above argument of the commutation relations is part of the Lemma of Wielandt, which states that the commutation relation can only be fulfilled if at least one of the linear operators is unbounded." Unbounded operator means that we can always find a

normalized state in the Hilbert space which will attain an arbitrarily large norm after applying the operator on it. Take, as an example, the unbounded linear operator

$$\hat{N} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n |n\rangle \langle n| \tag{70}$$

If we consider the normalized state $|\Phi\rangle = \frac{6}{\pi^2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} |n\rangle$ then

we find $\langle \hat{N}\Phi | \hat{N}\Phi \rangle \rightarrow \infty$. Thus, the action of the operator \hat{N} on $|\Phi\rangle$ is ill-defined and we need to exclude such elements when we work with \hat{N} . The set of states for which the operator is defined is called its domain, and the domain is decisive for the properties of the operator.^{72,73,87} Thus, an operator is actually not just the rule, i.e., how it maps states to other states, such as in eq 70, but it also contains its domain in its definition.^{72,73⁻} For certain operators we can instead, of explicitly stating the domain, encode the domain in an alternative representation: its diagonal representation. Indeed, eq 70 is the diagonal representation of the number operator and hence it implicitly defines its unique maximal domain. The most important of such operators in quantum physics, which allow a diagonal representation, are self-adjoint operators. In contrast to finite-dimensional problems, self-adjointness is not the same as symmetric (we will give some relevant examples later), but it also is a statement about the properties of its domain.^{72,73} Yet in the diagonal representation, self-adjointness becomes conveniently equivalent to the fact that the (generalized) eigenvalues of an operator are real.^{72,}

A.2. Mathematical Realization

After the general mathematical setting, we next need to find an explicit realization of an ab initio quantum theory. This is done by first **choosing the physical space** Ω in which the basic entities, i.e., particles or fields, should be described. The physical space should be compatible with the basic symmetries of the theory that we want to turn into a quantum theory (compare with Section 2.1). The basic symmetries of the physical space can then be turned with the help of the Stone-Von Neumann theorem⁷³ into uniquely defined self-adjoint operators (generators of these symmetries). For instance, in the case of the physical space Ω being a flat torus, i.e., a finite volume $L^3 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ with **periodic boundary conditions**, translations are a basic symmetry and the (componentwise) self-adjoint operator is then (up to \hbar) the momentum operator

$$-i\nabla_{per} := \sum_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{Z}_0^3} \frac{2\pi}{L} \mathbf{n} |\mathbf{n}, \text{ per}\rangle \langle \mathbf{n}, \text{ per}|$$
(71)

with $\langle \boldsymbol{r} | \boldsymbol{n}, \text{ per} \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L^3}} \exp\left(i\frac{2\pi}{L}\boldsymbol{n}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}\right)$. It is important to note here that while in quantum physics we commonly just write " $-i\nabla$ ", when we consider this derivative as a self-adjoint operator, we implicitly mean its diagonal representation. Hence without stating either domain or the diagonal representation, the symbol " $-i\nabla$ " remains ambiguous. This can have severe consequences. As an example we change our physical space and assume $L^3 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ but use **zero boundary conditions**, i.e., we consider a hard-wall box. While a derivative " $-i\nabla$ " is of course defined on that space, there exists no self-adjoint realization of the momentum operator, and thus the concept of momentum is ill-defined with zero boundary conditions.

This is quite easy to understand since a box with hard walls does not have translations as a basic symmetry operation. A further problem appears once we choose a physical space that itself does not have a positive definite metric, i.e., that the only vector of length zero is the zero vector. This is, for instance, the case for the Minkowski space. Indeed, the space of squareintegrable functions on the Minkowski space is only a pre-Hilbert space and hence concepts like self-adjointness are no longer easy to define. The standard way to avoid these mathematical issues is to restrict to appropriate subspaces. Hence in Section 2.1 the choice of subspace restriction dictates which quantities can be chosen as self-adjoint operators. While different choices are possible, e.g., the light-cone,^{12,71} in this work we single out a unique time frame and restrict the quantization to the spacial subspace, which has a positive definite metric. This choice goes hand in hand with a Hamiltonian description (energy and time are physically conjugate objects), the Coulomb gauge (since it relies also on a global time) and hence time emerges as a parameter, similar to non-relativistic quantum mechanics. From the perspective of ab initio QED this is the most convenient choice, since we want to have compatibility with ab initio nonrelativistic quantum mechanics. We further note that commonly, as also followed in this review, one considers $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3$. The reason is that for this case the basic symmetry operators have one and only one self-adjoint realization (which also makes the representation of the commutation relations unique) and there are no mathematical ambiguities that can arise by not stating domains.^{72,73}

A.3. Mathematical Subtleties

Self-adjoint operators, which correspond to basic symmetries, are then the building blocks of a specific realization of a quantum theory. As is easy to see from the diagonal representation, the momentum operator of eq 71 is unbounded from above and below, i.e., it does not have a smallest or highest eigenvalue. This complicates things, since for unbounded operators addition and multiplication are not universally defined, i.e., there is no algebra for unbounded operators. A simple example, which becomes relevant for consistency conditions between light and matter, is the case of a box with hard-wall boundary conditions. In contrast to the momentum operator, the Laplacian has a self-adjoint realization of the form

$$-\nabla_{\text{zero}}^2 := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0^3} \left(\frac{\pi}{L}\right)^2 n^2 |n, \text{ zero}\rangle \langle n, \text{ zero}|$$
(72)

where $\langle \boldsymbol{r} | \boldsymbol{n}, \text{ zero} \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{2^3}{L^3}} \prod_{k=1}^3 \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{L} n_k r_k\right)$. For periodic boundary conditions we find, however, the consistency that " $-\nabla^2$ " is just applying eq 71 twice in diagonal representation and thus we have

$$-\nabla_{\text{per}}^2 := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_0^3} \left(\frac{2\pi}{L}\right)^2 n^2 |n, \text{ per}\rangle \langle n, \text{ per}|$$
(73)

The issue of a missing algebra is also the reason why no Taylor-expansion exists for unbounded operators. That is, if we consider a multiplications operator on \mathbb{R}^3 of the form v(r), even if the *function* v(r) might be well approximated by a Taylor expansion, for the *operator* this is wrong. Implications of this fact for ab initio QED are discussed towards the end of Section 3.3.1 and in Appendix B. Note further, that the self-adjointness of a specific Hamiltonian is important to have

unique solvability of the corresponding time-dependent Schrödinger equation. Using the Stone-Von Neumann theorem, the Hamiltonian then becomes the generator of an evolution (semi-) group^{73,118,295–297} and hence we have a unique solution for any initial state (where the type of solution, however, depends on the properties of the initial state^{118,295–297}). For explicitly time-dependent Hamiltonians the more general concept of evolution systems is employed.^{118,295–297}

Let us also highlight that the mathematical subtleties become even more once we employ field operators to setup a quantum theory. Field operators, despite their name, are not operators in the sense discussed above. Indeed, $\hat{a}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$ and $\hat{a}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$ are not each others adjoint, and $\hat{a}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\lambda)$ is rather an operator-valued distribution.⁸⁷ As the name suggests, one can turn the operator-valued distributions into unbounded operators in the above sense, by integrating over a squareintegrable form function $\varphi(|\mathbf{k}|)$. The simplest version is a step function that becomes zero after a certain wave number cutoff. This is also discussed in Section 3.2. This mathematical necessity for any well-defined ab initio quantum field theory is the origin of regularization and renormalization procedures. And also for field operators, or their regularized unbounded operator versions, addition and multiplication is not universally defined.

A.4. Operator and Boundary-Value Consistency

As we have seen, the operators " $-i\nabla$ " and " $-\nabla^{2}$ " depend on the chosen boundary conditions, which are encoded in the diagonal representation by the behaviour of the corresponding eigenstates at the boundaries. It is important to note that quantum physics is mathematically designed in such a way that this behaviour, i.e., the domain of momentum or kinetic-energy operators, are kept when we add external fields and interactions.^{72,73} Indeed, it can be shown that any eigenstate in quantum mechanics is non-zero almost everywhere on the physical space Ω ,^{297,298} which also explains that disregarding the dipole self-energy operator is equivalent to assuming classical, perfectly localized distributional eigenstates of this unbounded operator. That is, any eigenstate knows about its boundary conditions, which is consistent with the fact that **ab initio quantum physics is equivalent to solving highdimensional linear partial-differential equations with chosen**

boundary conditions.²⁹⁹ This is, of course, also true for the Maxwell equation and its subsequent quantization. As is often done in practice, one can quantize the light field and the matter system independently. Yet, due to being fundamentally defined on the same physical space Ω , based on the same symmetries (see Section 2.1 for details of QED), and also due to the coupling scheme based on the gauge principle (see Section 2.3), there is a high consistency between the boundary conditions of light and matter. If we enforce the local gauge principle, only phases of the matter wave functions are allowed that are consistent with the realizations of " $-i\nabla$ " or " $-\nabla^2$ ". This in turn determines the gauge freedom of the vector potentials of the Maxwell field, and hence the boundary conditions for the light field. On the other hand, the eigenmodes of the Maxwell field are due to the diagonal representation of the vector Laplacian, which in contrast to the scalar Laplacian from, e.g., eq 72, maps from vector-valued square-integrable wave functions to vector-valued squareintegrable wave functions (see eq 10). For the case of periodic boundary conditions on matter, the corresponding vector Laplacian of the Maxwell field is then given as

$$-\nabla_{\text{vec,per}}^2 := \sum_{\lambda=1}^3 \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_0^3} \left(\frac{2\pi}{L}\right)^2 \mathbf{n}^2 |n, \lambda\rangle \langle n, \lambda|$$
(74)

where $\langle r|n, \lambda \rangle = \epsilon(n, \lambda) \langle r|n, \text{ per} \rangle$ and $\epsilon(n, \lambda)$ are the three orthonormal polarization vectors of n.¹¹ Thus, the diagonal representations of the vector Laplacian of the Maxwell field (and also the divergence and curl or, equivalently, the Helmholtz decomposition for periodic vector fields, see discussion around eq 10), the scalar Laplacian and the momentum operator of matter are all built upon the same scalar (matter) eigenfunctions $\langle r | n, per \rangle$. If we now choose different boundary conditions for the matter system and the light system, these consistencies can be broken. This is alluded to in the example of Section 3.3, where the basic zero-energy mode of the Maxwell field due to the gauge freedom of the periodic matter system is a constant function $2\pi/L$, yet for perfect-conductor boundary conditions such a field is illdefined. In more detail, the perfect-conductor boundary conditions for the Maxwell field implies that the self-adjoint vector Laplacian becomes

$$-\nabla_{\text{vec,pcond}}^{2} := \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{3}} \left(\frac{\pi}{L}\right)^{2} \mathbf{n}^{2} \begin{pmatrix} |n_{1}, \text{ zerod}\rangle|n_{2}, \text{ zero}\rangle|n_{3}, \text{ zero}\rangle\langle n_{3}, \text{ zero}\rangle\langle n_{2}, \text{ zerod}\rangle\langle n_{1}, \text{ zerod}\rangle \\ |n_{1}, \text{ zero}\rangle|n_{2}, \text{ zerod}\rangle|n_{3}, \text{ zerod}\rangle\langle n_{3}, \text{ zerod}\langle n_{2}, \text{ zerod}\rangle\langle n_{1}, \text{ zerod}\rangle \\ |n_{1}, \text{ zero}\rangle|n_{2}, \text{ zerod}\rangle|n_{3}, \text{ zerod}\rangle\langle n_{3}, \text{ zerod}\rangle\langle n_{2}, \text{ zerod}\rangle\langle n_{1}, \text{ zerod}\rangle \end{pmatrix}$$
(75)

where the scalar zero-boundary eigenfunctions are $\langle x|n_1, \text{zero} \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{2}{L}} \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{L}n_1x\right)$, the zero-derivative boundary eigenfunctions are $\langle x|n_1, \text{zerod} \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{2}{L}} \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{L}n_1x\right)$ and accordingly for $y \leftrightarrow n_2$ and $z \leftrightarrow n_3$. To show that a constant $2\pi/L$ mode is not in the domain of the vector Laplacian of eq 75 and hence ill-defined for the corresponding Maxwell equation, we first consider the expansion of a constant function $1/\sqrt{L}$ in z ero - b o u n d a r y e i g e n f u n c t i o n s, i.e., $\langle 1/\sqrt{L}|n, \text{zero} \rangle = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\pi n} (1 - (-1)^n).^{118}$ Applying the Lapla-

cian, e.g., the second derivative with respect to *y*, leads to an ill-defined expression, i.e.,

$$\left\langle \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \right| - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \right\rangle = \frac{2}{L^2} \sum_{n_2=0}^{\infty} \left(1 - (-1)^{n_2}\right)^2 \to \infty$$
(76)

Consequently, the constant gauge field that arises from the periodic matter subsystem (see also Section 2.3), e.g., $A(r) \propto \epsilon_1$, corresponds to infinite energies for the Maxwell equation with perfect-conductor boundary conditions. In more detail, using the expansion of the constant function in zero-derivative

boundary conditions for x (only $n_1 = 0$ contributes), and the zero boundary conditions for y and z we find

$$\epsilon_{1} = \sum_{n_{2},n_{3}} \frac{2\sqrt{L}}{\pi^{2} n_{2} n_{3}} (1 - (-1)^{n_{2}}) (1 - (-1)^{n_{3}}) \\ \begin{pmatrix} \langle y | n_{2}, \text{ zero} \rangle \langle z | n_{3}, \text{ zero} \rangle \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(77)

The corresponding magnetic field is then proportional to

$$\boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}) \propto \sum_{n_2, n_3} \frac{2\sqrt{L}}{\pi^2 n_2 n_3} (1 - (-1)^{n_2}) (1 - (-1)^{n_3}) \\ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \langle y | n_2, \text{ zero} \rangle \frac{\pi n_3}{L} \langle z | n_3, \text{ zerod} \rangle \\ -\frac{\pi n_2}{L} \langle y | n_2, \text{ zerod} \rangle \langle z | n_3, \text{ zero} \rangle \end{pmatrix}$$
(78)

Thus, we then have due to eq 7 that

$$E_{\rm ph} \propto \int \boldsymbol{B}^2(\boldsymbol{r}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{r}$$

$$\propto \sum_{n_2, n_3} \frac{(n_2^2 + n_3^2)}{n_2^2 n_3^2} (1 - (-1)^{n_2}) (1 - (-1)^{n_3}) \to \infty$$
(80)

A further problem can be the violation of energy and momentum conservation in such a case. Take, for instance, an allowed single-particle matter wave function of the form $\langle \boldsymbol{r}|\boldsymbol{k}_x\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L^3}}\exp\left(-i\frac{2\pi}{L}\boldsymbol{x}\right)$, which has a momentum proportional to $\boldsymbol{k}_x = \frac{2\pi}{L}\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_1$. If we have as initial state $|\boldsymbol{k}_x, 0\rangle = |\boldsymbol{k}_x\rangle \otimes |0\rangle \otimes |0\rangle \otimes ...$, i.e., we have zero photons in all modes, then the linear coupling $\hat{A}_{\text{pcond}}(\boldsymbol{r}) \cdot (-i\nabla_{\text{per}})$ generates photons of arbitrary high energy and momentum without any loss of energy or momentum from the matter subsystem. Let us focus on the transverse modes with $n_1 = 0$, i.e., n_2 and n_3 are non-zero such that only the *x*-component of the vector-potential is non-zero, as also discussed above. If we then consider transition-matrix elements of the form

$$\langle \mathbf{k}_{x}, \mathbf{1}_{n_2,n_3} | \hat{\mathbf{A}}_{\text{pcond}}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot (-i \nabla_{\text{per}}) | \mathbf{k}_{x}, 0 \rangle$$
 (81)

where $1_{n_2,n_3}$ indicates that we have one photon in the mode (0, n_2, n_3) and zero else, then for any such mode we have

Contrast this with $\hat{A}_{per}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot (-i\nabla_{per})$, where only those transition-matrix elements are non-zero for which energy and momentum is conserved for the total physical system. On the other hand, we have also consequences for the matter subsystem. Since, for instance, fields that obey perfect-conductor boundary conditions are not necessarily compatible with periodic boundary conditions, e.g., due to $\langle x|n, zerod \rangle$,

those fields lie outside the domain of the momentum operator of eq 71. One could ignore this issue and merely consider the consistency with the domain of the scalar Laplacian, as commonly done to establish self-adjointness of the Hamiltonian.^{22,73,118,297} In this case, however, the regularity of eigenstates will become too low to be able to fulfill local charge conservation and similar local conservation laws.^{118,297} This is quite intuitive for the diamagnetic current density, which is proportional to $\rho(rt)A(rt)$,^{81,94} such that this current contribution can inherit the violation of the corresponding

boundary conditions of the matter system. A.5. Ab Initio and Alternative Approaches

Let us next give our working definitions for what we call ab initio methods. We will do so first in an abstract manner based on the proceeding discussions and then provide details on why such a formal definition is reasonable from a natural-science point of view.

We abstractly identify a theoretical approach as ab initio, if the approach is formulated on infinite-dimensional Hilbert spaces for all subsystems and that tests its (in practice) finitedimensional approximate results with respect to the infinite basis set limit. That is, the stability of the obtained results are tested with respect to including more and more states and with respect to changing the basis set. Alternatively, we can state that an ab initio approach solves partial differential equations for given boundary conditions using some form of a Galerkin method.²⁹⁹ The later definition is most easily connected with the common statement that ab initio methods only rely on fundamental constants of nature, such as in the case of the Schrödinger equation or of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian of eq 37. Using the connection between the basic symmetries of space-time and self-adjoint operators (see Section A.2) we only need a few fundamental constants to make predictions. In practice, though, such as in the case of the dipoleapproximated Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian of eq 39, we often use further information from experiment or other theories, e.g., the mode structure of a given cavity.

Clearly, the above definition is not precise in practice. There are many models or alternative theoretical methods that employ specific infinite-dimensional spaces, such as coupled quantum harmonic oscillators. Yet for most models and alternative theoretical methods the previously discussed issues (see Appendices A.1-A.4) related to infinite dimensions and unbounded operators are not considered nor encountered. In contrast, in ab initio theories these issues are omnipresent. As an example we highlight that in a finite-dimensional problem all symmetric linear operators are matrices and thus always have eigenstates with real eigenvalue. Yet for infinitedimensional problems (as also discussed in Appendix A.1) this is not the case, and in an ab initio approach one has to test how the eigenstates change upon changing the basis set. In this way one finds that in the case of non-self-adjointness real eigenvalues might cease to exist in the basis set limit, like the ground state in the atomic Dirac equation for nuclear charge Z> 138, or that complex eigenvalues arise such as in the case of the atomic Dirac equation for nuclear charge Z > 118.³⁰⁰ In ab initio QED, for instance, such investigations allow to identify the onset of the dissociation continuum.¹⁹⁷ A further point of difference is the accuracy/applicability of perturbation theory. Since for finite dimensions we always have a largest eigenvalue, we can safely assume that perturbation theory captures the resulting changes accurately if we add a further linear operator

(matrix) with a small pre-factor $\epsilon \ll 1$. Yet for infinite dimensions, where we can add unbounded operators that have arbitrarily large (generalized) eigenvalues, this is not necessarily the case. Examples within ab initio QED are discussed in Secs. 3.3 and Appendix B below. Perturbation theory with unbounded operators does usually not converge and hence often only gives reasonable results for low orders. For this reason we focus in this work on nonperturbative solutions to infinite-dimensional problems.

Up until now we have discussed a definition based on mathematical considerations, which are only of concern to theoretical chemists and physicists. But are there more general scientific reasons why we differentiate between ab initio methods and alternative theoretical approaches? Indeed, from the mathematical perspective a first obvious difference is that ab initio methods are designed to test the predictability/ accuracy of a realization of quantum physics, as discussed in Appendix A.2. This is also alluded to in the main text, e.g., at the end of Section 3.1. Therefore, one might say that ab initio methods are more general in their applicability than alterantive approaches that model specific setups or observables. Yet, even if we disregard the problem of accuracy of ab initio methods in practice, the main drawback of ab initio methods is that they do not directly provide any intuitive insight. They are, for all intents and purposes, numerical experiments. To provide insights and an understanding of a chemical/physical effect it is in practice necessary to develop specific models and alternative theoretical approaches. This distinction is also nicely reflected in the demand of quantitative results for ab initio methods, e.g., "chemical accuracy" in quantum chemistry, while for models qualitative results are the main goal.

For the authors of this review it goes without saying that different theoretical approaches are needed since they supplement each other. Because their purposes are complementary, it does not make sense to consider one or the other to be scientifically superior. If we attain in polaritonic chemistry a similar level of agreement between ab initio methods and alternative approaches, as is the case in quantum chemistry or solid-state physics, we will at the same time have attained a detailed understanding of the basic mechanisms that make this field so exciting.

Let us finally also clarify that, of course, also a realization of quantum physics as defined in Section A.2 is just a model of reality. It is merely an infinite-dimensional model and hence more flexible. On the long run it should be our goal as scientists to refine this types of models to, for instance, get a better connection with general relativity. Thus, irrespective of whether one works with ab initio or alternative approaches, fundamentally we should all keep in mind that

"All models are wrong but some are useful"

G. Box in ref 301.

APPENDIX B: NECESSITY OF LONGITUDINAL DIPOLE SELF-ENERGY TERM

Let us for simplicity and without restriction of generality treat the nuclei/ions clamped and consider (as commonly done) only the electronic interaction between a plasmonic and a molecular system of interest. In this case the longitudinal modes due to a plasmon-molecule interaction are all mediated in Coulomb gauge via

$$\hat{W}_{ee} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l \neq m}^{N_e} \frac{e^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0 |\mathbf{r}_l - \mathbf{r}_m|}$$
(83)

as can immediately be inferred from the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian of eq 37. It is obvious that for all possible square-integrable wave functions Ψ in the domain of the operator (see Appendix A.1 for further details), irrespective of statistics and indistinguishability, we have

$$\langle \Psi | W_{\rm ee} | \Psi \rangle > 0 \tag{84}$$

That is, \hat{W}_{ee} is a positive operator. Assume now that we choose instead of \hat{W}_{ee} an operator of the form^{203,302}

$$\hat{W}_{\rm dip} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l \neq m}^{N_e} \sum_{\mu=1}^{3} g_l^{\mu} r_l^{\mu} r_m^{\mu} g_m^{\mu}$$
(85)

where r_m^{μ} are the different Euclidean coordinates of particle m and g_m^{μ} are some arbitrary real constants such that we even allow to break the symmetry of the original Coulomb operator. Obviously this operator is not positive and it can be made arbitrarily negative, i.e., \hat{W}_{dip} is not bounded from below and we can find Ψ such that

$$\langle \Psi | \widehat{W}_{dip} | \Psi \rangle \to -\infty$$
 (86)

Not surprisingly, with similar arguments as for the transverse case, ^{108,121} we find that an Hamiltonian with purely dipolar interaction has no eigenstates and hence does not have an equilibrium solution.

The reason for this unphysical behavior within ab initio quantum physics is quite obvious since we have broken the very basic condition that the longitudinal electromagnetic energy is positive. As discussed in Section 3.3, we have two options that amount to the same physics: We either keep also quadratic contributions of the form $\sum_{\mu=1}^{3} (g^{\mu}r^{\mu})^2$ that counter the purely linear coupling, or we restrict to a finite area (finite simulation box with chosen boundary conditions). In both cases the approximate interaction becomes bounded from below and can be made manifestly positive by a finite energy shift. We have thus shown, in yet a different way, that quadratic/counter terms are necessary to have a stable ab initio quantum theory and claims to the contrary in the literature arise from a basic misunderstanding of the difference between perturbative/few-level calculations and solving a (necessarily infinite-dimensional) Schrödinger-type quantum equation.^{108,121} Let us finally note that in the long-wavelength or dipole limit we can, strictly speaking, no longer distinguish between transverse and longitudinal modes.⁸¹ Only the physical context of the dipolar approximation provides us with the information which type of field we consider.

APPENDIX C: QEDFT MAPPINGS AND THE EFFECTIVE FIELDS

Let us first note that QEDFT and its basic mapping theorems are distinct from using (time-dependent) density functional theory and approximately taking into account the interaction with a quantized light field. Indeed, QEDFT is the exact reformulation of the Pauli-Fierz quantum field theory in terms of current densities and vector potentials,^{81,94,145} in analogy to electronic density functional theory being the exact reformulation of the static Schrödinger theory with scalar external potentials.^{164,165} Further we note that the term "QEDFT" is . .

used synonymously for the ground-state, the real-time or linear-response time-dependent, minimal-coupling or dipolecoupling density-functional reformulation of the (generalized) Pauli-Fierz field theory.^{81,94,145,183,184,186} The context unambiguously identifies which specific realization/implementation of QEDFT is meant/used. We use the same convention when referring to "density functional theory"^{118,169}

To highlight these details let us compare the basic mappings of density functional theory and QEDFT. For simplicity we assume clamped nuclei to connect to the standard case of density functional theories and avoid issues due to localizing finite systems in free space.^{303,304} In this case, we have either due to the Hohenberg–Kohn,¹⁶⁴ the Runge-Gross¹⁶⁶ (where we for simplicity assume the ground state as initial state³⁰⁵), or van Leeuwen Laplace-transform³⁰⁶ theorems, the mappings (note the notation convention from eq 64):

$$\nu(\mathbf{r}t) \stackrel{\text{1:1}}{\leftrightarrow} \Psi(\underline{\mathbf{r}}t) \stackrel{\text{1:1}}{\leftrightarrow} n(\mathbf{r}t)$$
(87)

For the static case the parameter t (time) is redundant. This mapping shows that instead of the electronic wave function $\Psi(\mathbf{r}t)$ we can express everything in terms of $n(\mathbf{r}t)$, the particlenumber density, since we can perform a functional-variable transformation within electronic quantum mechanics of the form^{118,164,166}

$$\langle \Psi(t)|\hat{O}|\Psi(t)\rangle = \langle \Psi([n],t)|\hat{O}|\Psi([n],t)\rangle = O([n],t)$$
(88)

for any observable \hat{O} . Here the notation O[n] means that the object O is uniquely determined by n. We have thus replaced the usual quadratic-form structure of quantum physics in terms of wave functions by exact nonlinear functionals in terms of the density. But this reformulation has so far no practical relevance, since we do not know how to determine from a given v(rt) the corresponding n(rt) without going through the wave function $\Psi(\underline{rt})$ first. In the ground-state case the obvious way would be reformulate the minimization over all wave functions in terms of densities.^{164,165} Yet it is very hard to express the various contributions in terms of the density only. Alternatively one can consider the local ground-state force equilibrium.^{118,168} In practice (also for the time-dependent case) one tries to approximate the mapping $v(rt) \stackrel{1:1}{\leftrightarrow} n(rt)$ for interacting electrons with the help of an auxiliary mapping that is physically close yet numerically still tractable. The standard choice is to consider the mapping of noninteracting electrons

$$v_{\rm s}(\mathbf{r}t) \stackrel{\rm l:1}{\leftrightarrow} \Phi(\underline{\mathbf{r}}t) \stackrel{\rm l:1}{\leftrightarrow} n_{\rm s}(\mathbf{r}t) \tag{89}$$

where $\Phi(\underline{r}t)$ is then (usually) a Slater determinant of singleparticle orbitals $\varphi_k(r\sigma t)$, $n_s(rt) = \sum_k \sum_{\sigma} |\varphi_k(r\sigma t)|^2$ and the subindex "s" refers to "single particle" indicating that the noninteracting many-body Schrödinger equation can be recast as single-particle Schrödinger equations.¹¹⁸ Assuming now that interacting and noninteracting systems generate the same set of densities, we can thus combine both maps and find¹¹⁸

$$v(\mathbf{r}t) \stackrel{\text{in}}{\leftrightarrow} v_{s}(\mathbf{r}t)$$
 (90)

Thus, we have mapped the interacting problem to a noninteracting problem that generates the same density. This new effective potential is then called the Kohn–Sham potential and is denoted as $v_{KS}([v], rt) = v_s([v], rt)$. Still we did not gain anything, because the mapping from interacting to non-

interacting potentials is even harder to approximate. The final step is to once again use the bijectivity between densities and potentials to re-express the Kohn–Sham potential as¹¹⁸

$$v_{\rm KS}([\nu], rt) = \nu(rt) + v_{\rm KS}([\nu], rt) - \nu(r, t)$$

= $\nu(rt) + \underbrace{v_{\rm s}([n], rt) - \nu([n], rt)}_{=\nu_{\rm Hxc}([n], rt)}$ (91)

This turns the linear single-particle Schrödinger equations in terms of $v_{\rm KS}([\nu], rt)$ into the well-known nonlinear Kohn–Sham single-particle equations in terms of the Hartree-exchange-correlation potential $v_{\rm Hxc}([n], rt)$. To approximate the difference between interacting and noninteracting maps in terms of densities, many different highly successful strategies exist.

In the case of QEDFT we have instead of the Schrödinger Hamiltonian the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian that does not only dependent on the electronic degrees but also on the (continuum of) photonic degrees of freedom. Since there are some subtle differences in the minimal-coupling QEDFT case between the ground-state and the time-dependent case with respect to the suitable functional variables (although these differences allow to cure old issues of ground-state current-density functional theory),¹⁴⁵ we in the following restrict for simplicity to the dipole-coupled Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian of eq 39 with the external fields of the form of eqs 54 and 53. In this case, we have with the identification of $v(rt) = -|e|\phi_{ext}(rt)$, the interacting mapping in analogy to the density-functional case^{94,124,145,184}

$$(v(\mathbf{rt}), \underline{j}(t)) \stackrel{1:1}{\leftrightarrow} \Psi(\underline{\mathbf{r}}, \underline{q}, t) \stackrel{1:1}{\leftrightarrow} (n(\mathbf{rt}), \underline{q}(t))$$
(92)

where $\underline{j}(t)$ and $\underline{q}(t)$ indicates that we have M_p -long vectors of mode-resolved external currents and displacement coordinates, respectively. The reason why we have now a pair of functional variables $(n(rt), \underline{q}(t))$ is that we can change not only v(rt) to consider different physical situations but also adapt $\underline{j}(t)$ to influence the full system of light and matter. Obviously, even if the electronic Schrödinger equation and the dipole-approximated Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian have the same external fields, the expectation values of the same operators give different answers in general and we have access in QEDFT to all photonic observables since we have re-expressed everything in terms of

$$\langle \Psi(t)|\hat{O}|\Psi(t)\rangle = \langle \Psi([n,\underline{q}],t)|\hat{O}|\Psi([n,\underline{q}],t) = O([n,\underline{q}],t)$$
(93)

In analogy, we then find adapted effective fields

$$(v(\mathbf{r}t), \underline{j}(t)) \stackrel{\text{\tiny 1:1}}{\leftrightarrow} (v_{s}(\mathbf{r}t), \underline{j}_{s}(t))$$

$$(94)$$

if we choose as auxiliary system noninteracting electrons and photons to generate the same density and displacement field.^{94,124,145} Accordingly, we find with the definition of the Maxwell-Kohn–Sham fields v_{MKS} ($[v, \underline{j}], rt$) = $v_s([v, \underline{j}], rt)$ and \underline{j}_{MKS} ($[v, \underline{j}], t$) = \underline{i}_s ($[v, \underline{j}], t$) that we have

$$\nu_{\text{MKS}}([\nu,\underline{j}], \mathbf{r}t) = \nu(\mathbf{r}t) + \nu_{\text{Mxc}}([n,\underline{q}], \mathbf{r}t)$$
(95)

$$\underline{j}_{MKS}([v,\underline{j}], t) = \underline{j}(t) + \underline{j}_{Mxc}([n,\underline{q}], t)$$
(96)

Here we have denoted the nonlinear terms as mean-fieldexchange-correlation (Mxc) fields in order to highlight that besides the Hartree term there are now also other mean-field contributions that can be made explicit in the effective fields. Similarly to the electronic density-functional case there are various ways of approximating the difference of these mappings^{170,172,256,307} (note that in the dipole case the Mxc current is exactly the mean-field current, i.e., $\underline{j}_{Mxc}([n, \underline{q}], t) = \underline{j}_M([n, \underline{q}], t)^{94,124,145})$, and we can distinguish the contribution due to the Coulomb interaction and due to the direct electron-photon interaction as^{81,94,124,145}

$$v_{\text{Mxc}}([n,\underline{q}], \mathbf{r}t) = v_{\text{Hxc}}([n,\underline{q}], \mathbf{r}t) + v_{\text{pxc}}([n,\underline{q}], \mathbf{r}t)$$
(97)

While in principle $v_{\text{Hxc}}([n, q], rt) \neq v_{\text{Hxc}}([n], rt)$, in practice one usually employs approximations to $v_{\text{Hxc}}([n], rt)$ from electronic density functional theories also in QEDFT. This raises the question of consistency between approximation to the longitudinal (Coulombic) and transverse (photonic) interactions. That is, optimally both functionals are approximated in the same way. Examples of this are the use of optimized effective potentials in the exchange approximation^{172,256} or the use of local exact exchange approximations¹⁷⁰ for Coulomb and photon interactions. Similar consistency considerations arise also in the context of linear-response timedependent density functional functional theory, where one can potentially use different functionals for the Coulomb interaction in the ground state calculation and for the Coulomb interaction in the Hartree-exchange-correlation kernel.166

We finally note that one is not restricted to using noninteracting electrons and photons as auxiliary system. Similar to electronic density functional theory, where nonlocal (generalized) Kohn–Sham systems^{308–310} or strictly correlated electrons^{311–313} are sometimes used, in QEDFT one can, for instance, use polaritonic orbitals as reference.^{147,176} The main drawback of using polaritonic orbitals is that we have mixed statistics that need to be handled with extra care to not generate unphysical results.^{147,174,176}

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

- Michael Ruggenthaler Max-Planck-Institut für Struktur und Dynamik der Materie, 22761 Hamburg, Germany; The Hamburg Center for Ultrafast Imaging, 22761 Hamburg, Germany; orcid.org/0000-0002-0728-8372; Email: Michael.Ruggenthaler@mpsd.mpg.de
- Dominik Sidler Max-Planck-Institut für Struktur und Dynamik der Materie, 22761 Hamburg, Germany; The Hamburg Center for Ultrafast Imaging, 22761 Hamburg, Germany; orcid.org/0000-0002-4732-5713; Email: Dominik.Sidler@mpsd.mpg.de
- Angel Rubio Max-Planck-Institut für Struktur und Dynamik der Materie, 22761 Hamburg, Germany; The Hamburg Center for Ultrafast Imaging, 22761 Hamburg, Germany; Center for Computational Quantum Physics, Flatiron Institute, New York, New York 10010, United States; orcid.org/0000-0003-2060-3151; Email: Angel.Rubio@mpsd.mpg.de

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00788

Funding

Open access funded by Max Planck Society.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Michael Ruggenthaler is research group leader at the Max-Planck Institute for the Structure and Dynamics of Matter in Hamburg, Germany. He obtained his Ph.D. in theoretical physics jointly from the Max-Planck Institute for Nuclear Physics and the University of Heidelberg, Germany, in 2009. As Schrödinger Fellow of the Austrian Science Fund, he worked at the University of Jyväskylä, Finland, and then established an independent research group at the University of Innsbruck, Austria, before he moved to Hamburg in 2016. His research group works on the theoretical and mathematical foundations of quantum many-body theories, in and out of equilibrium. His current research focus is on first-principles approaches to ab initio quantum electrodynamics, polaritonic chemistry, and cavity-modified material properties.

Dominik Sidler is a postdoctoral researcher at the Max-Planck Institute for the Structure and Dynamics of Matter and the Cluster of Excellence CUI: Advanced Imaging of Matter in Hamburg, Germany. He obtained his Ph.D. in computational chemistry from ETH Zürich, Switzerland, in 2018. He works on the theoretical and computational description of (strong) light-matter interactions in polaritonic chemistry. His current research focus is on first-principles approaches to describe emergent local and collective strong coupling phenomena in optical cavities, as well as the impact of vacuum field fluctuations on molecular nonequilibrium conditions at finite temperatures.

Angel Rubio is the Director of the Theory Department of the Max-Planck Institute for the Structure and Dynamics of Matter in Hamburg, Germany, where his research focuses on the modeling and theory of electronic and structural properties of condensed matter. His department works on developing novel theoretical tools, such as quantum-electrodynamical density functional theory and computational codes for the ab initio description and control of quantum many-body systems, and on characterizing new nonequilibrium states of matter. His work has been recognized by several awards including the 2018 Max Born medal and prize, 2016 Medal of the Spanish Royal Physical Society, the 2014 Premio Rey Jaime I for basic research, the 2006 DuPont Prize in nanotechnology, the 2005 Friedrich Wilhelm Bessel Research Award of the Humboldt Foundation, and two European Research Council advanced grants. He is a fellow of the APS, EPS, and AAAS, and member of the Leopoldina Academy, BBAW, the European Academy of Sciences, the Academia Europaea, and a foreign associate member of the National Academy of Sciences (USA).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge enlightening discussions with Tal Schwartz, Abraham Nitzan, Sharly Fleischer, Thomas W. Ebbesen, Christian Schäfer, Simone Latini, Johannes Flick, Enrico Ronca, Henrik Koch, Fabijan Pavosevic, and Markus Kowalewski. This work was made possible through the support of the RouTe Project (13N14839), financed by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF)), and supported by the European Research Council (ERC-2015-AdG694097), the Cluster of Excellence "CUI: Advanced Imaging of Matter" of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG), EXC 2056, project ID 390715994, and the Grupos Consolidados (IT1453-22). The Flatiron Institute is a division of the Simons Foundation.

REFERENCES

(1) Hertzog, M.; Wang, M.; Mony, J.; Börjesson, K. Strong lightmatter interactions: a new direction within chemistry. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2019**, *48*, 937–961.

(2) Svanberg, S. Atomic and molecular spectroscopy: basic aspects and practical applications; Springer Science & Business Media, 2012; Vol. 6.

(3) Kuzmany, H. Solid-state spectroscopy: an introduction; Springer Science & Business Media, 2009.

(4) Cowan, J. A. Inorganic biochemistry: an introduction; John Wiley & Sons, 1997.

(5) Ruggenthaler, M.; Tancogne-Dejean, N.; Flick, J.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. From a quantum-electrodynamical light-matter description to novel spectroscopies. *Nat. Rev. Chem.* **2018**, *2*, 1–16.

(6) Chu, S.-I.; Telnov, D. A. Beyond the Floquet theorem: generalized Floquet formalisms and quasienergy methods for atomic and molecular multiphoton processes in intense laser fields. *Phys. Rep.* **2004**, *390*, 1–131.

(7) Kohler, S.; Lehmann, J.; Hänggi, P. Driven quantum transport on the nanoscale. *Phys. Rep.* **2005**, *406*, 379–443.

(8) Mulser, P.; Bauer, D. *High power laser-matter interaction*; Springer, 2010; Vol. 238.

(9) Stefanucci, G.; Van Leeuwen, R. Nonequilibrium many-body theory of quantum systems: a modern introduction; Cambridge University Press, 2013.

(10) Basov, D.; Averitt, R.; Hsieh, D. Towards properties on demand in quantum materials. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, *16*, 1077–1088.

(11) Greiner, W.; Reinhardt, J. Field quantization; Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1996.

(12) Ryder, L. H. *Quantum field theory*, 2nd ed.; Cambridge University Press, 1996.

(13) Greiner, W.; Reinhardt, J. Quantum electrodynamics; Taylor & Francis, 2003.

(14) Ebbesen, T. W. Hybrid light-matter states in a molecular and material science perspective. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2016**, *49*, 2403–2412.

(15) Skolnick, M.; Fisher, T.; Whittaker, D. Strong coupling phenomena in quantum microcavity structures. *Semicond. Sci. Technol.* **1998**, *13*, 645–669.

(16) Raimond, J.-M.; Brune, M.; Haroche, S. Manipulating quantum entanglement with atoms and photons in a cavity. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **2001**, 73, 565–582.

(17) Vahala, K. J. Optical microcavities. *Nature* 2003, 424, 839–846.
(18) Hugall, J. T.; Singh, A.; van Hulst, N. F. Plasmonic cavity coupling. *ACS Photonics* 2018, 5, 43–53.

(19) Haroche, S.; Kleppner, D. Cavity quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Today* **1989**, *42*, 24–30.

(20) Keller, O. *Quantum theory of near-field electrodynamics*; Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.

(21) Buhmann, S. Y. Dispersion forces I: macroscopic quantum electrodynamics and ground-state Casimir, Casimir-Polder and van der Waals forces; Springer, 2013; Vol. 247.

(22) Spohn, H. Dynamics of charged particles and their radiation field; Cambridge University Press, 2004.

(23) Craig, D. P.; Thirunamachandran, T. Molecular quantum electrodynamics: an introduction to radiation-molecule interactions; Courier Corporation, 1998.

(24) Grynberg, G.; Aspect, A.; Fabre, C. Introduction to quantum optics: from the semi-classical approach to quantized light; Cambridge University Press, 2010.

(25) Scully, M. O.; Zubairy, M. S. Quantum optics; Cambridge University Press, 1997.

(26) Törmä, P.; Barnes, W. L. Strong coupling between surface plasmon polaritons and emitters: a review. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2015**, *78*, 013901.

(27) Basov, D.; Fogler, M.; García de Abajo, F. Polaritons in van der Waals materials. *Science* **2016**, *354*, aag1992.

(28) Chang, D. E.; Douglas, J. S.; González-Tudela, A.; Hung, C.-L.; Kimble, H. J. Colloquium: quantum matter built from nanoscopic lattices of atoms and photons. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **2018**, *90*, 031002. (29) Bloch, J.; Cavalleri, A.; Galitski, V.; Hafezi, M.; Rubio, A. Strongly correlated electron-photon systems. *Nature* **2022**, *606*, 41–48.

(30) Basov, D.; Asenjo-Garcia, A.; Schuck, P. J.; Zhu, X.; Rubio, A. Polariton panorama. *Nanophotonics* **2020**, *10*, 549–577.

(31) Haroche, S.; Raimond, J.-M. *Exploring the quantum: atoms, cavities, and photons*; Oxford University Press, 2006.

(32) Walther, H.; Varcoe, B. T.; Englert, B.-G.; Becker, T. Cavity quantum electrodynamics. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2006**, *69*, 1325–1382.

(33) Haroche, S. Nobel lecture: controlling photons in a box and exploring the quantum to classical boundary. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2013, 85, 1083–1102.

(34) Clerk, A.; Lehnert, K.; Bertet, P.; Petta, J.; Nakamura, Y. Hybrid quantum systems with circuit quantum electrodynamics. *Nat. Phys.* **2020**, *16*, 257–267.

(35) Carusotto, I.; Houck, A. A.; Kollár, A. J.; Roushan, P.; Schuster, D. I.; Simon, J. Photonic materials in circuit quantum electrodynamics. *Nat. Phys.* **2020**, *16*, 268–279.

(36) Sanvitto, D.; Kena-Cohen, S. The road towards polaritonic devices. *Nat. Mater.* **2016**, *15*, 1061–1073.

(37) Ribeiro, R. F.; Martínez-Martínez, L. A.; Du, M.; Campos-Gonzalez-Angulo, J.; Yuen-Zhou, J. Polariton chemistry: controlling molecular dynamics with optical cavities. *Chem. Sci.* **2018**, *9*, 6325–6339.

(38) Feist, J.; Galego, J.; Garcia-Vidal, F. J. Polaritonic chemistry with organic molecules. *ACS Photonics* **2018**, *5*, 205–216.

(39) Flick, J.; Rivera, N.; Narang, P. Strong light-matter coupling in quantum chemistry and quantum photonics. *Nanophotonics* **2018**, *7*, 1479–1501.

(40) Dovzhenko, D.; Ryabchuk, S.; Rakovich, Y. P.; Nabiev, I. Lightmatter interaction in the strong coupling regime: configurations, conditions, and applications. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 3589–3605.

(41) Schneider, C.; Glazov, M. M.; Korn, T.; Hoefling, S.; Urbaszek, B. Two-dimensional semiconductors in the regime of strong lightmatter coupling. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 2695 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-04866-6.

(42) Gargiulo, J.; Berte, R.; Li, Y.; Maier, S. A.; Cortes, E. From optical to chemical hot spots in plasmonics. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2019, *52*, 2525–2535.

(43) Frisk Kockum, A.; Miranowicz, A.; De Liberato, S.; Savasta, S.; Nori, F. Ultrastrong coupling between light and matter. *Nat. Rev. Phys.* **2019**, *1*, 19–40.

(44) Hirai, K.; Hutchison, J. A.; Uji-i, H. Recent progress in vibropolaritonic chemistry. *ChemPlusChem.* **2020**, *85*, 1981–1988.

(45) Herrera, F.; Owrutsky, J. Molecular polaritons for controlling chemistry with quantum optics. J. Chem. Phys. 2020, 152, 100902.

(46) Nagarajan, K.; Thomas, A.; Ebbesen, T. W. Chemistry under vibrational strong coupling. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2021, 143, 16877–16889.

(47) Garcia-Vidal, F. J.; Ciuti, C.; Ebbesen, T. W. Manipulating matter by strong coupling to vacuum fields. *Science* **2021**, *373*, No. eabd0336.

(48) Li, T. E.; Cui, B.; Subotnik, J. E.; Nitzan, A. Molecular polaritonics: chemical dynamics under strong light-matter coupling. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2022**, *73*, 43–71.

(49) Coles, D. M.; Somaschi, N.; Michetti, P.; Clark, C.; Lagoudakis, P. G.; Savvidis, P. G.; Lidzey, D. G. Polariton-mediated energy transfer between organic dyes in a strongly coupled optical microcavity. *Nat. Mater.* **2014**, *13*, 712–719.

(50) Orgiu, E.; George, J.; Hutchison, J.; Devaux, E.; Dayen, J.; Doudin, B.; Stellacci, F.; Genet, C.; Schachenmayer, J.; Genes, C.; et al. Conductivity in organic semiconductors hybridized with the vacuum field. *Nat. Mater.* **2015**, *14*, 1123–1129.

(51) Zeng, P.; Cadusch, J.; Chakraborty, D.; Smith, T. A.; Roberts, A.; Sader, J. E.; Davis, T. J.; Gomez, D. E. Photoinduced electron transfer in the strong coupling regime: waveguide-plasmon polaritons. *Nano Lett.* **2016**, *16*, 2651–2656.

(52) Rozenman, G. G.; Akulov, K.; Golombek, A.; Schwartz, T. Long-range transport of organic exciton-polaritons revealed by ultrafast Microscopy. *ACS Photonics* **2018**, *5*, 105–110.

(53) Paravicini-Bagliani, G. L.; Appugliese, F.; Richter, E.; Valmorra, F.; Keller, J.; Beck, M.; Bartolo, N.; Roessler, C.; Ihn, T.; Ensslin, K.; et al. Magneto-transport controlled by Landau polariton states. *Nat. Phys.* **2019**, *15*, 186–190.

(54) Su, R.; Ghosh, S.; Wang, J.; Liu, S.; Diederichs, C.; Liew, T. C.; Xiong, Q. Observation of exciton polariton condensation in a perovskite lattice at room temperature. *Nat. Phys.* **2020**, *16*, 301–306.

(55) Dusel, M.; Betzold, S.; Egorov, O. A.; Klembt, S.; Ohmer, J.; Fischer, U.; Höfling, S.; Schneider, C. Room temperature organic exciton-polariton condensate in a lattice. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 1–7.

(56) Wang, S.; Mika, A.; Hutchison, J. A.; Genet, C.; Jouaiti, A.; Hosseini, M. W.; Ebbesen, T. W. Phase transition of a perovskite strongly coupled to the vacuum field. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 7243–7248.

(57) Thomas, A.; Devaux, E.; Nagarajan, K.; Rogez, G.; Seidel, M.; Richard, F.; Genet, C.; Drillon, M.; Ebbesen, T. W. Large enhancement of ferromagnetism under a collective strong coupling of YBCO nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 4365–4370.

(58) Flick, J.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Atoms and molecules in cavities, from weak to strong coupling in quantumelectrodynamics (QED) chemistry. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2017, *114*, 3026–3034.

(59) Szabo, A.; Ostlund, N. S. Modern quantum chemistry: introduction to advanced electronic structure theory; Courier Corporation, 2012.

(60) Haile, J. M. Molecular dynamics simulation: elementary methods; John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1992.

(61) Cramer, C. J. Essentials of computational chemistry: theories and models; John Wiley & Sons, 2013.

(62) Climent, C.; Feist, J. On the sn 2 reactions modified in vibrational strong coupling experiments: reaction mechanisms and vibrational mode assignments. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 23545–23552.

(63) Climent, C.; Feist, J. Reply to the Comment on "On the SN2 reactions modified in vibrational strong coupling experiments: reaction mechanisms and vibrational mode assignments". *ChemRxiv.14481468.v1* 2021. DOI: 10.26434/chemrxiv.14481468.v1

(64) Martínez-Martínez, L. A.; Ribeiro, R. F.; Campos-González-Angulo, J.; Yuen-Zhou, J. Can ultrastrong coupling change groundstate chemical reactions? *ACS Photonics* **2018**, *5*, 167–176.

(65) Cohen-Tannoudji, C.; Dupont-Roc, J.; Grynberg, G. Photons and atoms-introduction to quantum electrodynamics; Wiley, 1997. DOI: 10.1002/9783527618422

(66) Sidler, D.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Schäfer, C.; Ronca, E.; Rubio, A. A perspective on ab initio modeling of polaritonic chemistry: the role of non-equilibrium effects and quantum collectivity. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *156*, 230901.

(67) Kane, G. Are virtual particles really constantly popping in and out of existence? Or are they merely a mathematical bookkeeping device for quantum mechanics? *Sci. Am.* 2006.

(68) Nobel Prizes 1965. Phys. Today 1965, 18, 58-59.

(69) Baez, J. C.; Segal, I. E.; Zhou, Z. Introduction to algebraic and constructive quantum field theory; Princeton University Press, 2014.

(70) Scharf, G. Finite quantum electrodynamics: the causal approach; Courier Corporation, 2014.

(71) Srednicki, M. Quantum field theory; Cambridge University Press, 2007.

(72) Teschl, G. Mathematical methods in quantum mechanics: with applications to Schrödinger operators, Graduate Studies in Mathematics Vol.: 157; American Mathematical Society, 2014.

(73) Blanchard, P.; Brüning, E. Mathematical methods in Physics: Distributions, Hilbert space operators, variational methods, and applications in quantum physics; Birkhäuser, 2015; Vol. 69.

(74) Thaller, B. *The dirac equation;* Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.

(75) Silberstein, L. Elektromagnetische Grundgleichungen in bivektorieller Behandlung. *Ann. Phys. (Berl.)* **1907**, 327, 579–586.

(76) Oppenheimer, J. R. Note on light quanta and the electromagnetic field. *Phys. Rev.* **1931**, *38*, 725–746.

(77) Białynicki-Birula, I. On the wave function of the photon. Acta Phys. Polym., A 1994, 1, 97–116.

(78) Gersten, A. Maxwell's equations as the one-photon quantum equation. *Found. Phys.* **1999**, *12*, 291–298.

(79) Bialynicki-Birula, I. V photon wave function. *Progress in optics* **1996**, *36*, 245–294.

(80) Bialynicki-Birula, I. Exponential localization of photons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1998**, *80*, 5247–5250.

(81) Jestädt, R.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Oliveira, M. J.; Rubio, A.; Appel, H. Light-matter interactions within the Ehrenfest-Maxwell-Pauli-Kohn-Sham framework: fundamentals, implementation, and nano-optical applications. *Adv. Phys.* **2019**, *68*, 225–333.

(82) Bialynicki-Birula, I.; Bialynicka-Birula, Z. The role of the Riemann-Silberstein vector in classical and quantum theories of electromagnetism. *J. Phys. A* **2013**, *46*, 053001.

(83) Dereziński, J.; Gérard, C. Mathematics of quantization and quantum fields; Cambridge University Press, 2013.

(84) Miyao, T.; Spohn, H. Spectral analysis of the semi-relativistic Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. J. Funct. Anal. **2009**, 256, 2123–2156.

(85) Hidaka, T.; Hiroshima, F. Self-adjointness of the semirelativistic Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. *Rev. Math. Phys.* 2015, 27, 1550015.

(86) Takaesu, T. On the spectral analysis of quantum electrodynamics with spatial cutoffs. I. J. Math. Phys. 2009, 50, 062302.

(87) Thirring, W. Quantum mathematical physics: atoms, molecules and large systems; Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.

(88) Pauli, W.; Fierz, M. Zur theorie der emission langwelliger lichtquanten. *Nuovo Cimento* (1924–1942) **1938**, *15*, 167–188.

(89) Milonni, P. W. The quantum vacuum: an introduction to quantum electrodynamics; Academic Press, 2013.

(90) Pyykkö, P. Relativistic effects in chemistry: more common than you thought. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2012**, *63*, 45–64.

(91) Reiher, M.; Wolf, A. Relativistic quantum chemistry: the fundamental theory of molecular science; John Wiley & Sons, 2014.

(92) Könenberg, M.; Matte, O.; Stockmeyer, E. Existence of ground states of hydrogen-like atoms in relativistic quantum electrodynamics. II. The no-pair operator. *J. Math. Phys.* **2011**, *52*, 123501.

(93) Ruggenthaler, M.; Mackenroth, F.; Bauer, D. Time-dependent Kohn-Sham approach to quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev. A* **2011**, *84*, 042107.

(94) Ruggenthaler, M.; Flick, J.; Pellegrini, C.; Appel, H.; Tokatly, I. V.; Rubio, A. Quantum-electrodynamical density-functional theory: bridging quantum optics and electronic-structure theory. *Phys. Rev. A* **2014**, *90*, 012508.

(95) Repisky, M.; Komorovsky, S.; Kadek, M.; Konecny, L.; Ekström, U.; Malkin, E.; Kaupp, M.; Ruud, K.; Malkina, O. L.; Malkin, V. G. ReSpect: relativistic spectroscopy DFT program package. J. Chem. Phys. **2020**, 152, 184101.

(96) Bethe, H. A. The electromagnetic shift of energy levels. *Phys. Rev.* **1947**, *72*, 339–341.

(97) Hainzl, C.; Seiringer, R. Mass renormalization and energy level shift in non-relativistic QED. *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* **2002**, *6*, 847–871.

(98) Hiroshima, F. Self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian for arbitrary values of coupling constants. *Ann. Henri Poincaré* **2002**, *3*, 171–201.

(99) Bach, V.; Fröhlich, J.; Sigal, I. M. Mathematical theory of nonrelativistic matter and radiation. *Lett. Math. Phys.* **1995**, *34*, 183–201.

(100) Bach, V.; Fröhlich, J.; Sigal, I. M. Quantum electrodynamics of confined nonrelativistic particles. *Adv. Math.* **1998**, *137*, 299–395.

(101) Bach, V.; Fröhlich, J.; Sigal, I. M. Spectral analysis for systems of atoms and molecules coupled to the quantized radiation field. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **1999**, 207, 249–290.

(102) Fefferman, C.; Fröhlich, J.; Graf, G. M. Stability of ultravioletcutoff quantum electrodynamics with non-relativistic matter. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **1997**, *190*, 309–330.

(103) Hiroshima, F.; Spohn, H. Ground state degeneracy of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian including spin. *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* **2001**, *5*, 1091–1104.

(104) Hidaka, T.; Hiroshima, F. Pauli-Fierz model with Kato-class potentials and exponential decays. *Rev. Math. Phys.* **2010**, *22*, 1181–1208.

(105) Dereziński, J.; Jakšić, V. Spectral theory of Pauli-Fierz operators. J. Funct. Anal. 2001, 180, 243–327.

(106) Loss, M.; Miyao, T.; Spohn, H. Lowest energy states in nonrelativistic QED: atoms and ions in motion. *J. Funct. Anal.* 2007, 243, 353–393.

(107) Andrews, D. L.; Jones, G. A.; Salam, A.; Woolley, R. G. Perspective: quantum Hamiltonians for optical interactions. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *148*, 040901.

(108) Schäfer, C.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rokaj, V.; Rubio, A. Relevance of the quadratic diamagnetic and self-polarization terms in cavity quantum electrodynamics. *ACS photonics* **2020**, *7*, 975–990.

(109) Nelson, E. Interaction of nonrelativistic particles with a quantized Scalar Field. J. Math. Phys. **1964**, 5, 1190–1197.

(110) Glimm, J.; Jaffe, A. The λ (φ 4) 2 quantum field theory without cutoffs: II. the field operators and the approximate vacuum. *Ann. Math.* **1970**, *91*, 362–401.

(111) Arai, A.; Hirokawa, M. On the existence and uniqueness of ground states of a generalized spin-boson model. *J. Funct. Anal.* **1997**, *151*, 455–503.

(112) Flick, J.; Appel, H.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Cavity Born-Oppenheimer approximation for correlated electron-nuclear-photon systems. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2017**, *13*, 1616–1625.

(113) Schäfer, C.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Ab initio nonrelativistic quantum electrodynamics: bridging quantum chemistry and quantum optics from weak to strong coupling. *Phys. Rev. A* **2018**, *98*, 043801.

(114) Villaseco Arribas, E.; Agostini, F.; Maitra, N. T. Exact factorization adventures: a promising approach for non-bound states. *Molecules* **2022**, *27*, 4002.

(115) Hoffmann, N. M.; Schäfer, C.; Rubio, A.; Kelly, A.; Appel, H. Capturing vacuum fluctuations and photon correlations in cavity quantum electrodynamics with multitrajectory Ehrenfest dynamics. *Phys. Rev. A* **2019**, *99*, 063819.

(116) Chen, H.-T.; Li, T. E.; Sukharev, M.; Nitzan, A.; Subotnik, J. E. Ehrenfest+R dynamics. I. A mixed quantum-classical electrodynamics simulation of spontaneous emission. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *150*, 044102.

(117) Scheel, S.; Buhmann, S. Y. Macroscopic QED-concepts and applications. *Acta Phys. Slovaca* **2008**, *58*, 675–809.

(118) Ruggenthaler, M.; Penz, M.; Van Leeuwen, R. Existence, uniqueness, and construction of the density-potential mapping in time-dependent density-functional theory. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2015**, *27*, 203202.

(119) Berry, M. V. Quantum fractals in boxes. J. Phys. A 1996, 29, 6617–6629.

(120) Latini, S.; Hübener, H.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Eckstein, M.; Rubio, A. QED light-matter coupling: macroscopic limit in the dipole approximation. *to be submitted*.

(121) Rokaj, V.; Welakuh, D. M.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Lightmatter interaction in the long-wavelength limit: no ground-state without dipole self-energy. *J. Phys. B* **2018**, *51*, 034005.

(122) Rokaj, V.; Penz, M.; Sentef, M. A.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Quantum electrodynamical Bloch theory with homogeneous magnetic fields. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, 047202.

(123) Rokaj, V.; Penz, M.; Sentef, M. A.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Polaritonic Hofstadter butterfly and cavity control of the quantized Hall conductance. *Phys. Rev. B* **2022**, *105*, 205424.

(124) Tokatly, I. V. Time-dependent density functional theory for many-electron systems interacting with cavity photons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *110*, 233001.

(125) Ehrenreich, H. Electromagnetic transport in solids: optical properties and plasma effects. *The optical properties of solids* **1966**, 106. (126) Mochán, W. L.; Barrera, R. G. Electromagnetic response of systems with spatial fluctuations. I. General formalism. *Phys. Rev. B*

systems with spatial fluctuations. I. General formalism. *Phys. Rev. B* **1985**, 32, 4984. (127) Maki, J. J.; Malcuit, M. S.; Sipe, J.; Boyd, R. W. Linear and

nonlinear optical measurements of the Lorentz local field. *Phys. Rev.* Lett. **1991**, 67, 972–975.

(128) Abedi, A.; Khosravi, E.; Tokatly, I. V. Shedding light on correlated electron-photon states using the exact factorization. *Eur. Phys. J. B* **2018**, *91*, 1–12.

(129) Hepp, K.; Lieb, E. H. On the superradiant phase transition for molecules in a quantized radiation field: the Dicke maser model. *Ann. Phys.* (*N. Y.*) **1973**, *76*, 360–404.

(130) Bialynicki-Birula, I.; Rzazewski, K. No-go theorem concerning the superradiant phase transition in atomic systems. *Phys. Rev. A* **1979**, *19*, 301–303.

(131) Nataf, P.; Ciuti, C. No-go theorem for superradiant quantum phase transitions in cavity QED and counter-example in circuit QED. *Nat. Commun.* **2010**, *1*, 1–6.

(132) Viehmann, O.; von Delft, J.; Marquardt, F. Superradiant phase transitions and the standard description of circuit QED. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *107*, 113602.

(133) Jaako, T.; Xiang, Z.-L.; Garcia-Ripoll, J. J.; Rabl, P. Ultrastrong-coupling phenomena beyond the Dicke model. *Phys. Rev. A* **2016**, *94*, 033850.

(134) De Bernardis, D.; Jaako, T.; Rabl, P. Cavity quantum electrodynamics in the nonperturbative regime. *Phys. Rev. A* 2018, 97, 043820.

(135) Stokes, A.; Nazir, A. Uniqueness of the phase transition in many-dipole cavity quantum electrodynamical systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *125*, 143603.

(136) Andolina, G. M.; Pellegrino, F. M. D.; Giovannetti, V.; MacDonald, A. H.; Polini, M. Theory of photon condensation in a spatially varying electromagnetic field. *Phys. Rev. B* **2020**, *102*, 125137.

(137) Woolley, R. G. Power-Zienau-Woolley representations of nonrelativistic QED for atoms and molecules. *Phys. Rev. Res.* **2020**, *2*, 013206.

(138) Schuler, M.; De Bernardis, D.; Läuchli, A.; Rabl, P. The vacua of dipolar cavity quantum electrodynamics. *SciPost Physics* **2020**, *9*, 066.

(139) Rokaj, V.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Eich, F. G.; Rubio, A. Free electron gas in cavity quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev. Res.* 2022, *4*, 013012.

(140) Averbukh, I. S.; Perelman, N. Fractional revivals: universality in the long-term evolution of quantum wave packets beyond the correspondence principle dynamics. *Phys. Lett. A* **1989**, *139*, 449–453.

(141) Robinett, R. Quantum wave packet revivals. *Phys. Rep.* 2004, 392, 1–119.

(142) Holstein, B. R.; Swift, A. R. Spreading wave packets—a cautionary note. *Am. J. Phys.* **1972**, *40*, 829–832.

(143) Antončík, E. On the theory of temperature shift of the absorption curve in non-polar crystals. *Cechoslovackij fiziceskij zurnal* **1955**, *5*, 449–461.

(144) Gonze, X.; Boulanger, P.; Côté, M. Theoretical approaches to the temperature and zero-point motion effects on the electronic band structure. *Ann. Phys.* (*Berl.*) **2011**, *523*, 168–178.

(145) Ruggenthaler, M. Ground-state quantum-electrodynamical density-functional theory. *arXiv* [quant-ph] **2017**, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1509.01417.

(146) Welakuh, D. M.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Tchenkoue, M.-L. M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Down-conversion processes in ab initio nonrelativistic quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev. Res.* **2021**, *3*, 033067.

(147) Nielsen, S. E. B.; Schäfer, C.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Dressed-orbital approach to cavity quantum electrodynamics and beyond. *arXiv* [quant-ph] **2019**, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1812.00388v2.

pubs.acs.org/CR

(148) Haugland, T. S.; Schäfer, C.; Ronca, E.; Rubio, A.; Koch, H. Intermolecular interactions in optical cavities: an ab initio QED study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 094113.

(149) Herrera, F.; Peropadre, B.; Pachon, L. A.; Saikin, S. K.; Aspuru-Guzik, A. Quantum nonlinear optics with polar J-aggregates in microcavities. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2014**, *5*, 3708–3715.

(150) Cwik, J. A.; Reja, S.; Littlewood, P. B.; Keeling, J. Polariton condensation with saturable molecules dressed by vibrational modes. *EPL* **2014**, *105*, 47009.

(151) Cwik, J. A.; Kirton, P.; De Liberato, S.; Keeling, J. Excitonic spectral features in strongly coupled organic polaritons. *Phys. Rev. A* **2016**, *93*, 033840.

(152) Herrera, F.; Spano, F. C. Cavity-controlled chemistry in molecular ensembles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *116*, 238301.

(153) Hagenmüller, D.; Schachenmayer, J.; Schütz, S.; Genes, C.; Pupillo, G. Cavity-enhanced transport of charge. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2017**, *119*, 223601.

(154) De Liberato, S. Virtual photons in the ground state of a dissipative system. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 1465 DOI: 10.1038/ s41467-017-01504-5.

(155) Hagenmüller, D.; Schütz, S.; Schachenmayer, J.; Genes, C.; Pupillo, G. Cavity-assisted mesoscopic transport of fermions: coherent and dissipative dynamics. *Phys. Rev. B* **2018**, *97*, 205303.

(156) Reitz, M.; Sommer, C.; Genes, C. Langevin approach to quantum optics with molecules. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *122*, 203602.

(157) Hagenmüller, D.; Schachenmayer, J.; Genet, C.; Ebbesen, T. W.; Pupillo, G. Enhancement of the electron-phonon scattering induced by intrinsic surface plasmon-phonon polaritons. *ACS Photonics* **2019**, *6*, 1073–1081.

(158) Botzung, T.; Hagenmüller, D.; Schütz, S.; Dubail, J.; Pupillo, G.; Schachenmayer, J. Dark state semilocalization of quantum emitters in a cavity. *Phys. Rev. B* **2020**, *102*, 144202.

(159) Reitz, M.; Sommer, C.; Gurlek, B.; Sandoghdar, V.; Martin-Cano, D.; Genes, C. Molecule-photon interactions in phononic environments. *Phys. Rev. Res.* **2020**, *2*, 033270.

(160) Wellnitz, D.; Pupillo, G.; Schachenmayer, J. A quantum optics approach to photoinduced electron transfer in cavities. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 054104.

(161) Gurlek, B.; Sandoghdar, V.; Martin-Cano, D. Engineering long-lived vibrational states for an organic molecule. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *127*, 123603.

(162) Reitz, M.; Sommer, C.; Genes, C. Cooperative quantum phenomena in light-matter platforms. *PRX Quantum* **2022**, *3*, 010201. (163) Wellnitz, D.; Pupillo, G.; Schachenmayer, J. Disorder enhanced vibrational entanglement and dynamics in polaritonic chemistry. *Commun. Phys.* **2022**, *5*, 120 DOI: 10.1038/s42005-022-

00892-5. (164) Dreizler, R. M.; Gross, E. K. Density functional theory: an approach to the quantum many-body problem; Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.

(165) Burke, K. Perspective on density functional theory. J. Chem. Phys. 2012, 136, 150901.

(166) Ullrich, C. A. *Time-dependent density-functional theory: concepts and applications;* Oxford University Press, 2011.

(167) Marques, M. A.; Maitra, N. T.; Nogueira, F. M.; Gross, E. K.; Rubio, A. Fundamentals of time-dependent density functional theory; Springer, 2012; Vol. 837.

(168) Tokatly, I. V. Quantum many-body dynamics in a Lagrangian frame: II. Geometric formulation of time-dependent density functional theory. *Phys. Rev. B* 2005, *71*, 165105.

(169) Tchenkoue, M.-L. M.; Penz, M.; Theophilou, I.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Force balance approach for advanced approximations in density functional theories. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *151*, 154107.

(170) Schäfer, C.; Buchholz, F.; Penz, M.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Making ab initio QED functional (s): nonperturbative and photon-free effective frameworks for strong light-matter coupling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2021**, *118*, No. e2110464118.

(171) Fetter, A. L.; Walecka, J. D. Quantum theory of many-particle systems; Courier Corporation, 2012.

(172) Pellegrini, C.; Flick, J.; Tokatly, I. V.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Optimized effective potential for quantum electrodynamical timedependent density functional theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2015**, *115*, 093001.

(173) de Melo, P. M. M. C.; Marini, A. Unified theory of quantized electrons, phonons, and photons out of equilibrium: a simplified ab initio approach based on the generalized Baym-Kadanoff ansatz. *Phys. Rev. B* **2016**, *93*, 155102.

(174) Buchholz, F.; Theophilou, I.; Nielsen, S. E.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Reduced density-matrix approach to strong matter-photon interaction. *ACS Photonics* **2019**, *6*, 2694–2711.

(175) Tokatly, I. Conserving approximations in cavity quantum electrodynamics: implications for density functional theory of electron-photon systems. *Phys. Rev. B* **2018**, *98*, 235123.

(176) Buchholz, F.; Theophilou, I.; Giesbertz, K. J.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Light-matter hybrid-orbital-based first-principles methods: the influence of polariton statistics. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2020**, *16*, 5601–5620.

(177) Karlsson, D.; van Leeuwen, R.; Pavlyukh, Y.; Perfetto, E.; Stefanucci, G. Fast Green's function method for ultrafast electronboson dynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *127*, 036402.

(178) Flick, J.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Kohn-Sham approach to quantum electrodynamical density-functional theory: exact time-dependent effective potentials in real space. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2015**, *112*, 15285–15290.

(179) Dimitrov, T.; Flick, J.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Exact functionals for correlated electron-photon systems. *New J. Phys.* 2017, 19, 113036.

(180) Theophilou, I.; Penz, M.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Virial relations for electrons coupled to quantum field modes. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2020**, *16*, 6236–6243.

(181) Tancogne-Dejean, N.; Oliveira, M. J. T.; Andrade, X.; Appel, H.; Borca, C. H.; Le Breton, G.; Buchholz, F.; Castro, A.; Corni, S.; Correa, A. A.; et al. Octopus, a computational framework for exploring light-driven phenomena and quantum dynamics in extended and finite systems. J. Chem. Phys. **2020**, 152, 124119.

(182) Svendsen, M. K.; Kurman, Y.; Schmidt, P.; Koppens, F.; Kaminer, I.; Thygesen, K. S. Combining density functional theory with macroscopic QED for quantum light-matter interactions in 2D materials. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 1-13.

(183) Flick, J.; Narang, P. Cavity-correlated electron-nuclear dynamics from first principles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2018**, *121*, 113002.

(184) Flick, J.; Welakuh, D. M.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Light-matter response in nonrelativistic quantum electrodynamics. *ACS Photonics* **2019**, *6*, 2757–2778.

(185) Yang, J.; Ou, Q.; Pei, Z.; Wang, H.; Weng, B.; Shuai, Z.; Mullen, K.; Shao, Y. Quantum-electrodynamical time-dependent density functional theory within Gaussian atomic basis. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *155*, 064107.

(186) Welakuh, D. M.; Flick, J.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Frequency-dependent Sternheimer linear-response formalism for strongly coupled light-matter systems. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2022**, *18*, 4354–4365.

(187) Wang, D. S.; Neuman, T.; Flick, J.; Narang, P. Light-matter interaction of a molecule in a dissipative cavity from first principles. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 104109.

(188) Schäfer, C.; Johansson, G. Shortcut to self-consistent lightmatter interaction and realistic spectra from first principles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2022**, *128*, 156402.

(189) Bustamante, C. M.; Gadea, E. D.; Horsfield, A.; Todorov, T. N.; González Lebrero, M. C.; Scherlis, D. A. Dissipative equation of motion for electromagnetic radiation in quantum dynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *126*, 087401.

(190) Schäfer, C. Polaritonic chemistry from first principles via embedding radiation reaction. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 2022, 13, 6905–6911.

(191) Rossi, T. P.; Shegai, T.; Erhart, P.; Antosiewicz, T. J. Strong plasmon-molecule coupling at the nanoscale revealed by first-principles modeling. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 1–7.

(192) Tserkezis, C.; Fernández-Domínguez, A. I.; Gonçalves, P.; Todisco, F.; Cox, J. D.; Busch, K.; Stenger, N.; Bozhevolnyi, S. I.; Mortensen, N. A.; Wolff, C. On the applicability of quantum-optical concepts in strong-coupling nanophotonics. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2020**, *83*, 082401.

(193) Fojt, J.; Rossi, T. P.; Antosiewicz, T. J.; Kuisma, M.; Erhart, P. Dipolar coupling of nanoparticle-molecule assemblies: an efficient approach for studying strong coupling. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 094109.

(194) Peller, D.; Roelcke, C.; Kastner, L. Z.; Buchner, T.; Neef, A.; Hayes, J.; Bonafe, F.; Sidler, D.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A.; et al. Quantitative sampling of atomic-scale electromagnetic waveforms. *Nat. Photonics* **2021**, *15*, 143–147.

(195) Kuisma, M.; Rousseaux, B.; Czajkowski, K. M.; Rossi, T. P.; Shegai, T.; Erhart, P.; Antosiewicz, T. J. Ultrastrong coupling of a single molecule to a plasmonic nanocavity: a first-principles study. *ACS Photonics* **2022**, *9*, 1065–1077.

(196) Rokaj, V.; Mistakidis, S.; Sadeghpour, H. Cavity Induced Collective Behavior in the Polaritonic Ground State. *arXiv* [quant-ph] **2022**, DOI: 10.21468/SciPostPhys.14.6.167.

(197) Sidler, D.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Chemistry in quantum cavities: exact results, the impact of thermal velocities, and modified dissociation. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2020**, *11*, 7525–7530.

(198) Sidler, D.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Exact solution for a real polaritonic system under vibrational strong coupling in thermodynamic equilibrium: absence of zero temperature and loss of light-matter entanglement. *arXiv* [quant-ph] **2022**, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2208.01326.

(199) Mordovina, U.; Bungey, C.; Appel, H.; Knowles, P. J.; Rubio, A.; Manby, F. R. Polaritonic coupled-cluster theory. *Phys. Rev. Res.* **2020**, *2*, 023262.

(200) Haugland, T. S.; Ronca, E.; Kjønstad, E. F.; Rubio, A.; Koch, H. Coupled cluster theory for molecular polaritons: changing ground and excited states. *Phys. Rev. X* **2020**, *10*, 041043.

(201) Rivera, N.; Flick, J.; Narang, P. Variational theory of nonrelativistic quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *122*, 193603.

(202) Ahrens, A.; Huang, C.; Beutel, M.; Covington, C.; Varga, K. Stochastic variational approach to small atoms and molecules coupled to quantum field modes in cavity QED. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *127*, 273601.

(203) Fregoni, J.; Haugland, T. S.; Pipolo, S.; Giovannini, T.; Koch, H.; Corni, S. Strong coupling between localized surface plasmons and molecules by coupled cluster theory. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 6664–6670.

(204) DePrince, A. E., III Cavity-modulated ionization potentials and electron affinities from quantum electrodynamics coupled-cluster theory. J. Chem. Phys. **2021**, 154, 094112.

(205) Pavošević, F.; Rubio, A. Wavefunction embedding for molecular polaritons. J. Chem. Phys. 2022, 157, 094101.

(206) Ashida, Y.; Imamoglu, A.; Demler, E. Cavity quantum electrodynamics at arbitrary light-matter coupling strengths. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *126*, 153603.

(207) Pavosevic, F.; Flick, J. Polaritonic unitary coupled cluster for quantum computations. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 2021, 12, 9100–9107.

(208) Preskill, J. Quantum computing in the NISQ era and beyond. *Quantum* **2018**, *2*, 79.

(209) Cao, Y.; Romero, J.; Olson, J. P.; Degroote, M.; Johnson, P. D.; Kieferova, M.; Kivlichan, I. D.; Menke, T.; Peropadre, B.; Sawaya, N. P.; et al. Quantum chemistry in the age of quantum computing. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119*, 10856–10915.

(210) Peruzzo, A.; McClean, J.; Shadbolt, P.; Yung, M.-H.; Zhou, X.-Q.; Love, P. J.; Aspuru-Guzik, A.; O'brien, J. L. A variational eigenvalue solver on a photonic quantum processor. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 1–7.

(211) Hoffmann, N. M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A.; Maitra, N. T. Lightmatter interactions via the exact factorization approach. *Eur. Phys. J. B* **2018**, *91*, 180 DOI: 10.1140/epjb/e2018-90177-6. (212) Abedi, A.; Khosravi, E.; Tokatly, I. V. Shedding light on correlated electron-photon states using the exact factorization. *Eur. Phys. J. B* **2018**, *91*, 91 DOI: 10.1140/epjb/e2018-90243-1.

(213) Lacombe, L.; Hoffmann, N. M.; Maitra, N. T. Exact potential energy surface for molecules in cavities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, 083201.

(214) Martinez, P.; Rosenzweig, B.; Hoffmann, N. M.; Lacombe, L.; Maitra, N. T. Case studies of the time-dependent potential energy surface for dynamics in cavities. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 014102.

(215) Bonini, J.; Flick, J. Ab initio linear-response approach to vibropolaritons in the cavity Born-Oppenheimer approximation. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2022**, *18*, 2764–2773.

(216) Hübener, H.; De Giovannini, U.; Schäfer, C.; Andberger, J.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Faist, J.; Rubio, A. Engineering quantum materials with chiral optical cavities. *Nat. Mater.* **2021**, *20*, 438–442.

(217) Galego, J.; Garcia-Vidal, F. J.; Feist, J. Cavity-induced modifications of molecular structure in the strong-coupling regime. *Phys. Rev. X* **2015**, *5*, 041022.

(218) Kowalewski, M.; Bennett, K.; Mukamel, S. Cavity femtochemistry: manipulating nonadiabatic dynamics at avoided crossings. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2016**, 7, 2050–2054.

(219) Csehi, A.; Vibók, A.; Halász, G. J.; Kowalewski, M. Quantum control with quantum light of molecular nonadiabaticity. *Phys. Rev. A* **2019**, *100*, 053421.

(220) Gudem, M.; Kowalewski, M. Controlling the photostability of pyrrole with optical nanocavities. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2021**, *125*, 1142–1151.

(221) Couto, R. C.; Kowalewski, M. Suppressing non-radiative decay of photochromic organic molecular systems in the strong coupling regime. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *24*, 19199–19208.

(222) Bennett, K.; Kowalewski, M.; Mukamel, S. Novel photochemistry of molecular polaritons in optical cavities. *Faraday Discuss.* **2016**, *194*, 259–282.

(223) Farag, M. H.; Mandal, A.; Huo, P. Polariton induced conical intersection and berry phase. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *23*, 16868–16879.

(224) Badankó, P.; Umarov, O.; Fábri, C.; Halász, G. J.; Vibók, A. Topological aspects of cavity-induced degeneracies in polyatomic molecules. *Int. J. Quantum Chem.* **2022**, *122*, No. e26750.

(225) Hu, D.; Mandal, A.; Weight, B. M.; Huo, P. Quasi-diabatic propagation scheme for simulating polariton chemistry. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *157*, 194109.

(226) Szidarovszky, T.; Halász, G. J.; Császár, A. G.; Cederbaum, L. S.; Vibók, A. Conical intersections induced by quantum light: field-dressed spectra from the weak to the ultrastrong coupling regimes. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2018**, *9*, 6215–6223.

(227) Vendrell, O. Coherent dynamics in cavity femtochemistry: application of the multi-configuration time-dependent Hartree method. *Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *509*, 55–65.

(228) Triana, J. F.; Peláez, D.; Sanz-Vicario, J. L. Entangled photonic-nuclear molecular dynamics of LiF in quantum optical cavities. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2018**, *122*, 2266–2278.

(229) Ulusoy, I. S.; Gomez, J. A.; Vendrell, O. Modifying the nonradiative decay dynamics through conical intersections via collective coupling to a cavity mode. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2019**, *123*, 8832–8844.

(230) Csehi, A.; Vendrell, O.; Halász, G. J.; Vibók, A. Competition between collective and individual conical intersection dynamics in an optical cavity. *New J. Phys.* **2022**, *24*, 073022.

(231) Mandal, A.; Huo, P. Investigating new reactivities enabled by polariton photochemistry. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, *10*, 5519–5529. (232) Mandal, A.; Krauss, T. D.; Huo, P. Polariton-mediated electron transfer via cavity quantum electrodynamics. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2020**, *124*, 6321–6340.

(233) Chowdhury, S. N.; Mandal, A.; Huo, P. Ring polymer quantization of the photon field in polariton chemistry. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 044109.

(234) Li, T. E.; Nitzan, A.; Hammes-Schiffer, S.; Subotnik, J. E. Quantum simulations of vibrational strong coupling via path integrals. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2022**, *13*, 3890–3895.

(235) Li, T. E.; Nitzan, A.; Sukharev, M.; Martinez, T.; Chen, H.-T.; Subotnik, J. E. Mixed quantum-classical electrodynamics: understanding spontaneous decay and zero-point energy. *Phys. Rev. A* **2018**, *97*, 032105.

(236) Chen, H.-T.; Li, T. E.; Sukharev, M.; Nitzan, A.; Subotnik, J. E. Ehrenfest+R dynamics. II. A semiclassical QED framework for Raman scattering. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *150*, 044103.

(237) Hoffmann, N. M.; Schäfer, C.; Säkkinen, N.; Rubio, A.; Appel, H.; Kelly, A. Benchmarking semiclassical and perturbative methods for real-time simulations of cavity-bound emission and interference. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *151*, 244113.

(238) Fregoni, J.; Corni, S.; Persico, M.; Granucci, G. Photochemistry in the strong coupling regime: a trajectory surface hopping scheme. J. Comput. Chem. **2020**, *41*, 2033–2044.

(239) Antoniou, P.; Suchanek, F.; Varner, J. F.; Foley IV, J. J. Role of cavity losses on nonadiabatic couplings and dynamics in polaritonic chemistry. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2020**, *11*, 9063–9069.

(240) Li, T. E.; Nitzan, A.; Subotnik, J. E. Collective vibrational strong coupling effects on molecular vibrational relaxation and energy transfer: Numerical insights via cavity molecular dynamics simulations. *Angew. Chem.* **2021**, *133*, 15661–15668.

(241) Sun, J.; Vendrell, O. Suppression and enhancement of thermal chemical rates in a cavity. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 2022, 13, 4441-4446.

(242) De Bernardis, D.; Pilar, P.; Jaako, T.; De Liberato, S.; Rabl, P. Breakdown of gauge invariance in ultrastrong-coupling cavity QED. *Phys. Rev. A* **2018**, *98*, 053819.

(243) Li, J.; Golez, D.; Mazza, G.; Millis, A. J.; Georges, A.; Eckstein, M. Electromagnetic coupling in tight-binding models for strongly correlated light and matter. *Phys. Rev. B* **2020**, *101*, 205140.

(244) Di Stefano, O.; Settineri, A.; Macrì, V.; Garziano, L.; Stassi, R.; Savasta, S.; Nori, F. Resolution of gauge ambiguities in ultrastrongcoupling cavity quantum electrodynamics. *Nat. Phys.* **2019**, *15*, 803– 808.

(245) Taylor, M. A.; Mandal, A.; Zhou, W.; Huo, P. Resolution of gauge ambiguities in molecular cavity quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *125*, 123602.

(246) Luk, H. L.; Feist, J.; Toppari, J. J.; Groenhof, G. Multiscale molecular dynamics simulations of polaritonic chemistry. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2017**, *13*, 4324–4335.

(247) Tichauer, R. H.; Feist, J.; Groenhof, G. Multi-scale dynamics simulations of molecular polaritons: the effect of multiple cavity modes on polariton relaxation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 104112.

(248) Jaffe, R. L. Casimir effect and the quantum vacuum. *Phys. Rev.* D 2005, 72, 021301.

(249) Buhmann, S. Y.; Welsch, D.-G. Dispersion forces in macroscopic quantum electrodynamics. *Progress in quantum electronics* **2007**, *31*, 51–130.

(250) Franke, S.; Hughes, S.; Dezfouli, M. K.; Kristensen, P. T.; Busch, K.; Knorr, A.; Richter, M. Quantization of quasinormal modes for open cavities and plasmonic cavity quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *122*, 213901.

(251) Medina, I.; García-Vidal, F. J.; Fernández-Domínguez, A. I.; Feist, J. Few-mode field quantization of arbitrary electromagnetic spectral densities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *126*, 093601.

(252) Kazuma, E.; Jung, J.; Ueba, H.; Trenary, M.; Kim, Y. Realspace and real-time observation of a plasmon-induced chemical reaction of a single molecule. *Science* **2018**, *360*, 521–526.

(253) Cortés, E.; Xie, W.; Cambiasso, J.; Jermyn, A. S.; Sundararaman, R.; Narang, P.; Schlücker, S.; Maier, S. A. Plasmonic hot electron transport drives nano-localized chemistry. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 1–10.

(254) de Nijs, B.; Benz, F.; Barrow, S. J.; Sigle, D. O.; Chikkaraddy, R.; Palma, A.; Carnegie, C.; Kamp, M.; Sundararaman, R.; Narang, P.; et al. Plasmonic tunnel junctions for single-molecule redox chemistry. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 1–8.

(255) Schaeverbeke, Q.; Avriller, R.; Frederiksen, T.; Pistolesi, F. Single-photon emission mediated by single-electron tunneling in plasmonic nanojunctions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, 246601.

(256) Flick, J.; Schafer, C.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Ab initio optimized effective potentials for real molecules in optical cavities: photon contributions to the molecular ground state. *ACS Photonics* **2018**, *5*, 992–1005.

(257) Riso, R. R.; Haugland, T. S.; Ronca, E.; Koch, H. On the characteristic features of ionization in QED environments. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *156*, 234103.

(258) Schäfer, C.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Appel, H.; Rubio, A. Modification of excitation and charge transfer in cavity quantumelectrodynamical chemistry. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2019**, *116*, 4883–4892.

(259) Felicetti, S.; Fregoni, J.; Schnappinger, T.; Reiter, S.; de Vivie-Riedle, R.; Feist, J. Photoprotecting Uracil by coupling with lossy nanocavities. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2020**, *11*, 8810–8818.

(260) Davidsson, E.; Kowalewski, M. Simulating photodissociation reactions in bad cavities with the Lindblad equation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *153*, 234304.

(261) Fábri, C.; Halász, G. J.; Cederbaum, L. S.; Vibók, A. Born-Oppenheimer approximation in optical cavities: from success to breakdown. *Chem. Sci.* **2021**, *12*, 1251–1258.

(262) Li, T. E.; Nitzan, A.; Subotnik, J. E. Energy-efficient pathway for selectively exciting solute molecules to high vibrational states via solvent vibration-polariton pumping. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 4203.

(263) Wang, D. S.; Neuman, T.; Yelin, S. F.; Flick, J. Cavitymodified unimolecular dissociation reactions via intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2022**, *13*, 3317–3324.

(264) Wang, D. S.; Flick, J.; Yelin, S. F. Chemical reactivity under collective vibrational strong coupling. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2022**, *157*, 224304.

(265) Torres-Sánchez, J.; Feist, J. Molecular photodissociation enabled by ultrafast plasmon decay. J. Chem. Phys. **2021**, 154, 014303.

(266) Riso, R. R.; Haugland, T. S.; Ronca, E.; Koch, H. Molecular orbital theory in cavity QED environments. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 1368 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-022-29003-2.

(267) Ashida, Y.; Imamoglu, A.; Faist, J.; Jaksch, D.; Cavalleri, A.; Demler, E. Quantum electrodynamic control of matter: cavity-enhanced ferroelectric phase transition. *Phys. Rev. X* 2020, *10*, 041027.

(268) Latini, S.; Shin, D.; Sato, S. A.; Schäfer, C.; De Giovannini, U.; Hübener, H.; Rubio, A. The ferroelectric photo ground state of SrTiO3: cavity materials engineering. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2021**, *118*, No. e2105618118.

(269) Sidler, D.; Schäfer, C.; Ruggenthaler, M.; Rubio, A. Polaritonic chemistry: collective strong coupling implies strong local modification of chemical properties. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2021**, *12*, 508–516.

(270) Du, M.; Yuen-Zhou, J. Catalysis by dark states in vibropolaritonic chemistry. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2022**, *128*, 096001.

(271) Cederbaum, L. S. Cooperative molecular structure in polaritonic and dark states. J. Chem. Phys. **2022**, 156, 184102.

(272) Schütz, S.; Schachenmayer, J.; Hagenmüller, D.; Brennen, G. K.; Volz, T.; Sandoghdar, V.; Ebbesen, T. W.; Genes, C.; Pupillo, G. Ensemble-induced strong light-matter coupling of a single quantum emitter. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *124*, 113602.

(273) Szidarovszky, T.; Halász, G. J.; Vibók, A. Three-player polaritons: nonadiabatic fingerprints in an entangled atom-molecule-photon system. *New J. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 053001.

(274) Groenhof, G.; Climent, C.; Feist, J.; Morozov, D.; Toppari, J. J. Tracking polariton relaxation with multiscale molecular dynamics simulations. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, *10*, 5476–5483.

(275) Philbin, J. P.; Haugland, T. S.; Ghosh, T. K.; Ronca, E.; Chen, M.; Narang, P.; Koch, H. Molecular van der Waals fluids in cavity quantum electrodynamics. *arXiv* [*physics*] **2022**, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2209.07956.

(276) Du, M.; Martínez-Martínez, L. A.; Ribeiro, R. F.; Hu, Z.; Menon, V. M.; Yuen-Zhou, J. Theory for polariton-assisted remote energy transfer. *Chem. Sci.* **2018**, *9*, 6659–6669.

(277) Mauro, L.; Caicedo, K.; Jonusauskas, G.; Avriller, R. Chargetransfer chemical reactions in nanofluidic Fabry-Pérot cavities. *Phys. Rev. B* **2021**, *103*, 165412.

(278) Sokolovskii, I.; Tichauer, R. H.; Feist, J.; Groenhof, G. Enhanced excitation energy transfer under strong light-matter coupling: insights from multiscale molecular dynamics simulations. *arXiv* [physics] **2022**, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2209.07309v2.

(279) Riso, R. R.; Grazioli, L.; Ronca, E.; Giovannini, T.; Koch, H. Strong coupling in chiral cavities: nonperturbative framework for enantiomer discrimination. *arXiv* [*physics*] **2023**, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2209.01987v2.

(280) Schäfer, C.; Flick, J.; Ronca, E.; Narang, P.; Rubio, A. Shining light on the microscopic resonant mechanism responsible for cavitymediated chemical reactivity. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.12429* **2021**. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-022-35363-6

(281) Thomas, A.; George, J.; Shalabney, A.; Dryzhakov, M.; Varma, S. J.; Moran, J.; Chervy, T.; Zhong, X.; Devaux, E.; Genet, C.; et al. Ground-state chemical reactivity under vibrational coupling to the vacuum electromagnetic field. *Angew. Chem.* **2016**, *128*, 11634–11638.

(282) Galego, J.; Garcia-Vidal, F. J.; Feist, J. Many-molecule reaction triggered by a single photon in polaritonic chemistry. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2017**, *119*, 136001.

(283) Anderson, P. W. More is different - broken symmetry and nature of hierarchical structure of science. *Science* **1972**, *177*, 393–396.

(284) Li, X.; Mandal, A.; Huo, P. Cavity frequency-dependent theory for vibrational polariton chemistry. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 1315.

(285) Gang, H.; Ditzinger, T.; Ning, C. Z.; Haken, H. Stochastic resonance without external periodic force. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1993**, *71*, 807–810.

(286) Gammaitoni, L.; Hänggi, P.; Jung, P.; Marchesoni, F. Stochastic resonance. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **1998**, *70*, 223–287.

(287) Imperatore, M. V.; Asbury, J. B.; Giebink, N. C. Reproducibility of cavity-enhanced chemical reaction rates in the vibrational strong coupling regime. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 191103.

(288) Wiesehan, G. D.; Xiong, W. Negligible rate enhancement from reported cooperative vibrational strong coupling catalysis. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *155*, 241103.

(289) Chen, T.-T.; Du, M.; Yang, Z.; Yuen-Zhou, J.; Xiong, W. Cavity-enabled enhancement of ultrafast intramolecular vibrational redistribution over pseudorotation. *Science* **2022**, *378*, 790–794.

(290) Ahn, W.; Herrera, F.; Simpkins, B. Modification of Urethane addition reaction via vibrational strong coupling. *chemrxiv preprint chemrxiv-2022-wb6vs* **2022**. DOI: 10.26434/chemrxiv-2022-wb6vs

(291) Pérez-Sánchez, J. B.; Koner, A.; Stern, N. P.; Yuen-Zhou, J. Collective dynamics using truncated equations (CUT-E): simulating the collective strong coupling regime with few-molecule models. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:2209.04955 **2022**, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2209.04955.

(292) Genet, C. Chiral light-chiral matter interactions: an optical force perspective. ACS Photonics **2022**, 9, 319–332.

(293) Voronin, K.; Taradin, A. S.; Gorkunov, M. V.; Baranov, D. G. Single-handedness chiral optical cavities. *ACS Photonics* **2022**, *9*, 2652–2659.

(294) Appugliese, F.; Enkner, J.; Paravicini-Bagliani, G. L.; Beck, M.; Reichl, C.; Wegscheider, W.; Scalari, G.; Ciuti, C.; Faist, J. Breakdown of topological protection by cavity vacuum fields in the integer quantum Hall effect. *Science* **2022**, *375*, 1030–1034.

(295) Pazy, A. Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial differential equations; Springer Science & Business Media, 2012; Vol. 44.

(296) Reed, M.; Simon, B. II: Fourier analysis, self-adjointness; Elsevier, 1975; Vol. 2.

(297) Penz, M. The density-potential mapping in quantum dynamics. arXiv [math-ph] 2016, DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1610.05552.

11229

(298) Garrigue, L. Unique continuation for many-body Schrödinger operators and the Hohenberg-Kohn theorem. *Math. Phys. Anal. Geom.* **2018**, *21*, 1–11.

(299) Evans, L. C. Partial differential equations, Graduate Studies in Mathematics Vol.: 19; American Mathematical Society, 2010.

(300) Ruf, M.; Müller, C.; Grobe, R. Numerical signatures of nonself-adjointness in quantum Hamiltonians. J. Phys. A 2011, 44, 345205.

(301) Box, G. E. Robustness in statistics; Elsevier, 1979; pp 201-236.

(302) De Bernardis, D.; Pilar, P.; Jaako, T.; De Liberato, S.; Rabl, P. Breakdown of gauge invariance in ultrastrong-coupling cavity QED. *Phys. Rev. A* **2018**, *98*, 053819.

(303) Kreibich, T.; van Leeuwen, R.; Gross, E. K. U. Multicomponent density-functional theory for electrons and nuclei. *Phys. Rev. A* 2008, 78, 022501.

(304) Sutcliffe, B. T.; Woolley, R. G. On the quantum theory of molecules. J. Chem. Phys. 2012, 137, 22A544.

(305) Maitra, N. T.; Burke, K.; Woodward, C. Memory in timedependent density functional theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2002**, *89*, 023002.

(306) van Leeuwen, R. Key concepts in time-dependent densityfunctional theory. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. B* **2001**, *15*, 1969–2023.

(307) Flick, J. Simple exchange-correlation energy functionals for strongly coupled light-matter systems based on the fluctuationdissipation theorem. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2022**, *129*, 143201.

(308) Seidl, A.; Görling, A.; Vogl, P.; Majewski, J. A.; Levy, M. Generalized Kohn-Sham schemes and the band-gap problem. *Phys. Rev. B* **1996**, *53*, 3764–3774.

(309) Körzdörfer, T.; Kümmel, S. Single-particle and quasiparticle interpretation of Kohn-Sham and generalized Kohn-Sham eigenvalues for hybrid functionals. *Phys. Rev. B* **2010**, *82*, 155206.

(310) Baer, R.; Kronik, L. Time-dependent generalized Kohn-Sham theory. *Eur. Phys. J. B* 2018, 91, 170 DOI: 10.1140/epjb/e2018-90103-0.

(311) Seidl, M.; Gori-Giorgi, P.; Savin, A. Strictly correlated electrons in density-functional theory: a general formulation with applications to spherical densities. *Phys. Rev. A* **2007**, *75*, 042511.

(312) Gori-Giorgi, P.; Seidl, M.; Vignale, G. Density-functional theory for strongly interacting electrons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2009**, *103*, 166402.

(313) Buttazzo, G.; De Pascale, L.; Gori-Giorgi, P. Optimaltransport formulation of electronic density-functional theory. *Phys. Rev. A* **2012**, *85*, 062502.